Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2008

Revolutionizing genomic analyses: mutation analyses using novel enzyme-based assays with laser-induced fluorescence and polymeric microfluidic devices as electrophoretic platforms

Rondedrick DeShaun Sinville Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, rsinvi1@lsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations Part of the <u>Chemistry Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Sinville, Rondedrick DeShaun, "Revolutionizing genomic analyses: mutation analyses using novel enzyme-based assays with laserinduced fluorescence and polymeric microfluidic devices as electrophoretic platforms" (2008). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 3848. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/3848

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSES USING NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERIC MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Department of Chemistry

by Rondedrick Sinville B.S., Grambling State University August, 2008 I dedicate this work and accomplishment to my parents, Leroy and Delphine Sinville Taylor, and grandparents, Charles and Escille Sinville, and Huey Lee and Alma Ruth Taylor. It has been a long time coming, but we have finally made it.

"If I have seen further it is because I am standing on the shoulders of giants".

- Isaac Newton

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for granting me the serenity to complete this journey and for the people he sprinkled along the course to ease the burden.

I would like to thank my parents, Leroy and Delphine Sinville Taylor for their love and support. I also thank my maternal grandmother, Escille Sinville (Madea) for...everything. I extend the same thanks to my paternal grandparents, Huey Lee I and Alma Ruth Taylor, as well as my siblings, Brandon and Shamya Taylor, who have all been eagerly awaiting my graduation.

I thank my wife, Laura, who has waited eons for me. Your love and patience has no bounds.

I thank my Research Advisor/mentor/friend Professor Steven A. Soper for his tutelage. I appreciate your support, challenge and patience throughout. You are a great scientist and an even better person.

I give a big thanks to all of my Super Soper Research Group Members, past and present. André Adams, my fellow Gramblinite, thanks for holding me down. Jason Emory, my golfing buddy, thanks for introducing me to the game. I'll see both of you on the course soon enough. Matt and Maggie Hupert, thanks for your support and fun conversations throughout the years. Shawn Llopis, thanks for your ability to listen just as well as you can talk. Last but not least, Vera Verdree, thanks for everything. To all, it was a blast!

I thank Grambling State University and the honorable Professors Allen Miles, Danny Hubbard, Frank Ohene and Dean Connie Walton in the Department of Chemistry for sharing their knowledge and wisdom. I thank Louisiana State University and the Department of Chemistry for giving me the opportunity to reach my potential as a scientist.

I would like to thank Graduate Committee Members: Professors Robert Cook, Steve Watkins, Ioan Negulescu and Hollie Hale-Donze for their support, valuable input and flexible schedules.

I thank my collaborators in the Francis Barany Research Group at the Weill Medical College of Cornell University and the Annelise Barron Research Group at Stanford University for their support.

I thank my aunt Sharon Sinville Williams and uncles Ivory Williams and N.L. Taylor for their continuous trumpeting of the importance of pursuing higher education and their support throughout. Obviously, someone was listening.

To my extended family and friends, my apologies to the people whose name did not appear, but I thank all of you. If you must, sign your name here ______. Finally, I thank myself. Make no mistake about it; this was not easy. Thank you, Doctor Rondedrick DeShaun Sinville!

Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tables viii
List of Figuresix
List of Commonly Used Abbreviations and Acronyms
Abstractxvi
Chanter 4. Advances in Constanting
Inapter 1: Advances in Genotyping
1.1 Overview of the Human Geneme
1.2 Overview of the Human Genome
Chapter 2)
1 4 Genetyping Technology (More information provided in Chapter 2)
1 4 1 Electronhoresis of DNA
1 4 2 DNA Sieving Media
1 4 3 Dispersion and Band Broadening
1 4 3 1 Electroosmotic Flow
1 4 3 2 Surface Modification for Suppression of EOE
1 4 4 Characterization of Electronherograms
1.5 Evolution of Electrophoretic Genotyping Platforms
1.5.1 Microfluidic Devices (Detailed microchip genotyping applications provided in
Chapter 2)
1.6 Research Focus
1.7 References
Chapter 2: High Resolution DNA Separations Using Microchip Electrophoresis
or Genotyping Applications
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Genotyping: Mutation Scanning Applications
2.2.1 SSCP
2.2.2 HDA
2.2.3 TGGE and DGGE
2.3 Genotyping: Mutation Detection Applications
2.3.1 Allele-Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction (AS-PCR)
2.3.2 PCR/Ligase Detection Reaction and Ligase Chain Reaction (LDR and
2 2 3 Single Base Extension (SBE)
2.3.3 Silly a Dase Extension (SDE)
2.0.7 Restruction i rayment Length Folymorphism (RFLF)
2.5 DNA Sequencing 51
2.6 Conclusions
2.7 References

Table of Contents

Chapter 3: Capillary and Micro-Electrophoretic Separations of Ligase Detect	ion
Reaction Products Produced from Low Abundant Point Mutations in Ger	omic
DNA	62
3.1 Introduction	62
3.2 Methods and Materials	67
3.2.1 Capillary Electrophoresis Instrumentation	67
3.2.1.1 Capillaries and Sieving Matrices	67
3.2.2 Microdevice Fabrication and Assembly	68
3 2 3 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) Instrumentation	69
3 2 3 1 Microelectrophoresis Operation	69
3 2 4 Modeling Primers and DNA Sizing Ladder	71
3 2 5 I DR Primers	71
3.2.6 DNA Extraction from Cell Lines	72
3 2 7 PCP Reagents and Conditions	72
3.2.8 DP Poggonte and Conditions	1 2
3.3 Posults and Discussion	7/
2.2.1 LDP Modeling Samples Using CGE	74
2.2.4.4 ETEC Analysis Using Synthetic Medels	74
2.2.4.2 aCon Analysis Using Synthetic Models	75
3.3.1.2 eCap Analysis	/ /
3.3.1.3 PUP5 Analysis	/8
3.3.2 CGE Analysis of PCR/LDR Samples	/8
3.3.2.1 Optimization of Electrophoretic Conditions Using Modeling San	npies
and Microelectrophoresis	81
3.3.3 Microchip Electrophoresis of LDR Samples	84
3.4 Conclusions	87
3.5 References	89
Chapter 4: Ligase Detection Reaction Mutation Screening via Free Solution	
Electrophoresis in a Polymeric Microfluidic Device	91
4.1 Introduction	91
4.2 Methods and Materials	95
4.2.1 DNA Template Preparation	95
4.2.2 Drag-tag Synthesis and Primer Conjugation	95
4.2.3 LDR of Drag-tag/DNA Primer Conjugates	96
4.2.4 Microchip Fabrication	97
4.2.5 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) and High Voltage Control System	98
4.2.6 Capillary and Microchip LDR-FSCE Conditions	99
4.3 Results and Discussion	100
4.3.1 LDR-FSCE Genotyping	100
4.3.2 CE Analysis of the LDR-dt Products	102
4.3.3 PMMA Microchip LDR-dt Separations	105
4.4 Conclusions	110
4.5 References	111

Chapter 5:	Evaluating Low	Frequency p53	Mutations	Using an Endo	V Mutation
Scanning A	Assay and Microo	chip Electropho	resis	-	115

5.1 Introduction	115
5.2 Methods and Materials	119
5.2.1 Protocol for DNA Template Preparation	119
5.2.2 Protocol for Universal PCR Amplification	120
5.2.3 Preparation of Heteroduplexed DNA Substrates	121
5.2.4 Endo V/ LDR Assay	121
5.2.5 Microchip Fabrication	122
5.2.6 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) and High Voltage Control	
System	123
5.2.7 Capillary and Microchip Conditions for Endo V/LDR	
5.3 Results and Discussion	125
5.3.1 Universal PCR Products	
5.3.2 Capillary Separations of Endo V/LDR Products	
5.3.3 Microchip Separation of 32 Component Size Standard	
5.3.4 Microchip Separation of Endo V/LDR Products	
5.4 Conclusions	
5.5 References	134
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Work	138
6.1 Conclusions	
6.2 Future Work	141
Appendix A: References Displayed within Table 1.1	143
Appendix B: Permissions	144
Vita	166

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Compilation of experimental conditions with replaceable polymers for high performance DNA separations using capillary electrophoresis. Reprinted with permission.11
Table 1.2. Comparison of typical parameters associated with the given electrophoretic formats. 16
Table 2.1. Performance and operational comparison between three different electrophoresis platforms used for DNA sequencing. 23
Table 3.1. LDR discriminating and common primers. Primer size and sequence areindicated. * = common primer, which was phosphorylated at its 5' end to allowligation.72
Table 3.2. Results from model studies of an LDR assay using 5T5C, eCap and POP5matrices with CGE. Efficiency (plate numbers, N) was calculated for the 25 (unligatedprimer model), and the 44 and 51 bp fragments (ligation product models). Resolutionwas calculated between the 25 bp and 44 bp oligonucleotides as well as for the 44 and51 bp LDR product models. 74
Table 4.1. Design of Primers for LDR-ELFSE. 97
Table 5.1. PCR primers used for universal gene amplifications. 120

List of Figures

Figure	1.1.	The	chemical	structures	of the	adenine,	guanine,	cytosine,	and	thymine
DNA nu	cleos	sides								1

Figure 1.3. Depiction of the four different types of DNA sequence polymorphisms. 4

 Figure 1.6.
 Schematic representation of linear and cross-linked polymers in solution.
 10

Figure 1.7. Plug flow profile and EOF in a capillary tube during electrophoresis adapted from http://micromachine.stanford.edu/~dlaser/images/eof_capillary.jpg, 2006.12

Figure 1.8. Adjacent peaks in an electropherogram marking migration times and peak widths from which efficiency and resolution can be calculated adapted from [23]. **15**

Figure 1.9. (Left) Schematic of a "twin T" microchip typically used for electrophoresis. (Right) A x100 magnified image of microstructures hot-embossed in a plastic substrate. **17**

Figure 2.2. Elelctropherograms for the separation and detection of DNA fragments present in the BIONEER 1 kbp DNA standard marker (concentration = 130 ng/mL). The detector consisted of a modified screen-printed carbon electrode (A). The surfaces of the carbon electrodes were modified with poly-5,2'-5',2"-terthiophene-3'-carboxylic acid, which improved the analysis performance by lowering the detection potential. Electrophoretic results with electrochemical detection of 30-cycle PCR products at a bare (B), and modified (C) screen-printed carbon electrode. The standard marker

Figure 2.3 (a) Reconstructed plot of time versus pixel number of the CCD, which was monitoring restriction fragments generated across the multi-channel microchip. The shaded bar represents fluorescence intensity collected by the CCD. The sampling capillary moved from right to left depositing samples into the chip, so the lane farthest to the right is designated as lane 1. (b) Schematic of the chip setup with capillary sample introduction. Laser-induced fluorescence detection was achieved by focusing an argon ion laser into a line across the chip 5.5-6.5 cm from the injection point. A liquid nitrogen-cooled CCD was used to analyze the collected fluorescence photons. Adapted and reprinted with permission from [47].

Figure 2.4.(a) CAD drawing of the chip layout. The design contained 16 lanes with 16 double-T injectors on the right for electrokinetic sample injection. It has a section where all channels are close together for scanning (arrow), the overall distance at this point is 3.2 mm from injection to detection. (b) Complete assembly with anode on the lower left and the cathode board on the top right corner; there is a vial for sample inlet and sample waste for each lane. The effective length of each lane is 20 cm. (c) Computer screen image of 6-channels of electrophoresis results for the chip system shown in (a). The electropherograms are from 5 data samples and one allelic ladder. Reprinted with permission from [60].

Figure 2.5. (a) Photograph of the integrated microchip device, showing one of two nucleic acid processing systems. Colors indicate the location of sequencing reagent (green), capture gel (yellow), separation gel (red), and pneumatic channels (blue). (b) High-quality sequencing data generated using the integrated bioprocessor shown in (a). Sanger sequencing extension fragments were generated from a 750-bp pUC18 PCR amplicon. Automatic base calls were secured by the program PHRED and base numbers are indicated above the electropherogram. Scale bar is 5 mm in (a). Reprinted with permission from [71].

Figure 3.1. Diagram illustrating the ligase detection reaction and the LDR primer sizes used for human *K-ras* gene mutation discrimination at site 12.2 of codon 12 within exon 1. Discriminating primers were fluorescein-labeled on their 5' ends. The length of the discriminating primer and the corresponding amino acid abbreviations are indicated; V = valine, A = alanine, D = aspartic acid.

 Figure 3.10. PMMA microchip separation using a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel for the sorting of a multiplexed LDR of G12D and G13D products at an abundance ratio of 1:10 (mutant to wild-type). The polymer was reconstituted in 1xTTE buffer containing 7 M urea. The separation was conducted at 125 V/cm after a 35 s injection at 350 V/cm with a detection length of 3.5 cm. **87**

Figure 3.11. PMMA microchip separation using a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel for the sorting of a multiplexed LDR of G12D and G13D products at an abundance ratio of 1:100 (mutant to wild-type). Run conditions were the same as those listed in Figure 3.7. **88**

Figure 4.2. Free solution CAE electropherograms of positive control samples and multiplex LDR-dt samples that are probing four *K-ras* mutations. Four positive control LDR assays consisting of each mutagenic template paired with its respective discriminating (drag-tagged) and common primer. A negative control LDR assay excluding drag-tags was conducted and analyzed via FSCE for comparison. The reactions consisted of 1 nM of each mutagenic template with 25 nM each of the common and discriminating primers per reaction in 1x Taq ligase buffer and 40 U Taq ligase (20 µL total reaction volume). Thermocycling conditions included 20 cycles of 95°C for 20 s and 65°C for 2 min following a 2 min initial denaturation at 95°C. Electrokinetic injections and separations were performed in 1x TTE buffer containing 7 M urea and 0.5% POP6 (for EOF suppression) at E = 416 V/cm for 10 s for injection and E = 375 V/cm for the separation. **103**

Figure 4.4. Microchip FSCE separations of positive control *K-ras* LDR-dt reactions. The custom-micro-milled PMMA microchip was hot embossed from a brass master (9.5 cm length, 30 μ m width and 70 μ m depth) utilized to separate the LDR-dt products generated using the same conditions given in Figure 4.2. The volume-defined cross injection (105 pL) and separation were performed in 1x TTE containing 7 M urea and 0.05% MHEC (for EOF suppression) at E = 365 V/cm for 50 s (injection) and E = 375 V/cm for the electrophoretic separation. Typical analyses used an effective channel separation length of 3.5 cm.

Figure 4.5. Microchip FSCE separation of a multiplexed LDR generating LDR-dt products. Following PCR of the mutagenic *K-ras* loci in a single-tube reaction, a multiplexed single-tube LDR was conducted using the conditions stated in Figure 4.2 with an increase in genomic DNA for G12A and G12V templates to 100 pmol prior to PCR. The effective channel separation length was 6 cm and E = 450 V/cm were selected to optimize the resolution of all LDR-dt products. The other separation conditions were identical to those described in Figure 4.4. **108**

Figure 4.6. Microchip FSCE separations of multiplexed *K-ras* LDR-dt reactions probing the G12D and G13D mutant alleles with changes in the relative abundances of wild-type alleles with respect to the mutant alleles. The reaction compositions consisted of 5.0 nM WT template to 0.05, 0.5 and 5.0 nM of the mutant templates to construct 1:1, 1:10 and 1:100 excesses of mutant-to-WT samples, respectively. Separations used the same conditions as those given in Figure 4.4.

Figure 5.4. Capillary electrophoretic separations of Endo V and Endo V/LDR treated DNA samples. Heteroduplexed mixtures of wild-type and mutant DNA amplicons from LoVo and HT-29 cell lines, respectively, were incubated in the optimized reaction cocktail conditions, which included a 2 h Endo V reaction at 65°C.......**127**

Figure 5.5. PMMA microchip separation of a 32 component Beckman 600 bp size standard. The separation was performed using a 2.75% w/v nanogel constituted in 1x TTE, 7 M urea buffer with a separation voltage of 125 V/cm at a detection length of 6.0 cm.

Figure 5.6. PMMA microchip separation of a negative control sample, which was not subjected to Endo V treatment. Electrophoretic run conditions were the same as those given in Figure 5.5. **130**

List of Commonly Used Abbreviations and Acronyms

- bp base pair
- CAE capillary array electrophoresis
- CE capillary electrophoresis
- CGE capillary gel electrophoresis
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- dNTP deoxynucleoside triphosphate
- dsDNA, ssDNA double stranded and single stranded DNA
- dt drag-tag
- EOF electroosmotic flow
- ELFSE end-labeled free solution electrophoresis
- Endo V endonuclease V
- FSCE free solution conjugate electrophoresis
- HDA heteroduplex assay
- K-ras Kirsten rat sarcoma
- LDR ligase detection reaction
- LIF laser-induced fluorescence
- LPA linear polyacrylamide
- MHEC methyl hydroxyethyl cellulose
- N efficiency
- PCR polymerase chain reaction
- R resolution
- PMMA poly (methylmethacrylate)
- SNP single nucleotide polymorphism

SSCP - single-strand conformational polymorphism

- TBE TRIS borate EDTA
- TTE TRIS TAPS EDTA
- μTAS micro total analysis system
- (w/v) (weight per volume)

Abstract

Polymer-based microelectrophoresis was investigated to analyze known (mutation detection) and unknown (mutation scanning) low-abundant mutations in genomic DNA with high diagnostic value for colorectal cancers. For our mutation detection assays, point mutations in the *K-ras* oncogene were identified using the ligase detection reaction (LDR). For the mutation scanning assay, which searches for sporadic mutations, an EndoV-LDR assay was utilized with mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene used as a model.

A poly(methylmethacrylate), PMMA, microchip filled with a 4% linear polyacrylamide (LPA) gel was used to electrophoretically sort products formed from LDRs, which produced oligonucleotides <65 bp in length. Using microchip electrophoresis with the LPA, a 44 bp ligation product was resolved from a 100-fold molar excess of unligated primers (25 bp) in approximately 120 s, which was ~17 times faster than conventional capillary gel electrophoresis.

In order to simplify the electrophoretic process and further reduce development time, the LDR products were sorted in the absence of the sieving gel using free solution conjugate electrophoresis (FSCE). FSCE incorporated polyamide "drag-tags" onto LDR primers, which provided DNA fragment mobilities in free solution that were dependent upon their size. LDR/drag-tagged (LDR-dt) products could be formed in a multiplexed format for mutant-to-wild-type ratios as low as 1 to 100 with single base resolution. Separations were conducted using capillary array electrophoresis (CAE) and PMMA microchips filled with only a TRIS buffer. Analysis times for the LDR-dt products were less than 11 min using CAE and ~85 s for PMMA microchips with high reproducible migration times within and between microchips.

[xvi]

PMMA-based microchips were also evaluated for the identification of sporadic mutations using an endonuclease V – LDR (Endo V/LDR) technique. Endo V cleaves heteroduplexed DNA one base 3' of single-base mismatched sites as well as nicking DNA at some matched sites as LDR reseals miscleaved sites to reduce false positive signals. Results suggested that Endo V/LDR products from p53 mutations could be successfully separated and detected using a PMMA microfluidic chip filled with a sparsely cross-linked replaceable polyacrylamide gel in less than 6 min, which was approximately 10-fold shorter compared to CAE.

Chapter 1: Advances in Genotyping

1.1 Overview of DNA

All of the tremendously diverse biological attributes of life are governed by the mere sequence of a simple, four-alphabet genetic code – that of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). Housed in the nuclei of cells in dense bundles known as chromosomes, DNA is a biopolymer containing the genetic instructions that transcribe ribonucleic acid (RNA) molecules, which are in turn translated into functional, regulatory enzymes or highly organized structural components ascending from proteins to organelles to cells. DNA exists in long strands comprised of four unique nucleosides: adenine (A), cytosine (C), guanine (G) and thymine (T) (see Figure 1.1). Each strand is held together by a sugarphosphate backbone, which gives the macromolecule a net negative charge. Together, a single sugar-phosphate group and nucleoside comprise DNA monomer units known as nucleotides. Through Watson-Crick pairing, complementary DNA strands conform into a double helix via hydrogen bonding between coordinated G/C and A/T bases as shown in Figure 1.2. These weak hydrogen bonds permit two complementary strands



Figure 1.1. The chemical structures of the adenine, guanine, cytosine and thymine DNA nucleosides.

of DNA to easily separate and reestablish pairings under certain physiological conditions, such as the process of mitosis whereby two daughter cells are created with the exact genetic code as the parent cell.



Figure 1.2. An annotated diagram depicting the DNA double helix highlighting its fundamental components. Adapted from <u>http://cnx.org/content/m12382/1.5/</u> with permission.

1.2 Overview of the Human Genome

In June 2000, some 50 years after the discovery of the DNA double helix, the rough draft sequencing of the approximate three billion bases in the human genome was completed due to the monumental undertaking of the Human Genome Project (HGP). Upon the initial deciphering of the human genome, we now know that our genomes are nearly 99% identical and that they only contain approximately 30,000 – 40,000 genes instead of the hypothesized 100,000 (one gene per protein), leaving about 1% of the human genome that codes for functional components that regulate various cellular machinery and processes. However, this small percentage of the human genome accounts for over 90% of all sequence variations that make each individual unique [1, 2].

While this rough draft of the human genome has already aided biomedical research, much more sequencing detail is needed. In fact, it has been predicted that medical care will one day be tailored to each individual's genomic sequence [3]. Aside from the discovery of the remaining unidentified genes, the challenge that now remains is identifying (genotyping) the subtle differences within various regions of the genome known as polymorphisms that are produced from either environmental or inherited conditions. Upon identification, numerous polymorphisms - base substitutions, deletions, insertions, or frameshifts (see Figure 1.3) - within an active gene-coding region can be used as markers to monitor for the presence of or even susceptibility to developing a given disease. Most polymorphisms are classified as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP)s wherein a single base is substituted, which can potentially lead to genetic mutations and thus, the development of deleterious conditions such as sickle cell anemia, muscular dystrophy and many forms of cancer to name just a few. For

[3]

instance, muscular dystrophy, a highly debilitating and fatal X chromosome-linked muscle disorder affecting approximately 1 in 3,500 new-born males, has been traced to irregularities in a single gene, dystrophin, measuring 2.4 Mb making it the largest found in humans [4].



Figure 1.3. Depiction of base substitutions, insertions, deletions and frameshifts comprising the different types of DNA sequence polymorphisms.

Genetic sequencing information also plays a key role in the development of presymptomatic screening assays for the early diagnosis of disease states. Cancers, uncontrolled cell growth initiated by an accumulation of point mutations in functional gene regions promoting tumorigenesis, are of particular interest as the relationship between time of discovery and survival rates has been well documented in the scientific literature [5].

The onset of colorectal cancer, for example, is highly associated with 19 known SNPs within codons 12, 13, and 61 of the *K-ras* gene, which convert the amino acid

glycine to valine in these critical positions, making the gene oncogenic. The ras gene is a signal transduction protein producer (GTPase), which under normal functionality is activated by guanine exchange factors and inactivated by GTPase-activating proteins via GTP hydrolysis of ras back to its GDP form. However, the *K-ras* oncogene continually encodes 21 Kb hydrolysis-resistant GTPase analogs (cell growth signals), thus stimulating growth and differentiation of cells autonomously [6, 7]. On the other hand, tumor suppressor genes, such as the p53 gene, are also highly associated with the onset of colorectal cancer. The p53 tumor suppressor protein is a multi-functional transcription factor that regulates cellular processes affecting proliferation and induces growth arrest and apoptosis via several pathways [8]. These mutations occur sporadically throughout large spans of the gene, mostly in exons 5 - 9 [9]. Therefore, both oncogenic and tumor suppressor mutations must be assessed for accurate diagnosis of the disease.

1.3 Genotyping with Fragment Analysis Methods (More information provided in Chapter 2)

Equipped with vast insight from the HGP including the locations of genes and specific DNA bases within them responsible for the onset of particular disease states, small fragments (~100 – 500 bp) encompassing these regions are typically generated and probed. There is an array of fragment analysis genotyping methods including single-strand conformational polymorphism (SSCP), heteroduplex analysis (HA), minisequencing, short tandem repeats (STR)s, restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLP)s, and the ligase detection reaction (LDR) to name a few, all of which will be discussed in great detail in the following chapter. Although sequencing is

[5]

still considered the genotyping gold standard, these methods are often used in lieu of sequencing because it is a relatively time-consuming, a laborious process.

Each fragment analysis method has its advantages and disadvantages with respect to simplicity, sensitivity, ease of multiplexing, throughput, and cost. Therefore, the choice of SNP genotyping method varies, depending on the specific needs and resources of each laboratory. Central to most fragment analysis techniques is the utilization of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), which has the ability to exponentially amplify a single copy of a gene fragment of interest into millions of synthetic copies as shown in Figure 4 [10]. Thereafter, normal and mutagenic DNA fragments are directly deciphered by either conformational differences due to sequence composition (i.e., SSCP and HA) or size differences elucidated via electrophoretic-based separations (i.e., STR). Other methods require subsequent treatments with enzymes that either cleave DNA fragments with endonucleases (e.g., RFLP) or conjoin DNA fragments using ligases (e.g., LDR) and are highly dependent on the ability of such enzymes to recognize and act only upon DNA bases of interest within a sequence. Consequently, thousands of novel enzymes have been discovered, characterized, and utilized in DNA treatments according to their specificity [11].

1.4 Genotyping Technology (More information provided in Chapter 2)

1.4.1 Electrophoresis of DNA

Gel electrophoresis is the method of choice for sorting DNA fragments. In general, electrophoresis is a method used to separate a heterogeneous population of charged particles in a conductive medium under an electric field. Given DNA is a freedraining molecule that has a constant size-to-charge ratio that will not permit sizesorting in free-solution, a porous sieving material must be suspended in the conductive

[6]

medium in order to induce frictional drag on DNA molecules [12]. Under such parameters, an applied electrical field results in the electrophoretic migration of DNAs with a frictional force acting in the opposite direction. The electrical force (F_e) is given by the equation:

$$F_e = qE \tag{1.1},$$

where *q* is the net charge on the molecule and *E* is the applied electric field. The frictional force (F_f) is described by the equation:

$$F_f = f \frac{dx}{dt} \tag{1.2}$$

where f is the translational friction coefficient and dx and dt are the distance and time



Figure 1.4. Illustration of PCR process used to amplify segments of DNA from http://www.sumanasinc.com/webcontent/animations/content/pcr.html., 2007.

increments, respectively. Under steady-state conditions where F_e and F_f are counterbalanced, DNA migrates with a steady-state velocity (v);

$$v = \frac{Eq}{f} \tag{1.3}.$$

Therefore, the movement of DNA molecules can be quantified in terms of its electrophoretic mobility (μ) from the equation:

$$\mu = \frac{\nu}{E} \tag{1.4}$$

Substituting equation (1.3) into (1.4) yields:

$$\mu = \frac{f}{q} \tag{1.5},$$

which describes the electrophoretic mobility of a DNA molecule in terms of its charge and frictional components. As mentioned previously, DNA is a net negatively charged molecule with a constant size-to-charge ratio. Since $q \alpha$ (*N*), the number of base pairs in a DNA chain, and each of these units contribute proportionally to the overall frictional drag exerted on the molecule ($f \alpha N$):

$$\mu = \frac{q}{f} = \frac{N}{N} = N^0$$
(1.6).

Thus, the electrophoretic mobility of a population of DNA molecules in free solution is uniform, which explains the necessity of porous sieving materials for their electrophoretic separation into well-resolved zones or bands as shown in Figure 1.5.

1.4.2 DNA Sieving Media

It was first reported in 1967 that separation profiles utilizing gels occur because smaller DNA fragments traverse porous media at greater velocities than larger DNA chains, which are subjected to greater friction under an electric field [13]. With gel electrophoresis, the extent to which a mixture of DNAs is resolved depends heavily on the pore size of a gel medium relative to the DNA size distribution. For DNA genotyping separations, a host of entangled polymer in solutions of varying concentrations (see Table 1.1) or chemically cross-linked networks in solution is commonly utilized. Entangled polymers in solution are ideal for automated capillary array electrophoresis(CAE) systems because they are easily replaced between runs to prevent contamination during successive analyses (see Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.5. An illustration of the use of a porous gel medium to electrophoretically sort a mixed DNA population into bands in a slab gel and capillary gel format. Capillary gel format from www.chnola-research.org/.../capilary.htm, 2004.

Such matrices include poly (ethyleneoxide), PEO, hydroxyethyl cellulose and linear polyacrylamide (LPA) to name a few [14]. LPA and its derivatives having ultrahigh molar mass are the most popular sieving material due to their high hydrophilicity and excellent DNA separation ability [15]. On the other hand, non-replaceable crosslinked polyacrylamides in solution are typically used in slab gel formats and have the ability to resolve DNA ranging from 6 to 1,000 bp given the appropriate concentration and degree of cross-linking [16].



Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of linear and cross-linked polymers in solution.

1.4.3 Dispersion and Band Broadening

The ability to resolve a mixture of solutes into homogeneous zones or bands depends on the length of each band, which in turn is dependent on the dispersion processes that act on them. This dispersion leads to band broadening, which causes migrating bands to overlap and become indistinct from each other. Such dispersion processes include: longitudinal molecular diffusion, thermal or convective diffusion, nonspecific analyte-wall interactions, sample injections and noise presence in the detector. Dispersion can be described as the total variance within the system, σ_{TOT}^2 , which is given by the sum of several contributing factors:

$$\sigma_{TOT}^{2} = \sigma_{Dif}^{2} + \sigma_{TEMP}^{2} + \sigma_{INJ}^{2} + \sigma_{ADS}^{2} + \sigma_{DET}^{2}$$
(1.7),

where the subscripts refer to diffusion, temperature gradients, injection, adsorption and detection, respectively. In an ideal system, longitudinal diffusion is the major contributor to the total zone variance and all other dispersion factors are negligible. For electrophoretic separations of DNA performed with polymer matrices, longitudinal and radial molecular diffusion do not contribute as much to band broadening as in free solution separations because the rate at which DNA molecules diffuse in viscous media (*i.e.*, ~10⁻⁸ – 10⁻¹⁰ cm²/s) [17] is relatively low compared to the rate of diffusion in free

Table 1.1. Compilation of experimental conditions with replaceable polymers for high performance DNA separations using capillary electrophoresis. Reprinted with permission (see Appendix for references within Table) [14].

Polymer	Ref.	M _{wt}	MHSC*Mwt (w/v)*	Concentration used (w/v)	Electric Field (V/cm)	Sieving length (cm)	Internal diameter (µm)	Buffer & Denaturants [‡]	Temp. (C°)	Cap. 5 Coating	Sample Load Conditions [#]	R _{apparent} ≥ 0.6 (bases/min)**	LOR §§ (bases)
HEC	12	100,000	1.17%	2.0%	190	41	75	- 1xTBE - 6M Urea - 10% formamide	26	LPA type A	~ 15 sec @ 190 V/cm	$\frac{-510 \text{ bases}}{-62 \text{ min}}$	500 - 600
LPA	14	339,000	1.49%	6.2%	218	40	50	Buffer: 220ml water, 40 ml methanol, 5.6 g Tris titrated with 85% Phosphoric acid Denaturant: 8M Urea	=	LPA type B	5 sec @ 109 V/cm	<u>~370 bases</u> ~81 min	450
LPA	39	1,000,000	0.63%	8.0%	100	12	100	- 1xTBE - 3.5M Urea - 30% formamide	Rm.	LPA type A	- 20 sec @ 154 V/cm	<u>375 bases</u> 84 min	
LPA	13	≥ 5,500,000	0.16%	2.0%	150	30	100	- 50 mM Tris - 50 mM Taps - 2 mM EDTA - 7M Urea	50	PVA	~ 15 sec @ 200 V/cm	<u>685 bases</u> 61 min	1.
LPA	9	_	-	5.0%	150	39	50	- 1xTBE - 7.0M Urea	60	LPA type A	~ 40 sec @ 100 V/cm	<u>550 bases</u> 106 min	-
LPA	10		-	9.0%	100	40	75	- 0.1M TBE - 7.0M Urea	Rm.	LPA type A	~ 40 sec @ 213 V/cm	$\frac{-520 \text{ bases}}{-430 \text{ min}}$	
DMPA	8	100,000	0.96%	6.5%	200	50	50	- 100mM TAPS - 8M Urea - pH = 8	45	Self Coat	~ 40 sec @ 50 V/cm	~ <u>600 bases</u> ~130 min ##	650
PEO	11	600,000 + 8,000,000	0.6% with 600,000 & 0.08% with 8,000,000	1.4% 600,000 + 1.5% 8,000,000	267	35	75	- 1xTBE - 3.5M Urea	Rm.	Self Coat	~ 12 sec @ 133 V/cm	_	-
Note: $R_{appears}$ was determined by the author's observation of where adjacent DNA peaks (of the same base type) in an electropherogram consistently appeared having a resolution, R, equal to 0.6. Gaussian peaks representing resolution equal to 0.6, 1.0, and 1.5 are shown to the right. The relationship, $R = \Delta U \%$, was recast as $R = \Delta U (1.6986*fwhm)$ assuming the Gaussian's average base width, W , is measured when the peak has diminished to $1/e^2$ of it's original value ($R \cong \Delta U 40$). Fwhm corresponds to the full width half maximum of the Gaussian, and Δt , the peak spacing.							R =	0.6		R = 1.0	R = 1.5		

solution (*i.e.*, $\sim 10^{-7}$ cm²/s) [18]. As a result, higher efficiencies are achieved with gel electrophoresis.

1.4.3.1 Electroosmotic Flow

Electroosmotic flow (EOF) is the bulk flow of a solution towards a cathode or anode upon voltage application due to the formation of an electric double layer that develops at the capillary surface/solution interface. This phenomenon occurs because a plane of shear between the fixed and mobile layers creates a potential difference between the layers known as the zeta potential, ζ , which is determined by the charge of a conduit wall. This phenomenon is dependent upon the surface charge of a conduit as well as the pH and the ionic strength of buffered solutions. EOF can be expressed in terms of mobility using the equation:

$$\mu_{eof} = \frac{\varepsilon \zeta}{\eta} E \tag{1.8},$$

where ε is the dielectric constant. The electrophoretic mobility of a solute in the presence of the EOF is termed the apparent mobility (μ_{app}), which is expressed as:

$$\mu_{app} = \mu_{eof} - \mu_e \tag{1.9}.$$

Both electroosmotic and electrophoretic flow within a microchannel have a flat profile as shown in Figure 1.7, which is beneficial for band efficiencies. However, EOF is undesirable when performing DNA separations in capillaries because its mobility is toward the cathode, opposing the electrophoretic mobility of negatively charged DNA, which is toward the anode. Moreover, highly charged surfaces that lead to EOF also result in unwanted analyte-wall interactions. Thus, surface modifications are administered to suppress EOF and analyte-wall interactions.



Figure 1.7. Plug flow profile and EOF in a capillary tube during electrophoresis adapted from http://micromachine.stanford.edu/~dlaser/images/eof_capillary.jpg, 2006.

1.4.3.2 Surface Modification for Suppression of EOF

To reduce surface charge influences on the separations, the EOF in capillaries must be either significantly reduced or eliminated. This is accomplished by coating channel surfaces with polymeric materials. These coatings can either be static through means of covalent attachment of the coating materials to the surface, or dynamic, whereby a coating is adsorbed onto the wall. Both methods provide a homogeneous surface to reduce dispersion effects, which is especially important as DNA separations are dramatically affected by inhomogeneities in surface charges [19].

One of the earliest reports concerning chemical modifications of capillary surfaces is the Hjerten coating method. This modification involves the coating of channel surfaces with a non-cross-linked polyacrylamide to eliminate the EOF in silica capillaries through attachment of a thin layer of polyacrylamide groups by reacting the SiO- groups with γ methacryloxypropyltrimethoxysilane (γ -MAPS) prior to polymerization [20].

Dynamic coatings are advantageous because they do not require timeconsuming chemical modifications. Passivation is typically achieved by either prerinsing the microchannel with a solution containing the adsorptive polymer or additive, or by including the coating agents in the run buffer or separation medium. Dynamic coating with self-coating sieving matrices such as poly(dimethylacrylamide) (PDMA) and polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) are attractive since the coating is regenerated with each refilling of the microchannel, which increases the reproducible of separations over several analyses [21, 22].

[13]

1.4.4 Characterization of Electropherograms

Upon electrophoretic separations, electropherograms reveal bands referred to as peaks, whose dispersion can be measured by evaluating the width of the peak at its base, w_p . For a Gaussian peak,

$$w_b = 4\sigma \tag{1.10}$$

where σ is the standard deviation of the peak. From this expression, efficiency, *N*, can then be expressed as theoretical plates by:

$$N = \left(\frac{l}{\sigma}\right)^2 \tag{1.11},$$

where l is the effective length of the capillary (cm). Also, efficiency can be directly related to the molecular diffusion by:

$$\sigma_{TOT}^2 = 2Dt = \frac{2DlL}{\mu_e V} \tag{1.12},$$

where *D* is the diffusion coefficient of the molecule, *L* is the total length of the capillary (cm) and *t* is time. Substituting 1.12 into 1.11 yields the fundamental electrophoretic expression for plate number:

$$N = \frac{\mu_e V l}{2DL} = \frac{u_e E l}{2D} \tag{1.13}$$

Efficiency can also be calculated directly from peak parameters in an electropherograms as shown in Figure 1.8 with the following expression:

$$N = 16 \left(\frac{t_m}{w_b}\right)^2 \tag{1.14},$$

where t_m is the migration time of the peak (see Figure 1.8). The resulting value is then normalized to an effective column length of one meter (plates/m). For gel electrophoresis, the major contributor to band broadening for a well-designed system is longitudinal diffusion of the solute molecules. In this instance, N can be directly related to the molecular diffusion by:

$$N = \mu \frac{El}{2D} \tag{1.15}$$

Resolution is the degree of separation between the target molecule(s) and other molecules within a sample. It is the result of two factors: selectivity (the relative difference in the retention of two peaks) and efficiency. Resolution is given by the expression:

$$R = 2 \frac{(t_{m2} - t_{m1})}{w_{b2} + w_{b1}}$$
(1.16)

the difference in migration times divided by the average width of the two peaks at the base. Resolution can also be calculated in terms of efficiency and mobility with the expression:



Figure 1.8. Adjacent peaks in an electropherogram marking migration times and peak widths from which efficiency and resolution can be calculated adapted from [23].

$$R = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Delta \mu_{app}}{\mu_{app,avg}} N^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(1.17),

where $\mu_{app,avg}$ is the mean mobility of two neighboring components.

1.5 Evolution of Electrophoretic Genotyping Platforms

Driven by the enormous demand for electrophoretic systems with high throughput capabilities, automated CAE systems were devised to replace cumbersome slab gel systems. Due to a capillary's ability to dissipate heat, higher electrical fields can be sustained, and thus, faster separations can be performed. Though these commercial instruments remain effective, they are still relatively expensive to operate and slow considering the ever expanding post-HGP genotyping demands including disease, forensic and ongoing genome sequencing studies [24]. Meanwhile, miniaturized microfluidic platforms have gained traction as electrophoretic devices with the potential to satisfy these growing genotyping needs [24]. Just as CAE systems improved upon slab gel systems for DNA sorting in terms of reduction in sample consumption and speed of analysis, microfluidics have improved upon these same factors of CAE systems by orders of magnitude (see Table 1.2). In addition, this

Tab	ble 1.2.	Comparison	n of typical	parameters	associated	with th	ne given e	electroph	noretic
forr	nats.	-		-			-	-	

	Slab Gel	Capillary	Microchip
Analysis Time	2 – 8 h	1 – 2 h	0.5 – 10 min
Field Strengths	50 – 80 V/cm	100 – 300 V/cm	100 – 300 V/cm
Sample Load	1 – 10 µL	1 – 10 nL	10 – 100 pL
Vol.			

burgeoning miniaturized (microchip) platform is even more attractive as front-end sample processing (*e.g.*, PCR cycling), back-in signal read-out and electrophoretic sorting abilities can be combined onto a single wafer creating a micro-total analysis system (μTAS), also referred to as a lab-on-a-chip [25].

1.5.1 Microfluidic Devices (Detailed microchip genotyping applications provided in Chapter 2)

Microfluidic devices, commonly referred to as microchips, were first used as electrophoretic platforms in the early 1990s and they were fabricated with glass and silicon substrates because their surface properties and optical clarity were essentially identical to capillary tubing [26]. Recently, polymeric (plastic) substrates having manageable surface chemistries and adequate clarity have gained favor due to their relative low cost and ease of machining, which further enhances the outlook for the aforementioned development of µTAS units [27]. Replicates of plastic microchips can be mass-produced from a metal mold master containing raised micro-features



Figure 1.9. (Left) Schematic of a "twin T" microchip typically used for electrophoresis. (Right) A x100 magnified image of microstructures hot-embossed in a plastic substrate.

(channels) by injection molding or hot-embossing into an amorphous substrate (see Figure 1.9) [28].



Figure 1.10. Microchip sample loading and corresponding voltage applications through a twin T injection zone and the initial separation of the volume-defined sample plug.

Electrophoretic separations carried out on microfluidic devices are similar in manner to those performed using a capillary. The major operational difference lies in the sample plug introduction prior to separations. Capillary injections involve placing a tube in a sample vial and electrokinetically pumping sample into it over some given period of time, and then returning the capillary to a system buffer vial to perform separations. Alternatively, microchip injections are performed by electrophoretically attracting a sample placed in an on-chip reservoir across a separation channel, at which point the sample volume within intersecting zone – the sample plug – is simultaneously electrophoresed as the residual sample is drawn back into the sample reservoir (see Figure 1.10). Unlike capillary injections, microchip injections do not suffer electrokinetic
injection biases whereby smaller charged species are loaded onto a conduit in larger quantities than larger, slower moving charged species, thus leading to unrepresentative sample loading, particularly for DNA samples [29].

1.6 Research Focus

In the following chapters of this dissertation, the research efforts conducted to advance the development of genetic analysis methods on polymer microchips will be described. The focus of this work was the adaptation and transition of DNA mutation product separations currently limited to CAE system processing onto inexpensive polymer microchips manufactured by our research group. These separation adaptations included two novel enzyme-based genotyping methods having high fidelity for correctly identifying known and unknown mutations present in low abundances; the ligase detection reaction (LDR) and endonuclease V – ligase detection reaction (EndoV/LDR) assays, respectively. The purpose of this work was to set the stage in part for the future completion of disposable µTAS units suitable for clinical genetic analyses.

1.7 References

[1] Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., et al., Science 2001, 291, 1304-+.

[2] Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., et al., Nature 2001, 409, 860-921.

[3] Shendure, J., Mitra, R. D., Varma, C., Church, G. M., *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2004, *5*, 335-344.

[4] Nobile, C., Marchi, J., Nigro, V., Roberts, R. G., Danieli, G. A., *Genomics* 1997, *45*, 421-424.

[5] Jemal, A., Siegel, R., Ward, E., Hao, Y. P., *et al.*, *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 2008, *58*, 71-96.

[6] Boriack-Sjodin, P. A., Margarit, S. M., Bar-Sagi, D., Kuriyan, J., *Nature* 1998, *394*, 337-343.

[7] Bos, J. L., Cancer Research 1989, 49, 4682-4689.

[8] Prives, C., Hall, P. A., Journal of Pathology 1999, 187, 112-126.

[9] Soussi, T., Dehouche, K., Beroud, C., Human Mutation 2000, 15, 105-113.

[10] Mullis, K., Faloona, F., Scharf, S., Saiki, R., et al., Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on *Quantitative Biology* 1986, *51*, 263-273.

[11] Pingoud, A., Jeltsch, A., Nucleic Acids Research 2001, 29, 3705-3727.

[12] Olivera, B. M., Baine, P., Davidson, N., *Biopolymers* 1964, 2, 245-257.

[13] Thorne, H. V., Journal of Molecular Biology 1967, 24, 203-&.

[14] Quesada, M. A., Current Opinion in Biotechnology 1997, 8, 82-93.

[15] Goetzinger, W., Kotler, L., Carrilho, E., Ruiz-Martinez, M. C., et al., Electrophoresis 1998, 19, 242-248.

[16] Righetti, P. G., Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods 1989, 19, 1-20.

[17] Brahmasandra, S. N., Burke, D. T., Mastrangelo, C. H., Burns, M. A., *Electrophoresis* 2001, *22*, 1046-1062.

[18] Nkodo, A. E., Garnier, J. M., Tinland, B., Ren, H. J., *et al.*, *Electrophoresis* 2001, 22, 2424-2432.

[19] Dolnik, V., Xu, D., Yadav, A., Bashkin, J., et al., Journal of Microcolumn Separations 1998, 10, 175-184.

[20] Hjerten, S., Journal of Chromatography 1985, 347, 191-198.

[21] Gao, Q. F., Yeung, E. S., Analytical Chemistry 2000, 72, 2499-2506.

[22] Madabhushi, R. S., *Electrophoresis* 1998, *19*, 224-230.

[23] Grossman, P. D., Colburn, J.C., *Capillary Electrophoresis: Theory and Practice*, Academic Press, Inc., San Diego 1992.

[24] Sinville, R., Soper, S. A., Journal of Separation Science 2007, 30, 1714-1728.

[25] Figeys, D., Pinto, D., Analytical Chemistry 2000, 72, 330A-335A.

[26] Harrison, D. J., Manz, A., Fan, Z. H., Ludi, H., Widmer, H. M., *Analytical Chemistry* 1992, *64*, 1926-1932.

[27] Becker, H., Locascio, L. E., *Talanta* 2002, *56*, 267-287.

[28] Hupert, M. L., Guy, W. J., Llopis, S. D., Shadpour, H., et al., Microfluidics and Nanofluidics 2007, 3, 1-11.

[29] Huang, X. H., Gordon, M. J., Zare, R. N., Analytical Chemistry 1988, 60, 375-377.

Chapter 2: High Resolution DNA Separations Using Microchip Electrophoresis for Genotyping Applications*

2.1 Introduction

The completion of the Human Genome Project (HGP) approximately 50 years after the discovery of the DNA double helix has unveiled a multitude of genetic information, which will and has begun to shape future directions in biomedical research and others as well. For instance, we now know that the sequences of human genomes are nearly 99% identical and that our genome contains only approximately 30,000 -40,000 genes instead of the hypothesized 100,000 (one gene per protein), leaving about 1% of the human genome that codes for functional components that regulate various cellular machinery and processes. However, this small percentage of the human genome accounts for over 90% of all sequence variations that make each individual unique [1, 2]. Aside from the discovery of the remaining unidentified genes, the challenge that now remains is identifying (genotyping) the subtle differences within various regions of the genome known as polymorphisms that are produced from either environmental or inherited conditions and can be linked to a number of diseases. Most polymorphisms are classified as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in which a single base is substituted, which can potentially lead to genetic mutations and thus, the development of deleterious conditions such as sickle cell anemia, muscular dystrophy and many forms of cancer to name just a few.

The undertaking of unraveling the primary structure of our genome (DNA sequencing) or looking for unique sequence structural differences within the genome (DNA genotyping) has driven the advancement of DNA-based electrophoretic technologies significantly beyond the performance metrics that could be realized using slab gels, which were the dominate electrophoresis platform used up until the late ^{*}Reprinted with permission from the *Journal of Separation Sciences*. [22]

1990s. In order to relieve the labor intensive demands associated with slab gels, automated high throughput formats of gel electrophoresis were required to meet the demands predicated by the HGP. This was satisfied to a certain extent with the development of capillary array electrophoresis (CAE).

To further reduce the time and overall cost of DNA analysis, planar microfluidic devices have been projected as a viable alternative electrophoretic platform. This has lead to the production of a few commercial instruments using glass microchips instead of capillaries or slab gels, which have been discussed elsewhere in detail [4]. In Table 2.1 is provided a basic operational and performance comparison between the 3 electrophoretic platforms typically used in DNA analysis namely, slab gel, CAE and microchip electrophoresis (microchip CE).

Table 2.1. Performance and operational comparison between three different

 electrophoresis platforms used for DNA sequencing.

	Number	Injection	Analysis	Avg.	Field	Through-	Gel	Lane
	Of	Volume	Time	Read-	Strength*	put	Pouring	Tracking
	Lanes	(nL)	(h)	length	(V/cm)	(bases/		
				(bp)		per 8 h)		
$Slab^{\rm a}$	96	500 -	6 -8	700 ^a	20-50	67,200	Yes	Yes
gel		1,000						
Capillary	96 ^b	1-5	1-3	650^{b}	100-300	~166,400 ^b	No	No
Microchip	96 ^c	0.1-0.5	0.1-0.5	430°	100-300	~660,480 ^c	No	No
_								1

a) ABI 377A [73].

b) based on ABI 3730xl using standard sequencing conditions [74].

c) based on research from [65].

As seen from the data presented in Table 2.1, CAE and microchip CE offer some attractive capabilities, such as the elimination of gel pouring and lane tracking due to the boundary conditions imposed on the separations by the walls defining the separation channel. In addition, the small diameter of the separation columns utilized in these micro-separation platforms permit the use of higher electric field strengths to significantly reduce electrophoretic development time. As a result of the performance capabilities associated with these micro-column separation platforms, they can improve throughput compared to slab gel electrophoresis by nearly 3-fold for the CAE format, but by nearly an order of magnitude for microchip CE. The challenge with the micro-column separation techniques is that they require load volumes that are 3 – 4 orders of magnitude smaller than slab gel electrophoresis and as such, place severe demands on detection and/or sample pre-processing prior to the separation to build sufficient concentrations of the targets for detection.

In this post-genomic era, DNA separation-based technologies are shifting from primarily a research tool into a more diffuse user pool targeting such as clinical diagnostics, forensic applications, and small-scale sequencing of individual genomes for personalized medicine initiatives. To realize this transition, DNA-based analysis systems must attain certain performance characteristics such as: (1) Development of low cost instrumentation that can be easily operated by novice users. Typically, the equipment required for processing DNA samples is expensive, difficult to operate and maintain and performs only one step of the many steps that are required for DNA processing. For example, many of the CAE-based electrophoretic instruments require expensive laser systems for reading fluorescence from the capillary tube(s) in a finish line format, gel sieving matrices that are expensive that must be changed after every single electrophoretic run and finally, perform only the separation step. DNA samples typically require significant amounts of pre-processing prior to the electrophoresis such as purification, amplification via PCR, and labeling of the generated DNA fragments. Unfortunately, different instruments are required for each step of the processing pipeline, which significantly increases the capitol equipment costs for performing genetic

[24]

assays as well as demanding high levels of operator expertise. (2) Automation of the entire DNA processing pipeline preferably into a single instrument. As noted above, the analysis of DNA typically requires many processing steps, with each step dedicated to a different instrument. This requires manual handling and transfer of samples from instrument-to-instrument, which leads to contamination, sample loss and potential errors in reporting answers from assays in which the copy number of the input DNA is low. (3) Disposable fluid handling devices that can be mass-produced at low-cost. The containers or reactor vials for the sample must be discarded after a single use to prevent sample carryover from one assay to the next potentially giving rise to false negatives, which is critically important in such areas as DNA diagnostics and DNA forensics. At the present time, titer plates are used for sample containment, which are then poised on instruments that carry out the required active processing such as thermal cycling reactions. In the case of the electrophoretic sorting step, the processed samples (typically 96 - 384) are either pipetted into a well of the slab gel or electrokinetically injected into an array of glass capillaries. The slab gel is used once and discarded while capillaries are flushed after a single use and filled with fresh sieving matrix.

Microfluidic chips hold the potential to allow expansion of DNA-based assays into a broader application base due to their ability to directly address the 3 issues cited above. For example, microfluidic chips can be constructed from moldable polymer (plastic) materials to fabricate monolithic devices that are not only potentially low-cost, but can be populated with many of the processing steps required for DNA analyses on the same chip used to carry out the electrophoretic separation. This can create

[25]

functional platforms that provide high levels of automation at low cost and reduce the number of peripherals (*i.e.*, instruments) built around the intended application.

Early microfluidic efforts were focused on developing devices specifically for the electrophoretic step of DNA analyses and used predominately glass-based devices. This was spawned by glass' high optical clarity, which accommodated nicely to optical fluorescence readout, and surface properties that were similar to that of capillaries, which allowed simple transitioning of many of the surface chemistries from capillary-based instruments to microchips.

In the past few years, many polymeric materials have been extensively evaluated for their potential use as micro-electrophoretic devices and several have been found to possess favorable qualities [5]. Besides the lower cost of the material, the manufacturing methods now available to produce plastic microfluidics allow for much faster production and at lower cost to meet the anticipated demands imposed by the clinical and forensic markets. However, it should be noted that many of the established surface chemistries that have functioned well for glass or fused silica, such as the dynamic coatings used to suppress the electro-osmotic flow (EOF) or minimize solutewall interactions, do not transition well to polymer-based devices due to profound differences in surface chemistry. In addition, the optical clarity of many polymers does not compare favorably to that of glass or fused silica, especially in the UV and/or visible region of the electromagnetic spectrum [4].

In this review, we will focus specifically on recent progress made in the area of microfluidic chips for electrophoretic-based genomic analyses including genotyping, DNA sequencing, and forensic applications. For reviews that cover a variety of different biological applications of microchips we would refer the reader to [6-10]. In addition, for

reviews that have focused on the integration of various DNA pre-processing steps into the micro-separation chip, several reviews have appeared in which the reader can refer [11, 12]. The areas that we will discuss include genotyping applications (mutation scanning and mutation detection) for diagnostics, DNA forensics and finally, DNA sequencing.

2.2 Genotyping: Mutation Scanning Applications

Mutational scanning strategies are used to search for sequence polymorphisms in which the locus or location of the polymorphism is not known or the sequence variation occurs sporadically within a certain section of the genome. Common scanning techniques that are used in conjunction with electrophoresis to type DNA include singlestrand conformation polymorphism (SSCP), heteroduplex analysis (HDA), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE). These methods are based on conformationally-induced mobility shifts of Watson-Crick matched or mismatched single or double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) fragments and represent an alternative to DNA sequencing, which is still impractical for routine clinical uses due to its relatively high cost, labor-intensive processing and slow turnaround time. Moreover, scanning methods have the ability to score DNA regions containing large insertions and/or deletions. Genomic interrogations of this sort are typically used for the detection of unknown SNPs within PCR amplified regions; however, vital information regarding the exact sequence location and characterization of SNPs are not rendered using most mutation scanning assays. With the exception of DGGE, all of the methods described above have been adapted to a microfluidic format.

2.2.1 SSCP

SSCP is widely applied for DNA mutation scanning due to its relative simplicity as only PCR amplification and subsequent denaturation of the double-stranded amplicons to generate single-stranded DNA is required for sample preparation prior to the electrophoretic sorting. Single-stranded DNA fragments, under the appropriate experimental conditions, possess sequence-specific 3-dimensional conformations resulting from intra-strand base pairing. Heterozygous alleles have the exact same size as homozygotes, but possess one or more altered bases at loci that can be scored through conformationally-induced perturbations to the electrophoretic mobility. Samples subjected to mutation scanning surveys using SSCP, and all mutation scanning assays for that matter, typically include the mutagenic DNA as well as their known wild-type counterparts from a PCR-defined region. As such, the electrophoretic technique must be able to afford high resolution capabilities to observe the presence of the mutation in a high level of background from "normal" or wild-type DNA sequences.

Closely following the formats adopted for SSCP analysis using slab and capillary gel electrophoresis (CGE), researchers have established microfluidic separation methods for SSCP. For example, the first published research exploring SSCP on a microchip was by Tian *et al.* who displayed the usefulness of this platform to distinguish three common mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes (185delAG, 5382insC, and 6174delT) among the Ashkenazi Jewish population, which possess high risk for breast cancer. Their glass microchip profiling methodology, which paralleled a CGE method that was also presented in the report, used 2.5% hydroxyethylcellulose (HEC) containing 10% glycerol as a sieving matrix, which discriminated all mutant alleles from their wild-type counterparts with a four-fold reduction in analysis time (~130 s)

[28]

compared to the CGE separation [13]. However, they noted a substantial decrease in resolution in the microchip SSCP profiles and attributed it to possible inadequate surface passivation of the microchip using polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) as the dynamic coating for EOF suppression and a lack of adequate temperature control in the microchip format.

As with the case of SSCP analysis employing capillaries, the most scrutinized aspect of microchip SSCP separations remains the selection of appropriate separation parameters to impart large mobility differences for subtle sequence variations such as the type of sieving matrix, stability of the additive, wall coatings, temperature, and field strength. As such, parametric studies placing emphasis on these parameters have For example, Endo and co-workers presented a systematic recently emerged. optimization of SSCP separation conditions using a glass microchip, which they ultimately used to probe for a set of seven p53 mutations. Evaluating a wide array of sieving and glycerol concentrations, they found 1.5% methylcellulose excluding glycerol to be the most effective sieving matrix as the two commercial systems used (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer and Hitachi SV1100) did not possess microchip cooling capabilities to attenuate the Joule heating produced when glycerol was present [14]. Using the optimized set of sorting parameters, the authors were able to analyze the full panel of markers in under 1 min. Kang et al. used another sieving combination (1.75% PVP, 1.0% poly(ethyleneoxide), 5% glycerol including 0.01 - 0.025% NaOH) to enhance selectivity of SSCP profiles for ghrelin (childhood obesity-related) Leu72Met point mutations using commercial glass microchip-based instruments [15]. They were able to resolve the full panel of markers using the aforementioned microchip conditions in under 85 s. A high-throughput SSCP analysis of genes associated with hereditary

[29]

hemochromatosis (metabolic iron storage disorder) and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (heart muscle abnormality) has also been demonstrated using a 48-lane section of a 384-lane glass-based microdevice, which yielded 100% selectivity for the 21 mutations being scanned [16]. The 200 mm diameter high density microchip contained 8.0 cm length straight channels that were radially-configured about a centered common anode. In this study, they performed separations in their preferred sieving material (5.0% polydimethylacrylamide, PDMA, 10% glycerol, 15% urea) at two running temperatures (25°C and 40°C) to realize full separation of the marker panel. The authors also noted that using a delayed back biased electrokinetic injection scheme improved sample loading resulting in higher plate numbers and improved resolution.

2.2.2 HDA

HDA is an electrophoretic mutation scanning method that is based on relative conformational changes between heteroduplexed and homoduplexed PCR amplified DNA fragments. This method differs from SSCP because it relies on differences in conformational structures of nearly complementary (heteroduplexed) and completely complementary (homoduplexed) double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) fragments instead of single-stranded intra-molecular folding as is used in SSCP. Formed heteroduplexes contain bulges within the rehybridized DNA fragments where bases are mis-matched and are typically accompanied by an abundance of homoduplexes that possess hybridions that are fully matched (*i.e.*, no bulges). When electrophoresing a mixture of homoduplexes and heteroduplexes using the appropriate separation parameters, slight mobility shifts between these species are often observed. This method is often used for DNA species containing insertions and deletions, which typically yield more pronounced

[30]

mobility shifts due to significant bulges resulting from mismatched base pairs in duplexed DNA.

Tian *et al.* first brought attention to the potential of microchip HDA separations for differentiating six different heterozygous breast cancer associated mutations (185deIAG, E1250X (3867GT), R1443G (4446CG), 5382insC, 5677insA and 6174deIT) within BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes. This was one of the first reports of HDA separations in which the microchip CE method was directly compared to CGE formats [17]. The authors found a four- to six-fold reduction in analysis time for the microchip trials using the same buffer and sieving reagents as that used for CGE (1xTBE buffer with 15% urea, 2.5% and 4.5% HEC with 10% glycerol). The reduced analysis time was associated with the use of an effective separation distance for the microchip (5.5 cm) that was shorter than that used for the CGE format. However, this separation channel length was insufficient to provide the same level of resolution incurred with the capillary columns.

Another microchip-HDA study involving the detection of five BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations was conducted and directly compared to a denaturing (d)-HPLC method [18]. These authors found that while the glass microchip separations could not approach the remarkable selectivity provided by (d)-HPLC, the microchip method could provide more information on different mutations within the same amplicons. Moreover, the authors emphasized the microchip's operational advantages including simplicity of the separation protocol, versatility and lack of sample preparation constraints.

Due to the similarities in the electrophoretic conditions used for HDA and SSCP, separations of various DNA species can be performed using both HDA and SSCP simultaneously. The complementarity of the two is often advantageous in circumstances

[31]

when the selectivity of one is inadequate to score the presence of the full panel of potential mutations. Therefore, most adaptations of these techniques on microfluidics have been performed in a tandem format. The first microchip-based HDA-SSCP report of this type was given by Vahedi et al., who described an integrated on-chip labeling of HFE and BRCA1 amplicons with fluorescent dyes prior to separation of the complementary species using a commercial polymer [19]. A similar integrated microchip-based HDA/SSCP approach by Manage et al. was reported with the exception of the on-chip labeling scheme as noted for the Vahedi et al. report [20]. The authors detailed the profiling of three specific HFE mutations having high clinical relevance (C282Y, H63D, and S65C) for hemochromatosis. The separation required a 4 min electrophoresis development time using microchip CE. An exhaustive study to elucidate the optimal parameters for glass microchip CE analyses using a combined HDA/SSCP method was conducted by Hestekin and co-authors [21]. They found that a combination of 8% w/v 600 kDa LPA and a dynamic wall-coating of poly(Nhydroxyethylacrylamide) as opposed to a wall coating using covalent methods provided the best performance for p53 conformer separations, which could be completed in less than 10 min of electrophoresis development time.

Diverging from the use of a combined HDA and SSCP approach, an integrated on-chip HDA/restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) methodology was demonstrated. Footz *et al.* demonstrated the discrimination of both heterozygous and homozygous mutations present in the HFE gene using microchip electrophoresis, which the HDA method alone was incapable of detecting [22].

To date, all HDA-related assays have been conducted on glass-based microchips. For clinically-based assays that require one-time or disposable use

devices, transitioning these mutation-scanning electrophoresis assays to polymer-based chips will be critical, since polymer devices can be produced at lower cost in higher scale production modes compared to glass chips.

2.2.3 TGGE and DGGE

TGGE and DGGE are two analogous techniques used to discriminate heteroduplexes containing mismatched base pairs from fully matched homoduplexes by continuously altering the temperature or chemical denaturant conditions in a gradient format during the migration of solutes through the separation channel, which affects the degree of dsDNA conformational stability throughout the separation process and as such, perturbs electrophoretic mobility. Here, denaturing of the dsDNA is induced either by heating (temperature, TGGE) or imposing linear increases in chemical denaturing agents within the sieving gel (denaturing, DGGE) to affect the separation. While it has been difficult to translate DGGE from the slab gel to micro-separation formats due to the inability to introduce heterogeneous denaturing conditions into the gels for the micro-separations, TGGE has proven to be more amenable to these separation platforms, especially microchip CE, because of the ability to fabricate heating elements along the length of the entire separation column.

Buch *et al.* used a 10 channel polycarbonate (PC) microfluidic device out-fitted with external bulk heaters or internally tapered micro-heaters to induce spatial and temporal temperature gradients along the length of the separation channels for gelbased sorting of G-C rich dsDNA fragments generated from a primary PCR. Comparing the two heating configurations, they found that the integrated micro-heaters provided better thermal response time and more accurate control, producing better TGGE separations [24]. This same group later introduced a mutation scanning network consisting of an integrated two-dimensional micro-electrophoretic platform, which combined a standard size-based gel electrophoresis separation in the first dimension with TGGE in the second dimension [23]. This device, which is shown in Figure 2.1,



Figure 2.1. Illustration of the temporal temperature control setup used for microchip TGGE. The microchip in this case was made from polycarbonate (PC). Reprinted with permission from [23].

was made from PC with external bulk heaters used to establish the temperature gradient along the TGGE channels. An intermediate sample stacking strategy was implemented as well to reduce band broadening during sample transfer between the dimensions. The 2-D separations of multiplexed SNPs varying in size and sequence were conducted in a development time of less than 5 min with the prerequisite resolution to observe all of the SNPs [23].

2.3 Genotyping: Mutation Detection Applications

Unlike the mutation scanning techniques previously discussed, mutation detection methods are geared toward the identification and detection of particular genomic variations in which the locus is known within a certain gene. Most assays associated with this class of mutations involve the use of nucleotide recognition enzymes including endonucleases, exonucleases, and thermostable ligases, which specifically cleave or bond DNA sites that harbor the mutation being interrogated. Several of the mutation detection assays that have been utilized for the identification/detection of point mutations or SNPs include allele-specific PCR (AS-PCR), restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), ligase detection reaction (LDR), ligase chain reaction (LCR) and single base extension assays (SBE), all of which depend on a high resolution electrophoretic step to sort the generated products in order to score the presence or absence of the mutation of interest. Most of these types of assays require DNA primers that hybridize to particular locations within the genome, which harbor the mutation being interrogated, prior to the enzymatic reaction and as such, require knowledge as to the specific location of the mutation in order to design the appropriate sequences in the primers.

2.3.1 Allele-Specific Polymerase Chain Reaction (AS-PCR)

While PCR is an attractive method to amplify target DNA sequences of interest prior to secondary treatments such as electrophoretic analyses, the successful generation of PCR amplicons can be directly interrogated for scoring the presence of SNPs based on the use of sequence-specific primers for the PCR that are generated for the locus or loci being interrogated. For example, if the PCR primers possess a mismatch with the target DNA, the amount of PCR product can be significantly reduced or even eliminated by proper selection of the annealing temperature used in the 3-step thermal cycling process associated with PCR compared to fully matched primer/template duplexes. Therefore, the electrophoretic sorting of PCR amplicons can be used to detect the mutation of interest by preceding the electrophoresis with a PCR step. Challenges in AS-PCR include the need for tight control on the design of primers and understanding their annealing temperatures (T_m), the inability to highly multiplex the assay and the difficulty in securing quantitative information due to the non-quantitative nature of most PCR-dependent assays.

Huang *et al.* selected to separate gastric cancer-related SNPs using a microchip CE system to complement a simple-tube genotyping method, which combined a whole blood PCR with a tetra-PCR in which the PCR was conducted directly from 1 μ L of unpurified whole blood or paper-dried blood [25]. Three typical genotypes of the two SNPs probed (IL-1B-31 and IL-1B-511) within the IL-1B gene were obtained in a 2 min analysis time using a commercial microchip system with its appropriate gel matrix (Agilent system).

Sung *et al.* demonstrated the use of PMMA microchips to perform fast exclusion tests via PCR product profiling of fragile X syndrome (FXS) alleles based on their repeating unit size, (CGG)_n, within the familial MR type 1 (FMR1) gene [26]. Using wire imprinted or hot embossed PMMA microchips filled with 1.3% or 1.8% hydroxyl propylmethyl cellulose (HPMC) containing an intercalating dye (TOPRO-3) to enhance detectability, they found that PCR bands with more than six unit repeat differences could be resolved in less than 3 min using a 6 cm electrophoretic separation length.

Low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-receptor gene microsatellite alleles of the D19S394 tetranucleotide repeat associated with familial hypercholesterolemia were sized using an Agilent 2100 microchip system [27]; 17 alleles were easily distinguished using microchip CE, which varied from 0 – 17 repeats. Likewise, the same instrumentation was used by Sohni *et al.* to perform routine separations for a host of PCR-amplified variable number of tandem repeats (VNTRs) markers indicative of diabetic and cardiovascular complications stemming from irregularities in several genes [28]. A 12-lane microchip was used to detect spermatogenetic failure in a multiplexed format following an offline multiplexed PCR of three DNA sequence-tagged sites of interest on the Y chromosome [29]. With all of the required components resolved using a 1.5 cm effective separation channel, 36 samples could be processed within 180 s.

A PCR study of p16 tumor suppressor gene inactivation via hypermethylation was also evaluated on a microchip using AS-PCR. Comparing the ability of slab gel and an injection molded PMMA microchip to resolve methylation-specific PCR amplicons from 153 DNA plasma and tissue specimens including positive and negative controls, Zhou *et al.* found that the microchip separations yielded a 26.6% higher positive rate while maintaining specificity equal to that of slab gel electrophoresis [30].

While fluorescence detection schemes are primarily used for DNA genotyping analyses due to its high sensitivity and low limits-of-detection as well as the ease of labeling fragments using fluorescently-tagged primers required for the PCR step, an onchip electrochemical detection strategy has also been introduced that was capable of detecting PCR amplicons [31]. By modifying a screen-printed carbon electrode, which effectively lowered the detection potential and reduced electrode fouling, unlabeled human heat shock factor (HSF1) gene amplicons were electrophoresed in a sieving matrix comprised of HEC at an optimal field strength of 200 V/cm and were detected with the screen-printed carbon electrodes. Some representative results from this study are shown in Figure 2.2. The assay possessed a detection limit of 584.3 fg/ μ L (±1.3 fg/ μ L).



Figure 2.2. Electropherograms for the separation and detection of DNA fragments present in the BIONEER 1 kbp DNA standard marker (concentration = 130 ng/mL). The detector consisted of a modified screen-printed carbon electrode (A). The surfaces of the carbon electrodes were modified with poly-5,2'-5',2"-terthiophene-3'-carboxylic acid, which improved the analysis performance by lowering the detection potential. Electrophoretic results with electrochemical detection of 30-cycle PCR products at a bare (B), and modified (C) screen-printed carbon electrode. The standard marker consisted of 500, 1000, 1610, 2000, 2961, 4025, 5007, 5991, 8029, and 10 200 bp fragments. The detection potential used was 10.8 V (*vs.* Ag|AgCl reference electrode). Reprinted with permission from [31].

Besides routine testing for endogenous genetic conditions of individuals for clinical diagnostic/prognostic applications, PCR-based approaches for the detection of deleterious bacterial and viral infections affecting humans have also been subjected to electrophoretic analysis using microchip CE. For example, Kaigala *et al.* developed a hybrid microfluidic system for the production, detection and quantification of PCR products from the BK virus (BKV), a renal dysfunction highly associated with

transplanted kidney rejection [32]. Integrating PCR and separation processes onto PDMS-glass hybrid microdevices, they were able to detect as few as 1 – 2 viral copies as well as gauge the overall viral loads of clinical samples from renal transplant patients.

Chen *et al.* utilized wire-imprinted PMMA microchips to screen for hepatitis C present in blood serum of symptomatic patients and reported the completion of separations one order of magnitude faster than CGE [33]. In another study, fabricated PMMA microchips were also used to probe for SARS and hepatitis B virus (HBV) samples of known infected patients [34]. The device, containing trapezoidal imprinted channels transferred from a silicon master, reportedly yielded detection rates of 94.4% (17/18) and 80.6% (29/36) for multiplexed PCR SARS and HBV samples, respectively.

Karasawa *et al.* performed microchip CE separations to detect cariogenic (tooth decaying) bacteria in dental plaque [35]. In this case, AS-PCR was performed to amplify *S. mutans* and *S. sobrinus*, both known to promote tooth decay when they coexist in plaque. Comparing several mixtures of polyethylene oxide (PEO) and HPMC, they found 0.125% HPMC/0.6% PEO to provide the optimal mesh for the given amplicon sizes (202 and 226 bp, respectively). The separation of the two species was carried out in ~ 85 s on commercial Hitachi injection molded PMMA microchips.

2.3.2 PCR/Ligase Detection Reaction and Ligase Chain Reaction (LDR and LCR)

LDR is a mutation detection assay that involves the use of two complementary primers designed to flank a polymorphic site within the target DNA. One primer is called the discriminating primer and contains the polymorphic site on its 3' end with the allelic content either matching or not matching the polymorphism on the target DNA. The other primer, called the common primer, is phosphorylated at its 5' end. Upon hybridization of these primers to the target DNA, a highly specific thermostable ligase seals them only if there is a complete match between bases on the 3' end of the discriminating primer and the polymorphic locus on the target DNA. If successful ligation does occur, it generates an elongated and fluorescently labeled oligonucleotide that can be distinguished from excess labeled unligated primers through differences in their sizes using electrophoretic sorting [36]. This assay is attractive because it decouples the PCR from the mutation detection reaction, which provides high specificity, it is amenable to multiplexing and it also performs exceptionally well in the presence of high levels of wild-type targets. The challenge associated with this technique rests not on the reaction itself, but with the ability to adequately resolve, via electrophoresis, several short single-base differentiated oligonucleotides (<100 bp) from the labeled and unligated primers that can potentially mask the positive signals indicative of the mutations due to their much higher concentration when the copy number of the mutated DNA is low compared to the wild-type sequences. Therefore, highly viscous polymers (8-10% polyacrylamide) are typically required to provide baseline resolution of all components generated from the LDR assay.

Thomas *et al.* demonstrated the ability to use a hot-embossed PMMA microchip filled with a 4% LPA or other commercial polymers for the analysis of a 12.2 *K-ras* LDR product (44 bp), indicative of a mutation that could be associated with the onset of colorectal cancer [37]. The results secured from the microchip CE result were compared to those using a conventional CGE format using a 4% LPA gel. CGE analysis of the LDR samples was incapable of providing reliable results due to electrokinetic injection biases; the higher concentration of the LDR primers as well as their higher mobility prohibited sufficient injection of the generated LDR products,

[40]

especially when the wild-type DNA was >100 fold higher in copy number compared to the mutant DNA. The microchip CE format performed much better under these conditions due to the absence of electrokinetic injection biases when adopting a cross-T injection format. The microchip CE separations of LDR products possessing a 100-fold molar excess of wild-type targets clearly showed the presence of the low copy number mutant alleles (well-resolved from the intense primer peaks) and required a development time of ~120 s in a separation channel length of only 3.5 cm [37]. In addition, the authors demonstrated that desalting prior to electrophoretic separation using microchip CE was not necessary as it was in the case for CGE.

The LDR assay, which is carried out with temperature cycling (denaturing and annealing) to linearly amplify the number of generated products, is often times coupled to a primary PCR in which the PCR is used to amplify the gene of interest, which can contain severe loci harboring the mutations of interest. PCR and LDR have been successfully integrated onto a polymeric microfluidic device, that can be used to generate products for subsequent interrogation using microchip CE [38]. The reaction time of the coupled PCR/LDR was reduced to 6.5 min as opposed to 1.5 h required for conventional benchtop thermal cycling instrumentation.

LCR is also a SNP detection method, which is based on the ligation of two pairs of oligonucleotide primers that hybridize to adjacent positions on complementary strands of a target dsDNA. Similar to PCR, LCR exponentially amplifies target sequences, however, LCR differs from PCR because it amplifies only the generated probe molecule (ligated primers). Moreover, LCR has been found to be more specific than PCR in some cases, which is prone to amplifying false positives occurring in early cycling events [39, 40]. The products of this application have also been detected and quantified following electrophoresis on a microfluidic device. In a study highlighting the effect of polymers to dynamically passivate silicon-glass microchips, Lou *et al.* demonstrated the ability to resolve LCR products of NOD2/CARD15 genes related to inflammatory bowel disease using microchip CE [41].

2.3.3 Single Base Extension (SBE)

SBE, also known as minisequencing, has emerged as an effective mutation detection technique to determine the allelic composition at a particular locus; it is considered attractive due to its simplicity as only a few major components including a primer, polymerase and a nucleoside triphosphate substrate are required to conduct the assay [42]. Moreover, the total development time of reactions is considerably short compared to most typing methods in terms of those requiring thermal cycling [43]. SBE reactions entail annealing a primer one base removed from the locus containing the SNP to a particular DNA template. Following hybridization, fluorescently-labeled dideoxynucleotides are added to the reaction and the appropriate dideoxynucleotide is added based on the allelic composition of the locus being interrogated. The reaction is similar to conventional Sanger sequencing reactions except that deoxynucleotides are not included in the reaction cocktail and as such only a single base is added to the primer [44]. This method has been adapted to various microchip CE systems and the associated four-color multiplexing detection hardware associated with many CGE sequencing and genotyping equipment, which allows for spectral identification of the incorporated dideoxynucleotide. Although SBE in conjunction with conventional CGE has been extensively used and reported for multiplexed SNP genotyping, few reports discussing SBE/microchip CE combinations have surfaced, most likely due to the

[42]

stringent separation performance demanded for SBE (single base resolution of short, ~15-20 bp, DNAs).

Vreeland *et al.* illustrated the novel pairing of SBE with end-labeled free solution electrophoresis (ELFSE) for genotyping three p53 loci using a commercial CGE system and discussed the potential of transitioning this strategy to microfluidic platforms [45]. Recently, the Barron group demonstrated the microchip-based separation of multiplexed reactions to probe 16 p53 loci with 96% accuracy using ELFSE and microchip CE. With only a denaturing buffer containing a EOF suppressant as an electrophoretic medium, extension units harboring 16 unique, monodispersed, uncharged polyamide drag-tags facilitated the size dependent separation of species within 70 s using a commercial glass microchip [43].

Herbert *et al.* reported on an electrochemical approach for detecting mock SNP sites using SBE on a miniaturized platform. The microchip CE device was composed of a PDMS chip aligned and sealed with a cover slip containing working and reference electrodes positioned near the channel outlet. Sinusoidal voltammetry was used to distinguish electrochemically active extension products from unincorporated excess terminators following electrophoresis through agarose in less than 4 min [46].

2.3.4 Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (RFLP)

RFLP relies on the use of various endonucleases, commonly referred to as restriction enzymes, that cleave recognition sequences usually 4 - 8 bp in length within dsDNAs. Upon treatment, DNA fragments having unique sizes corresponding to the distance between the restriction sites cut by the restriction enzymes are generated, and secondary treatments of the cleaved fragments with other restriction enzymes can provide further specific fragmentation patterns that can be subsequently subjected to

[43]



Figure 2.3 (a) Reconstructed plot of time versus pixel number of the CCD, which was monitoring restriction fragments generated across the multi-channel microchip. The shaded bar represents fluorescence intensity collected by the CCD. The sampling capillary moved from right to left depositing samples into the chip, so the lane farthest to the right is designated as lane 1. (b) Schematic of the chip setup with capillary sample introduction. Laser-induced fluorescence detection was achieved by focusing an argon ion laser into a line across the chip 5.5-6.5 cm from the injection point. A liquid nitrogen-cooled CCD was used to analyze the collected fluorescence photons. Adapted and reprinted with permission from [47].

electrophoretic sorting. If a mutation or SNP exists at a particular restriction site, it can change the restriction patterned generated, which can be deciphered using gel electrophoretic sorting. The limitation associated with this mutation detection strategy is that the mutation loci must be contained within a restriction site.

A high-throughput microfluidic design has been developed for the continuous assessment of restriction enzyme kinetics, which have been traditionally conducted using labor-intensive processing of millisecond-interval quenched enzymatic reactions and subsequently subjected to slab gel electrophoresis. The device for this application, as seen in Figure 2.3, used a capillary sampling device to dispense aliquots (1 injection/14 s) from a reaction mixture to a multi-channel (5 channels) glass chip with the collected fragments separated in the chip using an LPA sieving matrix and detected via laser-induced fluorescence with a CCD camera [47]. A 62 bp dsDNA containing a *Kpn*I restriction site was used for system evaluation and the effects of temperature and restriction enzyme concentration were also examined. The unique aspect of this setup was that the sampling device (a capillary) was not fixed to the separation platform (the microchip), and continuous intermittent injections could be processed in the pipeline without the need for completion of preceding separations, thus increasing throughput.

The ability of microchip electrophoresis to assess restriction digests of samples containing low percentages of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) mutations in blood samples from diabetic patients was investigated by Guttman *et al.* The assay included the generation of 250 and 251 bp products of a PCR-RFLP treatment designed to include a known *Apa*l site responsible for the mutation followed by the electrophoretic sorting of these products. In glass microchannels filled with a 2% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide, they were able to routinely discriminate 1 - 2% of A324G mtDNA point

mutations in mixtures containing 98 – 99% wild-type levels in less than 12 min [48]. In a related report, the same author introduced a high-throughput 96-lane format combining microfibrous membrane-mediated DNA digestion with subsequent microchip electrophoresis processing. An automated spotter was used to deliver submicroliter quantities of target DNA and digestion enzymes from 96 well plates onto a membrane, which served as both a reaction vessel as well as the microchip sample preconcentration/loading inlet. Results indicated that the digestions were completed within 1 – 10 min and subsequent separations in the agarose-filled channels (4 cm effective length) were completed in 5 – 10 min (20 min total analysis time) [49]. Recently, an on-chip treatment of mtDNA employing restriction enzymes was used by Taylor et al. to differentiate homogeneous and heterogeneous populations of mtDNAs. The procedure was carried out on a straight channel 8.0 cm commercial glass chip (Micralyne) and included excising a mtDNA sequence from plasmid DNA via enzymatic digestion with EcoRI to linearize the plasmid loops into dsDNA and denaturing/renaturing to form duplexes of the digested DNA all taking place in a single sample well. The generated products were labeled with an intercalating dye (sytox orange) that was present in the separation matrix (Genescan polymer containing 10% glycerol) during electrophoretic separation (7.6 cm effective separation channel length). According to the authors, the method could be performed in about 45 min, whereas conventional methods would require days to perform this same type of assay [50].

2.4 DNA Forensics

The identification of humans based on DNA profiling has become a powerful tool in the field of forensics. Usually, this profiling is achieved by the analysis of highly polymorphic variations presented in the form of short tandem repeats (STRs), which consist of specific 2-7 base repeating patterns (e.g. $(CAGT)_n$) found in the genome. Primarily, STRs are distributed throughout non-coding regions of the genome known as junk DNA with the number of repeating units typically very specific for a particular individual, especially when occurring at several different loci.

Forensic DNA specimens are commonly matched to alleged criminal suspects in modern law enforcement using human identification systems validated according to the DNA Advisory Board's (DAB) Quality Assurance Standards. These DNA testing systems typically involve the amplification of highly polymorphic STRs by PCR. AmpF/STR® Profiler Plus and COfiler®, Powerplex®, Powerplex-Y, and Y-PLEX[™] 12 are examples of commonly used multiplex systems for genotyping polymorphic STRs residing in the human nuclear (nDNA) and male Y-chromosomal DNA. These analyses are routinely performed using CGE and the genotyping capability of the ABI 3130 automated DNA Sequencer/Genotyper instrument within forensic laboratories. However, prior to gel sorting, the DNA sample must be extracted from the specimen, typically using precipitation-type techniques, purified and then, PCR amplified.

The resulting genetic "fingerprints" are then compared to profiles within the CODIS (combined DNA Index System) databank to identify a match. The advantage of these types of analyses lies within the very large number of STR alleles that provide a very high power of statistical discrimination. When DNA evidence is limited, analysis of human mtDNA targets is often employed because of the high copy number of mitochondria and mtDNA molecules in each cell [51].

Forensic DNA testing is also utilized to establish the paternity of children [52]. In investigative forensics, DNA fingerprinting is used to infer the geographic origin of unknown human DNA samples [53, 54], to identify potential microbial or viral pathogens

for bio-defense [55] or to identify species specific source(s) of unknown trace evidence [56] using PCR-based analysis of a variety of genetic systems including, STRs, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and mobile element insertion polymorphisms.

The key elements of successful STR-typing include both high-resolution electrophoresis and precise sizing of DNA samples with respect to internal standards used to identify various alleles within a given locus. The core advantages of microchip CE in terms of DNA forensics includes the ability to integrate sample pre-processing steps into a monolithic wafer and the ultra-fast separations afforded by microchip CE, which could play a vital role in compiling more extensive forensic databases and also, relieving the backlog of DNA typing cases. For example, the cost, speed and lack of simple and user friendly equipment available for forensic DNA tests have contributed to the current backlog of over 350,000 DNA evidence samples from criminal trials.

Work was described by Schmalzing *et al.* in 1997 using a glass chip possessing a single channel (45 µm deep and 100 µm wide) to separate single-locus and four-loci PCR-amplified STRs spiked with allelic standard ladders with a CE development time of only 30 s and 2 min, respectively, with a 4% LPA matrix under denaturing conditions over a 2.6 cm effective separation distance [57]. This work was later extended upon by using a dual wavelength LIF detection approach to increase the multiplexing capacity of the system to process an eight-loci STR simultaneously in a single separation channel [58]. A micro-variant allele present in the sample requiring single base resolution was resolved in 10 min using an 11.5 cm effective channel length appeared in this same report.

In a subsequent study, the degree of multiplexing was further enhanced using a four-color excitation/detection system capable of examining 15 loci simultaneously

within 20 min with single base resolution ranging from 0.75 to 1 [59]. This work lead to the development of an STR analysis instrument designed around a 16-lane glass microchip CE device. The chip layout, as seen in Figure 2.4A, included double T cross injectors for electrokinetic injections in each separation channel and 20 cm effective separation lengths that converged near the detection point to fall within the range of an optical scanner. Peak accuracies of 0.4-0.9 bp were reported using the CODIS 13locus multiplex established by the FBI [60].

More recently, plastic microchip CE devices have been assessed for their potential to accommodate high-resolution analysis of STR samples [61, 62]. In two related studies, polyolefin substrates having hot-embossed microchannels (4.5, 6.0, 10, and 18 cm long separation channels) filled with a replaceable 4% LPA matrix under denaturing conditions were used to electrophoretically sort common STR ladders. While the 4.5 cm channel was capable of providing single base resolution between micro-variants [61], higher quality performance was illustrated using the 10 and 18 cm length channels with a 3% LPA sieving matrix. However, it was noted that pressure tolerances associated with these devices dictated what sieving matrix concentrations could be used [62]. Exceeding these pressure tolerances by pumping high viscous gels through the plastic channel caused release of the cover plate from the chip substrate and subsequent device failure.

A high-throughput forensic study was demonstrated using a 96-lane microchip CE device and a 4-color radial scanning detection system. Profiled samples attained using conventional CGE were analyzed in parallel for comparison followed by the analysis of several (17) unexamined samples using the 96-lane microchip; microchip CE provided single-base resolution and runs were completed within 30 min [63]. The



Figure 2.4.(a) CAD drawing of the chip layout. The design contained 16 lanes with 16 double-T injectors on the right for electrokinetic sample injection. It has a section where all channels are close together for scanning (arrow), the overall distance at this point is 3.2 mm from injection to detection. (b) Complete assembly with anode on the lower left and the cathode board on the top right corner; there is a vial for sample inlet and sample waste for each lane. The effective length of each lane is 20 cm. (c) Computer screen image of 6-channels of electrophoresis results for the chip system shown in (a). The electropherograms are from 5 data samples and one allelic ladder. Reprinted with permission from [60].

STR typing was accomplished using the PowerPlex 16® and AmpFISTR® Profiler Plus® multiplexed PCR systems. Forty-eight previously analyzed single-source samples were accurately typed, as confirmed by an ABI Prism 310 and/or the Hitachi FMBIO II CGE instruments. Minor alleles in 3:1 mixture samples containing female and male DNA were reliably typed as well.

All of the aforementioned microchip-related forensic studies emphasized the use of STR specifically for human identification. However, in the field of anthropology the ability to differentiate human remains from those of animals by sampling hair and bone remnants for mtDNA is sufficient. A recent study has evaluated the usefulness of a microchip-processed PCR analysis using a commercial system and glass microchip for probing mtDNA of ancient sources [64]. Highly degraded human and non-human DNA samples were positively identified using a microchip CE separation by selectively amplifying target human-specific mtDNA genes (Cytochrome b and 16S ribosomal RNA).

2.5 DNA Sequencing

Sequencing remains the gold standard for the analysis of DNA in many applications such as genotyping or DNA forensics in spite of some of its current limitations, which mainly includes the labor intensive sample pre-processing, the slow development time and the high performance demands placed on the electrophoresis phase of sequencing. The quest to design microchip CE for demanding DNA sequencing applications as part of the HGP spawned the production of elaborate units featuring dispersion-limiting channel turn geometries to extend channels within a small footprint for increased DNA read lengths, offset injection crosses to increase sample

[51]

injection plug volumes to aid in detection and multi-lane formats for high throughput analyses.

The pioneering report for transitioning sequencing CGE separations to microfabricated CE chips was presented by Woolley *et al.* in 1995; the electrophoresis was conducted on a simple, straight-channel (50 μ m wide, 8 μ m deep) microchip channel etched into glass wafers filled with a polyacrylamide gel [65]. With an effective separation distance of 3.5 cm, four-color DNA sequencing traces of ~150 bp were performed with 97% base calling accuracy in only 540 s. Improvements upon this work followed refining subsequent platforms to improve both resolution and throughput. Ultimately, high density (96-lane) CE microchips with deeper (30 μ m) and longer (15.9 cm) effective separation lengths that were radially-configured into a common anode were developed, which increased the average read length to 430 bases [66]. While this particular microfluidic device was initially intended for sequencing, it has been utilized in some of the previously mentioned high throughput genotyping and forensic applications as well [63].

After a stringent parametric study of micro-electrophoretic sequencing separations in terms of channel lengths and sieving gel concentrations [67], work by Aborn *et al.* introduced an automated microchip CE sequencing system employing 384-channel microdevices with channel lengths varying from 37 - 45 cm situated on large glass plates (25 cm x 50 cm). The device was capable of providing 800 base read lengths and called 1.72×10^5 bases per 384-lane run with 99% accuracy [68].

Although sparingly reported, plastic-based microfluidics has also been employed for DNA sequencing. Boone *et al.* reported four-color sequencing reads of 640 bases with 98% accuracy using an acrylic microchip bearing an 18 cm embossed channel

[52]

within 30 min [69]. Using polyolefin microchips with much shorter channels (4.5 cm), Shi *et al.* demonstrated the ability to read a sequence to 320 bases with 99.1% accuracy within 13 min [61]. In both studies, replaceable LPA matrices were used for sieving.

Along with the miniaturized sequencing separation platforms, auxiliary components have been incorporated into the microchip CE system to aid in the separation and detection. For example, Ueberfeld *et al.* used a solid support sample loading technique to minimize the obstacles associated with the processing of low concentrations of DNA sequencing fragments typically encountered using microfluidic devices (see Table 2.1). By directly injecting Sanger DNA sequencing samples reversibly adsorbed onto paramagnetic microspheres and extraction from solution with a magnetized wire, they were able to achieve fluorescence signal intensities that were equal to that of standard offset T injectors having >10 times the initial DNA sample content [70].

Also of interest are efforts in microchip CE for potentially simplifying the DNA separation phase of the sequencing processing pipeline by developing alternative electrophoretic separation mechanisms that could potentially eliminate the necessity of using sieving materials such as polymer gels and their associated high viscosity constraints. Using the previously mentioned ELFSE technology [72], ~110 base sequencing read lengths have been reported using conventional capillary electrophoresis in ~18 min [73].

Researchers are now pushing towards the production of highly integrated sequencing units to perform sample preparation and cleanup prior to the electrophoretic separation to minimize the labor and time overhead associated with DNA sequencing.

[53]



Figure 2.5. (a) Photograph of the integrated microchip device, showing one of two nucleic acid processing systems. Colors indicate the location of sequencing reagent (green), capture gel (yellow), separation gel (red), and pneumatic channels (blue). (b) High-quality sequencing data generated using the integrated bioprocessor shown in (a). Sanger sequencing extension fragments were generated from a 750-bp pUC18 PCR amplicon. Automatic base calls were secured by the program PHRED and base numbers are indicated above the electropherogram. Scale bar is 5 mm in (a). Reprinted with permission from [71].
Recently, a fully integrated microchip bio-processing unit combining temperature cycling, sample purification and electrophoretic separation has been fabricated, which contained nanoliter-scale reaction chambers. Shown in Figure 2.5 is the system, which consisted of a glass-PDMS hybrid device capable of performing complete Sanger sequencing on 1 fmol of DNA template with read lengths of up to 556 bases and a calling accuracy of 99% [71].

2.6 Conclusions

Significant strides have been made toward demonstrating the potential of planar microchip devices as viable miniaturized electrophoretic platforms for the separation of DNAs for a variety of different and important applications. Over the past decade, pioneering proof-of-principle separations of both single-stranded and double-stranded DNAs as well as enzymatically produced DNA products on primarily glass substrates have produced highly promising separations that offer the advantages of shorter electrophoretic development times compared to their slab gel and capillary counterparts without significant sacrifices in terms of separation resolution. While progress in microchip CE separations of DNA samples have been reported, significant advances and improvements in this technology platform still must be made to allow its permeation into clinical laboratories for diagnostics and forensic laboratories for DNA typing. For example, the development of lab-on-a-chip systems that incorporate all of the sample pre-processing steps into the system incorporating an electrophoretic separation would provide fully automated analyses with little manual or operator intervention or expertise, minimize sample contamination and allow permeation of this promising technology platform into a broader user community.

[55]

Another area that must evolve is significant reductions in the cost of producing microfluidic chips for CE-based separations and even those chips that consist of multiple processing steps to allow full automation of the DNA processing pipeline. This will be particularly important in forensic and diagnostic applications, where disposable fluidic components are demanded. Replication technologies of plastic microfluidic devices can provide an array of ideal fabrication techniques for producing low-cost electrophoretic and other DNA processing chips. Transitioning glass and fused silicabased techniques to polymeric materials will facilitate the evolution of disposable microfluidic cartridges for such applications.

2.7 References

[1] Venter, J. C., Adams, M. D., Myers, E. W., Li, P. W., Mural, R. J., Sutton, G. G., Smith, H. O., Yandell, M., Evans, C. A., Holt, R. A., Gocayne, J. D., Amanatides, P., Ballew, R. M., Huson, D. H., Wortman, J. R., et. al, *Science* 2001, *291*, 1304-+.

[2] Lander, E. S., Linton, L. M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M. C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., Funke, R., Gage, D., Harris, K., Heaford, A., Howland, J., Kann, L., Lehoczky, J., LeVine, R., et. al, *Nature* 2001, *409*, 860-921.

[3] Evstrapov, A. A., Bulyanitsa, A. L., Kurochkin, V. E., Petryakov, A. O., Rudnitskaya, G. E., Sal'nikova, T. A., Alekseev, Y. I., *Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 2004, *59*, 521-527.

[4] Shadpour, H., Musyimi, H., Chen, J. F., Soper, S. A., *Journal of Chromatography A* 2006, *1111*, 238-251.

[5] Kan, C. W., Fredlake, C. P., Doherty, E. A. S., Barron, A. E., *Electrophoresis* 2004, *25*, 3564-3588.

[6] Li, S. F. Y., Kricka, L. J., *Clinical Chemistry* 2006, *52*, 37-45.

[7] Ugaz, V. M., Elms, R. D., Lo, R. C., Shaikh, F. A., Burns, M. A., *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series a-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences* 2004, *362*, 1105-1129.

[8] Obeid, P. J., Christopoulos, T. K., *Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences* 2004, *41*, 429-465.

[9] Verpoorte, E., *Electrophoresis* 2002, 23, 677-712.

[10] Zhang, C. S., Xu, J. L., Ma, W. L., Zheng, W. L., *Biotechnology Advances* 2006, *24*, 243-284.

[11] Ferrari, M., Cremonesi, L., Bonini, P., Stenirri, S., Foglieni, B., *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics* 2005, *5*, 183-192.

[12] Tian, H. J., Jaquins-Gerstl, A., Munro, N., Trucco, M., Brody, L. C., Landers, J. P., *Genomics* 2000, *63*, 25-34.

[13] Endo, Y., Zhang, L., Katashima, R., Itakura, M., Doherty, E. A. S., Barron, A. E., Baba, Y., *Electrophoresis* 2005, *26*, 3380-3386.

[14] Kang, S. H., Jang, S., Park, S. K., *Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society* 2006, *27*, 1346-1352.

[15] Tian, H. J., Emrich, C. A., Scherer, J. R., Mathies, R. A., Andersen, P. S., Larsen, L. A., Christiansen, M., *Electrophoresis* 2005, *26*, 1834-1842.

[16] Tian, H. J., Brody, L. C., Landers, J. P., *Genome Research* 2000, *10*, 1403-1413.

[17] Footz, T., Somerville, M. J., Tomaszewski, R., Sprysak, K. A., Backhouse, C. J., *Genetic Testing* 2003, *7*, 283-293.

[18] Vahedi, G., Kaler, C., Backhouse, C. J., *Electrophoresis* 2004, 25, 2346-2356.

[19] Manage, D. P., Zheng, Y., Somerville, M. J., Backhouse, C. J., *Microfluidics and Nanofluidics* 2005, *1*, 364-372.

[20] Hestekin, C. N., Jakupciak, J. P., Chiesl, T. N., Kan, C. W., O'Connell, C. D., Barron, A. E., *Electrophoresis* 2006, *27*, 3823-3835.

[21] Footz, T., Somerville, M. J., Tomaszewski, R., Elyas, B., Backhouse, C. J., *Analyst* 2004, *129*, 25-31.

[22] Buch, J. S., Kimball, C., Rosenberger, F., Highsmith, W. E., DeVoe, D. L., Lee, C. S., *Analytical Chemistry* 2004, *76*, 874-881.

[23] Buch, J. S., Rosenberger, F., Highsmith, W. E., Kimball, C., DeVoe, D. L., Lee, C. S., *Lab on a Chip* 2005, *5*, 392-400.

[24] Huang, H., Bu, Y., Zhou, G. H., World Journal of Gastroenterology 2006, 12, 3814-3820.

[25] Sung, W. C., Lee, G. B., Tzeng, C. C., Chen, S. H., *Electrophoresis* 2001, 22, 1188-1193.

[26] Cantafora, A., Blotta, I., Bruzzese, N., Calandra, S., Bertolini, S., *Electrophoresis* 2001, 22, 4012-4015.

[27] Sohni, Y. R., Burke, J. P., Dyck, P. J., O'Kane, D. J., *Clinical Biochemistry* 2003, 36, 35-40.

[28] Jabasini, M., Ewis, A. A., Fouad, M., Dang, F., Ping, G., Shinka, T., Nakahori, Y., Kaji, N., Tokeshi, M., Baba, Y., *Biological & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 2006, *29*, 1487-1489.

[29] Zhou, X. M., Shao, S. J., Xu, G. D., Zhong, R. T., Liu, D. Y., Tang, J. W., Gao, Y. N., Cheng, S. J., Lin, B. C., *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2005, *816*, 145-151.

[30] Shiddiky, M. J. A., Park, D. S., Shim, Y. B., *Electrophoresis* 2005, 26, 4656-4663.

[31] Kaigala, G. V., Huskins, R. J., Preiksaitis, J., Pang, X. L., Pilarski, L. M., Backhouse, C. J., *Electrophoresis* 2006, *27*, 3753-3763.

[32] Chen, Y. H., Wang, W. C., Young, K. C., Chang, T. T., Chen, S. H., *Clinical Chemistry* 1999, *45*, 1938-1943.

[33] Liu, D. Y., Zhou, X. M., Zhong, R. T., Ye, N. N., Chang, G. H., Xiong, W., Mei, X. D., Lin, B. C., *Talanta* 2006, *68*, 616-622.

[34] Karasawa, K., Arakawa, H., Igarashi, T., Goto, N., Maeda, M., *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2004, *810*, 41-47.

[35] Barany, F., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1991, *88*, 189-193.

[36] Thomas, G., Sinville, R., Sutton, S., Farquar, H., Hammer, R. P., Soper, S. A., Cheng, Y. W., Barany, F., *Electrophoresis* 2004, *25*, 1668-1677.

[37] Hashimoto, M., Hupert, M. L., Murphy, M. C., Soper, S. A., Cheng, Y. W., Barany, F., *Analytical Chemistry* 2005, *77*, 3243-3255.

[38] Wiedmann, M., Wilson, W. J., Czajka, J., Luo, J. Y., Barany, F., Batt, C. A., *Pcr-Methods and Applications* 1994, *3*, S51-S64.

[39] Watson, E. J., Templeton, A., Russell, I., Paavonen, J., Mardh, P. A., Stary, A., Pederson, B. S., *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 2002, *51*, 1021-1031.

[40] Lou, X. J., Panaro, N. J., Wilding, P., Fortina, P., Kricka, L. J., *Biotechniques* 2004, *37*, 392-+.

[41] Di Giusto, D., King, G. C., Nucleic Acids Research 2003, 31.

[42] Meagher, R. J., Coyne, J. A., Hestekin, C. N., Chiesl, T. N., Haynes, R. D., Won, J. I., Barron, A. E., *Analytical Chemistry* 2007, *79*, 1848-1854.

[43] Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., Coulson, A. R., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1977, *74*, 5463-5467.

[44] Vreeland, W. N., Meagher, R. J., Barron, A. E., *Analytical Chemistry* 2002, *74*, 4328-4333.

[45] Hebert, N. E., Brazill, S. A., Lab on a Chip 2003, 3, 241-247.

[46] Roddy, E. S., Price, M., Ewing, A. G., Analytical Chemistry 2003, 75, 3704-3711.

[47] Guttman, A., Gao, H. G., Haas, R., *Clinical Chemistry* 2001, 47, 1469-1472.

[48] Guttman, A., Ronai, Z., Barta, C., Hou, Y. M., Sasvari-Szekely, M., Wang, X., Briggs, S. P., *Electrophoresis* 2002, 23, 1524-1530.

[49] Taylor, P., Manage, D. P., Helmle, K. E., Zheng, Y., Glerum, D. M., Backhouse, C. J., *Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences* 2005, *822*, 78-84.

[50] Bogenhagen, D., Clayton, D. A., *J Biol Chem* 1974, *249*, 7991-7995.

[51] Sanchez, J. J., Phillips, C., Borsting, C., Balough, K., Bogus, M., Fondevila, M., Harrison, C. D., Musgrave-Brown, E., Salas, A., Syndercombe-Court, D., Schneider, P. M., Carracedo, A., Morling, N., *Electrophoresis* 2006, *27*, 1713-1724.

[52] Frudakis, T., Venkateswarlu, K., Thomas, M. J., Gaskin, Z., Ginjupalli, S., Gunturi, S., Ponnuswamy, V., Natarajan, S., Nachimuthu, P. K., *J Forensic Sci* 2003, *48*, 771-782.

[53] Ray, D. A., Walker, J. A., Hall, A., Llewellyn, B., Ballantyne, J., Christian, A. T., Turtletaub, K., Batzer, M. A., *Forensic Science International* 2005, *153*, 117-124.

[54] Schutzer, S. E., Budowle, B., Atlas, R. M., *PLoS Med* 2005, 2, e337.

[55] Walker, J. A., Kilroy, G. E., Xing, J., Shewale, J. G., Sinha, S. K., Batzer, M. A., *Analytical Biochemistry* 2003b, *315*.

[56] Schmalzing, D., Koutny, L., Adourian, A., Belgrader, P., Matsudaira, P., Ehrlich, D., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1997, *94*, 10273-10278.

[57] Schmalzing, D., Koutny, L., Chisholm, D., Adourian, A., Matsudaira, P., Ehrlich, D., *Analytical Biochemistry* 1999, *270*, 148-152.

[58] Mitnik, L., Carey, L., Burger, R., Desmarais, S., Koutny, L., Wernet, O., Matsudaira, P., Ehrlich, D., *Electrophoresis* 2002, *23*, 719-726.

[59] Goedecke, N., McKenna, B., El-Difrawy, S., Carey, L., Matsudaira, P., Ehrlich, D., *Electrophoresis* 2004, *25*, 1678-1686.

[60] Shi, Y. N., Anderson, R. C., *Electrophoresis* 2003, 24, 3371-3377.

[61] Shi, Y. N., *Electrophoresis* 2006, 27, 3703-3711.

[62] Yeung, S. H. I., Greenspoon, S. A., McGuckian, A., Crouse, C. A., Emrich, C. A., Ban, J., Mathies, R. A., *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 2006, *51*, 740-747.

[63] Alonso, A., Albarran, C., Martin, P., Garcia, P., Capilla, J., Garcia, O., de la Rua, C., Izaguirre, N., Pereira, F., Pereira, L., Amorim, A., Sancho, M., *Electrophoresis* 2006, *27*, 5101-5109.

[64] Woolley, A. T., Mathies, R. A., Analytical Chemistry 1995, 67, 3676-3680.

[65] Paegel, B. M., Emrich, C. A., Weyemayer, G. J., Scherer, J. R., Mathies, R. A., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2002, *99*, 574-579.

[66] Salas-Solano, O., Schmalzing, D., Koutny, L., Buonocore, S., Adourian, A., Matsudaira, P., Ehrlich, D., *Analytical Chemistry* 2000, *7*2, 3129-3137.

[67] Aborn, J. H., El-Difrawy, S. A., Novotny, M., Gismondi, E. A., Lam, R., Matsudaira, P., McKenna, B. K., O'Neil, T., Streechon, P., Ehrlich, D. J., *Lab on a Chip* 2005, *5*, 669-674.

[68] Boone, T., Fan, Z. H., Hooper, H., Ricco, A., Tan, H. D., Williams, S., *Analytical Chemistry* 2002, *74*, 78A-86A.

[69] Ueberfeld, J., El-Difrawy, S. A., Ramdhanie, K., Ehrlich, D. J., *Analytical Chemistry* 2006, 78, 3632-3637.

[70] Meagher, R. J., Won, J. I., McCormick, L. C., Nedelcu, S., Bertrand, M. M., Bertram, J. L., Drouin, G., Barron, A. E., Slater, G. W., *Electrophoresis* 2005, *26*, 331-350.

[71] Ren, H., Karger, A. E., Oaks, F., Menchen, S., Slater, G. W., Drouin, G., *Electrophoresis* 1999, *20*, 2501-2509.

[72] Blazej, R. G., Kumaresan, P., Mathies, R. A., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2006, *103*, 7240-7245.

[73] Zhou, H. H., Miller, A. W., Sosic, Z., Buchholz, B., Barron, A. E., Kotler, L., Karger, B. L., *Analytical Chemistry* 2000, *7*2, 1045-1052.

[74] Applied Biosystems: http://docs.appliedbiosystems.com/pebiodocs/00113197.pdf

Chapter 3: Capillary and Micro-Electrophoretic Separations of Ligase Detection Reaction Products Produced from Low Abundant Point Mutations in Genomic DNA

3.1 Introduction

Electrophoresis can be utilized in screening assays for the diagnosis of presymptomatic disease states, such as the early detection of cancers, which can arise from the accumulation of mutations in certain gene fragments that may be inherited or somatic, caused either from exposure to environmental factors or from malfunctions in DNA replication or repair machinery. These mutations can then be used as markers in a variety of different electrophoresis formats, such as heteroduplex analysis, single strand conformational polymorphism analysis, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis or DNA sequencing.

One example where electrophoresis can potentially provide diagnostic information is the early detection of colorectal cancers using the identification of point mutations in the human K-*ras* oncogene, which manifest themselves primarily as single base-substitutions located at two bases in codon 12, two bases in codon 13 and three in codon 61. These particular mutations occur in 35 – 50% of all colorectal adenomas and can manifest themselves early in the development of colorectal neoplasms [1-4]. Once acquired, these mutations are preserved throughout disease development and thus, have great utility for diagnostic testing.

Unfortunately, the detection of these mutations is complicated by the fact that often their presence is masked by significant amounts of wild-type sequences even at the primary tumor site, which can contain a majority of wild-type stroma. The frequency of the mutated allele at the primary tumor site can be as little as 15% for heterozygous samples and this number goes down precipitously if the sampling is done away from this site. Therefore, improvements in early detection and treatment of cancer patients depends intimately on rapid and accurate high throughput methodologies capable of identifying low abundant mutations with high selectivity.

K-*ras* mutations may be detected by direct DNA sequencing, allele specific oligonucleotide hybridization or restriction digestion techniques [5-8]. Others have used high sensitivity techniques such as phage cloning, allele-specific PCR or repetitive restriction digestion to detect K-*ras* mutations in stool or lymph nodes of cancer patients as indicators of micrometastases [9-15]. Unfortunately, these techniques have intrinsic limitations, such as low sensitivity (DNA sequencing) or the inability to detect the full spectrum of K-*ras* mutations (restriction digestion or allele-specific PCR). Furthermore, allele-specific amplification techniques are prone to false positives generated from minute contamination or from the introduction of point mutations by polymerase errors during extension.

A slab gel-based electrophoretic assay has recently been reported for the detection of mutations associated with colorectal cancer using a ligase detection reaction (LDR) [16], a method that simultaneously amplifies DNA and identifies single base mutations in a multiplexed format [17]. LDR is based on an allele-specific ligation of two synthetic oligonucleotide primers, which flank the point mutation (a common and discriminating primer) that hybridize to one strand of the target DNA as shown in Figure 3.1. The junction point of these primers is selected so that the nucleotide at the 3' end of the discriminating primer coincides with the single base mutation site in the target sequence. The discriminating and common primers are covalently joined to form an LDR product by a thermostable ligase only if the nucleotide at the potential mutation site is complementary to the 3' end of the discriminating primer.

[63]



Figure 3.1. Diagram illustrating the ligase detection reaction and the LDR primer sizes used for human *K-ras* gene mutation discrimination at site 12.2 of codon 12 within exon 1. Discriminating primers were fluorescein-labeled on their 5' ends. The length of the discriminating primer and the corresponding amino acid abbreviations are indicated; V = valine, A = alanine, D = aspartic acid.

The process is multiplexed using electrophoresis to screen the full spectrum of point mutations associated with a particular disease via size discrimination by varying the base numbers of the discriminating primer used for the LDR assay as shown in Figure 3.1 [16]. Generation of an LDR product indicates the presence of a mutation while the length of the LDR product designates which mutation was present (allelic composition or mutation location in the gene). In the example shown in Figure 3.1, the wild-type sequence contains a cytosine (C) nucleotide in the K-*ras* gene at position 12.2, which codes for the amino acid glycine during translation. Possible mutations at this site, the resulting amino acid substitution, and their respective abbreviations are adenine (A) / valine (V), guanine (G) / alanine (A) and thymine (T) / aspartic acid (D). Thus, a G12V mutation corresponds to a glycine-to-valine change at codon 12 resulting from a base substitution of G with A.

Using two discriminating primers and one common primer, a slab gel assay was able to detect one mutation in 4,000 wild type sequences at a 9 to 1 signal-to-noise ratio [18]. Using an eight-primer set (six discriminating primers and two common primers) designed to detect two possible mutations in codon 12, the assay was able to detect one mutation in 1,000 wild-type sequences at a signal to noise ratio of 3 to1. The same mutation was detected in 500 wild-type sequences using an entire 26 primer set (19 discriminating primers and 7 common primers) designed to probe for 19 possible mutations at codons 12, 13 and 61 simultaneously. Unfortunately, the slab gel assay required several hours of electrophoretic development time to adequately resolve the LDR products from excess unligated primers.

In this paper, we wish to report on the use of capillary and microchip electrophoresis formats for detecting single base mutations in selected gene fragments (K-*ras*) using LDR. Several issues must be considered when developing capillary or microchip electrophoresis platforms for LDR analyses. In the standard LDR assay, a

large excess of primer over the target template ensures efficient hybridization and ligation. Due to the large amount of primers contained within the reaction cocktail, the electrophoretic method must be able to resolve the LDR product from this excess, both of which contain a fluorescent label. In addition, single base resolution is required since the size of the product, as deduced from the migration time, is used to identify the particular mutation site and/or its allelic composition.

Capillary gel electrophoresis (CGE) can provide a method for the rapid analyses for LDR-based assays using a variety of different separation matrices to provide sufficient resolution to detect the LDR product, even at low abundance. However, a concern associated with this method is the well-characterized injection bias, in which high mobility species, such as short primers and salts, are loaded preferentially compared to slower migrating components. Therefore, high resolution must be achieved so as not to mask the LDR products in the large band generated from unligated primers when these are much higher in concentration [19]. In addition, injection biases can severely limit the loading of the LDR products, demanding high sensitivity detection as well. A final concern is the oligonucleotides that must be separated, which are single stranded DNAs (ssDNA) with a size range <100 bps and as such, special requirements are demanded for the sieving matrix to provide the necessary selectivity.

The microdevice format can potentially allow rapid analyses and reduced consumption of reagents, issues that are important for high throughput screening applications [20]. Compared to CGE, microelectrophoresis can provide more representative loading of all fragment sizes through unbiased volume-based injections

[66]

[21]. However, these devices also contain shorter separation lengths that have the potential to limit resolution unless high resolving power gels are used.

Using a K-*ras* mutation in codon 12 as a model, capillary and microdevice electrophoresis methods were developed to demonstrate the ability for analyzing point mutations in K-*ras* genes of low abundance with electrophoresis. Several ssDNA separation matrices in the capillary and microdevice format were evaluated in a modeling study using synthetic dye-labeled oligonucleotides for their ability to analyze low copy numbers of long oligonucleotides (LDR products) in an excess of shorter oligonucleotides (unligated primers). Using the optimized conditions and separation matrices in both electrophoretic formats, PCR products generated from cell lines of known K-*ras* genotype were used as templates for LDR to detect single base mutations in codon 12.

3.2 Methods and Materials

3.2.1 Capillary Electrophoresis Instrumentation

CGE separations were performed using a Beckman P/ACE System 5510 (Beckman Instruments, Fullerton, CA). Data acquisition was performed using the Beckman P/ACE software. Detection was accomplished using the appropriate laser-induced fluorescence (LIF) module fitted into the CE instrument, which contained an Argon ion laser (λ_{ex} = 488 nm) and a 520 nm emission filter placed in front of the photomultiplier tube. In all cases, the electrophoresis was performed in a reverse mode, with the detection end anodic and the injection end cathodic.

3.2.1.1 Capillaries and Sieving Matrices

μPAGE-5 (5%T, 5%C) polyacrylamide gel-filled capillaries (referred to herein as 5T5C) and buffer were purchased from Agilent Technologies (Palo Alto, CA). The total

capillary length was 36 cm while the effective length was 30 cm; however, this length varied slightly from run to run due to clipping of the inlet end of the capillary prior to each run to restore column performance. The electric field strength was set to 250 V/cm at an operating temperature of 25°C. A water pre-injection of 10 s at 10 kV was used to increase sample loading. Typical injection times ranged from 10 s to several minutes as indicated in each electrophoretic trace.

The eCap ssDNA 100-R Gel (herein referred to as eCap), buffer and neutrally coated capillary (75 μ m i.d.) were purchased from Beckman Coulter (Fullerton, CA). The optimized separation conditions for the eCap were found to be 308 V/cm at 30°C. The matrix was replaced in the capillary (30 cm effective length, 36 cm total length) prior to each run at approximately 800 psi using a pressure vessel designed in-house.

The Performance Optimized Polymer (herein referred to as POP5) and buffer were obtained from Applied Biosystems (ABI, Foster City, CA). The optimized field strength for this gel was determined to be 215 V/cm while the capillary temperature was set to 50°C. A bare fused silica capillary (75 μ m i.d., 30 cm effective length, 36 cm total length) was filled with POP5 using approximately 1,000 psi pressure before each run.

3.2.2 Microdevice Fabrication and Assembly

The microdevice consisted of a 10 cm separation channel with 0.5 cm side channels to the sample, buffer and waste reservoirs as shown in Figure 3.2A. The microchannel was hot-embossed in poly (methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) (MSC, Melville, NY) using a Ni mold master containing microstructures 80 μ m tall and 20 μ m wide (channel dimensions) that were produced by a *LIGA* process as described elsewhere

[68]

[22]. The final device was assembled by annealing a PMMA cover plate to the open face of the device at 109°C in a circulating air oven for 15 min.

3.2.3 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) Instrumentation

The LIF microdevice detection system was constructed in-house with an epillumination configuration, as shown in Figure 3.2B. The system consisted of a 488 nm air-cooled argon ion laser (Omnichrome, Model 532), which was directed to the focusing objective using a multimode fiber optic and a dichroic mirror. The excitation beam was focused using a 16X microscope objective (Melles Griot) onto the microdevice, which was situated on an X-Y-Z microtranslational stage in order to position the microchannel with respect to the focused laser beam. The fluorescence emission was filtered though a stack of optical filters and focused onto a single photon avalanche diode (SPAD, Model SPCM-AQ-141, EG&G Optoelectronics Canada, Vaudreuil, Canada). The filter stack consisted of a 520 nm bandpass filter (Oriel, Stratford, CT) and a 520 nm long-pass filter (Edmund Scientific, Barrington, NJ). The LIF signals were acquired on a personal computer using a 16-bit counter/timer board (Model AT-MIO-16XE-50, National Instruments, Austin, TX).

3.2.3.1 Microelectrophoresis Operation

Labview software and an electrophoretic "switch box" constructed in-house were used to control voltages during the microelectrophoresis. The device included three internal high voltage power supplies (EMCO) capable of receiving input of 0 or +5 V from DAC (digital to analog converter) outputs of a PCI-MIO-16XE-50 board (National Instruments). These power supplies delivered 0 to +2 kV to wells (A) and (B) (EMCO Model C20); and +0.3 to +5 kV to well (D) (EMCO Model G50) (see Figure 3.2A).

[69]



Figure 3.2. (A) The geometrical layout of the microelectrophoresis chip, which was fabricated using hot embossing from a Ni master in PMMA. The chip contains four reservoirs, A = sample; B = waste; C = buffer and D = buffer waste. The chip contained a separation channel that was 10 cm in total length with a channel width of 20 μ m and depth of 80 μ m. (B) Also shown is an annotated picture of the laser-induced fluorescence system used for detection on the microchips.

During injection, a positive voltage was applied to the waste well (B) (see Figure 3.2A) while the sample well (A) was grounded. During separation, a positive voltage was applied to well (D), (C) was grounded and "pullback voltages" were applied to the sample (A) and waste (B) reservoirs to prevent leakage of extraneous material into the separation channel. The microdevice was first manually filled with separation matrix. Following filling, the buffer and sample reservoirs were filled with the appropriate material. Once filled with the sieving matrix, the gel was pre-conditioned by electrophoresing for 5 min at 100 V/cm (voltage applied between reservoirs (C) and (D),

see Figure 3.2A). For the electrophoretic separation, the optimized field strength for the appropriate sieving gel was used as well as the appropriate pullback voltages on the sample and waste reservoirs. In all cases, the electrophoresis was performed in a reverse mode with the injection end cathodic and the detection end anodic.

3.2.4 Modeling Primers and DNA Sizing Ladder

All primers used in this work were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT, Coralville, IA) with PAGE purification and fluorescein labeling of the discriminating primers at their 5' ends. The fragments used as models were constructed to mimic common and discriminating primers as well as LDR products and consisted of 25, 44 and 51 bp fragments of random sequence. Using the 25 base primer to represent the unligated primers, model samples representing 1:10, 1:100 and 1:1,000 molar ratios of LDR product to unligated primers were prepared. In each sample, the unligated primer (25 bp) was maintained at 1.0 μ M and for the 1:10, 1:100 and 1:1,000 modeling samples, the 44 and 51 bp synthetic LDR products were 100.0 nM, 10.0 nm and 1.0 nM, respectively.

3.2.5 LDR Primers

Primers used for LDR were purchased from IDT with fluorescein labeling on their 5' ends (discriminating primer). LDR primers were designed for identification of single base substitutions in codon 12.2 by altering the length of each primer as shown in Figure 3.1. When analyzing the G12V allele, the discriminating primer for G12D was included in order to monitor potential misligations of the discriminating primer used to detect the G12D genotype, representing a C:A mismatch in wild-type DNA. The three-primer set consisted of two discriminating primers and one common primer as shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. LDR discriminating and common primers. Primer size and sequence are indicated. * = common primer, which was phosphorylated at its 5' end to allow ligation.

Size	Sequence		
26	5' Fluor-CAA AAA CTT GTG GTA GTT GGA GCT GT 3'		
25	5' Fluor-CAA AAC TTG TGG TAG TTG GAG CTG C 3'		
24	5' Fluor-AAA ACT TGT GGT AGT TGG AGC TGA 3'		
20	5' pTGG CGT AGG CAA GAG TGC CT 3'		
	Size 26 25 24 20		

3.2.6 DNA Extraction from Cell Lines

PCR products were amplified from genomic DNA that was extracted from cell lines of known K-*ras* genotype (HT29, wild-type; G12V or G12D mutant alleles) [16]. Cell lines were grown in RPMI culture media with 10% bovine serum. Harvested cells (\sim 1 x 10⁷) were resuspended in DNA extraction buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) containing 0.5% SDS and 200 µg/mL proteinase K and incubated at 37°C for 4 hr. Thirty-percent (v/v) of 6 M NaCl was added to the mixture and the samples centrifuged. DNA was precipitated from the supernatant with 3 volumes of EtOH, washed with 70% EtOH and resuspended in TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.2, 2 mM EDTA, pH 8.0).

3.2.7 PCR Reagents and Conditions

PCR amplifications were carried out in 50 μ L with 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.3) containing 10 mM KCl, 4.0 mM MgCl₂, 250 μ M dNTPs, 1 μ M forward and reverse primers (50 pmol of each primer), and between 1 and 50 ng of genomic DNA extracted from the cell lines as described above. The set of primers used were: Ex.1.3 forward =

5' AAC CTT ATG TGT GAC ATG TTC TAA TAT AGT CAC 3'; Ex.1.4 reverse = 5' AAA ATG GTC AGA GAA ACC TTT ATC TGT ATC 3'; Ex.2.9 forward = 5' TCA GGA TTC CTA CAG GAA GCA AGT AGT 3' and Ex.2.11 reverse = 5' ATA CAC AAA GAA AGC CCT CCC CA 3'. After a 1 min denaturation step, 1.5 units of Amplitaq DNA polymerase (Perkin Elmer, Norwalk, CT) was added under hot start conditions and amplification was achieved by thermally cycling for 35 - 40 cycles at 95°C for 30 s; 60°C for 1 min; 72°C for 1 min and 72°C for 3 min for a final extension. PCR products were stored at –20°C until required for use.

3.2.8 LDR Reagents and Conditions

LDRs were carried out using conditions similar to those published elsewhere [16]. Briefly, the PCR products were used as templates for the ligase reaction. The appropriate ratio of wild-type to mutant sequence was added to a solution containing 1X Tth ligase buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl (ph 7.6), 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 M KCl and 20 µg/mL bovine serum albumin), 10 mM DTT, 1.25 mM NAD⁺ (nicotinic adenine dinucleotide, a cofactor for ligase enzyme) and 500 nM of each discriminating primer taken to a final volume of 20 µL. The mixture was heated to 94°C for 1.5 min prior to adding 1 nM Tth DNA ligase (received from Cornell). LDRs were thermally cycled 20 times at 94°C for 15 s and 65°C for 4 min. Reactions required cleanup prior to CGE using a cold ethanol precipitation to reduce the amount of salts. This was carried out by adding 7 µL of 7 M NaOAc and 100 µL of 100% cold ethanol to the LDR. The solution was vortexed and placed in a refrigerated centrifuge for 30 min at 10,000 rpm at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the reactions thoroughly dried in a Centro-Vap (Brinkman Instruments, Westbury, NY, USA) for 1 hr. The DNA pellet was then reconstituted in ddH_2O (10 µL) and vortexed for 1 min prior to CGE.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 LDR Modeling Samples Using CGE

Modeling samples were made using synthetically generated DNA fragments labeled on their 5' ends with fluorescein to mimic LDR- generated products in the presence of excess LDR primers. The fluor-K-*ras* C12.2A (25 bp) oligonucleotide was used at 10, 100 and 1,000 times molar excesses of the synthetic LDR products (44 and 51 bp oligonucleotides). Considering a sample of one mutated DNA for every 20 wild-type sequences and an LDR cocktail consisting of three discriminating primers (500 fmol each – 1,500 fmol total) and 20 thermocycles, the enzymatic reaction can

Table 3.2. Results from model studies of an LDR assay using 5T5C, eCap and POP5 matrices with CGE. Efficiency (plate numbers, N) was calculated for the 25 (unligated primer model), and the 44 and 51 bp fragments (ligation product models). Resolution was calculated between the 25 bp and 44 bp oligonucleotides as well as for the 44 and 51 bp LDR product models.

	N (\times 10 ⁶) (plates/m)			R	
	Disc	LDR 44	LDR 51	Disc/44	LDR 44/51
5T5C					
1:10	0.54	0.97	1.01	18.04	10.03
1:100	0.35	1.12	1.21	16.29	12.06
1:1000	0.17	1.65	1.75	15.64	17.05
eCap					
1:10	0.58	0.56	0.43	18.78	4.56
1:100	0.45	0.69	0.92	13.06	7.40
POP5					
1:10	0.13	0.10	0.14	9.44	1.87
1:100	0.05	0.73	1.08	5.46	5.57

potentially yield 500 fmol of LDR product if 100% ligase efficiency is achieved using optimal conditions. Because 500 fmol of discriminating primer (one allele) are

consumed in the reaction, this results in a 1:2 ratio of LDR product to discriminating primer (500 fmol LDR product to 1,000 fmol discriminating primer). In an 1:1,000 (mutant:wild-type) sample, LDR should produce ~1:150 molar excess of discriminating primer. If the ligation efficiency per cycle is lower than 100%, the ratio of LDR product to unligated primers is much lower than that calculated here.

Modeling samples were analyzed under optimized conditions for CGE using the 5T5C capillary, the POP5 separation matrix and the eCap matrix. Efficiencies (plate numbers) were calculated for the 25 bp discriminating primer as well as the 44 and 51 bp synthetic LDR products. Resolution was calculated between the discriminating primer and the 44 bp product, as well as between the 44 and 51 bp products. These results are summarized in Table 3.2.

3.3.1.1 5T5C Analysis Using Synthetic Models

Using the 5T5C capillary, injection times required to load sufficient amounts of the 44 and 51 bp products were 20 s, 45 s and 75 s for the 1:10, 1:100 and 1:1,000 LDR product model to discriminating primer (25 bp) molar ratio, respectively. Baseline separation of all fragments was achieved in less than 45 min as shown in Figure 3.3 for the 1:100 modeling sample. In some cases, efficiencies were better than 1 x 10^6 m⁻¹, but in no case was it less than 1 x 10^5 m⁻¹. Inspection of the results shown in Table 3.2 indicated that the plate numbers decreased for the 25 bp oligonucleotide with decreasing amounts of the 44 and 51 bp ssDNAs due to the longer injection times used. This resulted in reduced resolution between the 25mer and 44mer. However, the opposite trend was generally observed for the 44/51-mers was increased.

[75]

A difficulty encountered when using this gel was the rapid rate of column degradation, which appeared to be a result of longer injection times required to load sufficient amounts of the longer oligonucleotides of lower concentration for detection. In addition, since the gel could not be removed from the capillary, the entire capillary needed to be replaced following column failure. Manufacturer supplied information reported lifetimes greater than 20 hours. However, in our case, we found that we could perform only 10 separations before the capillary displayed significant degradation in performance (~10 h of operation).



Figure 3.3. Analysis of a 1:100 modeling sample using the 5T5C gel. The capillary column was 36 cm in length (30 cm effective length) and it was maintained at 25°C with a run voltage of 9 kV and the sample was injected for 45 s at 10 kV.

3.3.1.2 eCap Analysis

Analysis using the eCap gel column provided baseline resolution of all fragments in less than 30 min. Similar trends in plate numbers and resolution were observed for this gel matrix as that found with the 5T5C gel (see Table 3.2), with higher excesses of the 25mer producing reductions in the resolution between the 25mer and 44mer as well as smaller plate numbers for the 25mer. The model LDR products were well resolved in the 1:10 and 1:100 samples (R = 4.56 and 7.40, respectively) and discrimination was possible from the excess primer as shown in Figure 3.4 for the 1:100 sample.



Figure 3.4. Analysis of a 1:100 modeling sample using the eCAP gel. The neutrally coated eCAP capillary was run at a voltage of 11.1 kV with the capillary maintained at 30 °C. Electrokinetic injection was 20 s at 10 kV.

Interestingly, we were unable to load sufficient amounts of the 44 or 51 bp oligonucleotides when the 25mer was in 1,000-fold molar excess even when using electrokinetic injection times up to 5 min. This may indicate that severe injection biases occurred using this eCap matrix as compared to the 5T5C capillary. As such, analyzing samples with high molar ratios of short oligonucleotides cannot be accomplished using this linear polyacrylamide gel.

3.3.1.3 POP5 Analysis

Analysis using the POP5 separation matrix was also able to separate electrophoretically the LDR models and discriminating primer at the 1:10 and 1:100 molar ratios (see Figure 3.5 for the 1:100 sample). As can be seen from inspection of Table 3.2, the POP5 gel generally provided less plates and poorer resolution for these short ssDNAs compared to the eCAP and cross-linked gels. Severe loss in resolution and efficiency resulted in subsequent injections if the matrix was not replaced after each run. Injection times were 5 and 45 s for the 1:10 and 1:100 samples, respectively, while injections of up to 5 min were unable to load sufficient amounts of the LDR models for the 1:1,000 sample, similar to that observed for the eCAP gel.

3.3.2 CGE analysis of PCR/LDR Samples

Considering the severe injection biases encountered for injecting samples electrokinetically with high molar excesses of unligated primers using the eCap and POP5 separation matrices, LDR samples were analyzed using the 5T5C capillary, the results of which are shown in Figure 3.6 (1:100 G12V mutant to wild-type) and Figure 3.7 (1:1,000 G12V mutant to wild-type). In all cases, the LDRs were cold ethanol precipitated to remove excess salts prior to capillary injection to assist in loading the ssDNAs. The injection time for the 1:100 sample was 40 s while the injection time was



Figure 3.5. Analysis of a 1:100 modeling sample using the POP5 matrix. The capillary column was 36 cm in length (30 cm effective length). The POP5 analysis of 1:100 modeling sample consisted of a bare silica capillary with a run voltage of 7.7 kV and maintained at 50 °C. The sample was injected for 45 s at 10 kV.



Figure 3.6. Analysis of a G12V 1:100 (mutant to wild-type) LDR sample. Electrophoretic conditions were the same as those listed in Figure 3.3 for the 5T5C column except that injection was for 40 s.

increased to 90 s for the 1:1,000 sample. With decreasing amounts of mutant template, resolution between the LDR product and unligated primers decreased similar to our model studies. The loss in resolution resulted from increased loading of the unligated primers due to the longer injection times required and the biased injections favoring loading of the shorter oligonucleotides. In both cases, the analysis required 36 min to generate sufficient plates to resolve the LDR product from unligated primers. For the 1:100 mutant to wild-type sample, the resolution between the unligated primers and

LDR product was calculated to be 3.14 and decreased to 1.51 in the 1:1,000 sample.



Figure 3.7. Analysis of a G12V 1:1,000 (mutant to wild-type) LDR sample. Electrophoretic conditions were similar to those for the 5T5C column in Figure 3.5 except injection was for 90 s.

3.3.2.1 Optimization of Electrophoretic Conditions Using Modeling Samples and Microelectrophoresis

The matrices (linear entangled polymers and cross-linked gels) were problematic for the detection of point mutations using LDR in the capillary format due to severe injection biases, which required desalting of the LDR prior to gel loading. These injection biases were particularly problematic when the mutant strands were significantly lower in abundance compared to the wild-types. Injection biases could potentially be minimized in a microelectrophoretic format by incorporating cross "T" injectors that provide volume-based injections free from significant electrokinetic biasing effects. In addition, the smaller formats associated with microchip electrophoresis could allow higher sample throughput by reducing electrophoretic development time. Therefore, we evaluated the feasibility of using a polymer-based microelectrophoresis chip for analyzing LDR samples containing gene fragments of low abundance with point mutations of clinical significance.

We investigated three different gel matrices for use with the PMMA microchip; POP5, eCAP and a 4% linear polyacrylamide (LPA) containing 7 M urea as the denaturant. In the case of the eCAP and LPA matrices, the PMMA microchip was used without a coating to suppress its intrinsic electroosmotic flow, which has been measured to be 1.4 x 10^{-4} cm²/Vs [22]. The POP5 gel contains a buffer, which suppresses the EOF in conventional capillaries (fused silica), but the ability of this buffer to suppress the EOF in polymer-based microchips has not been demonstrated. To test each matrix, an equal molar solution of the 25 and 51 bp synthetic oligonucleotides were electrophoresed in the microchip using an effective separation length of 3.5 cm. In all cases, the separations were performed at room temperature using an electric field strength of 113 V/cm. The 4% LPA matrix provided the best resolution between these synthetic oligonucleotides with R = 1.64, while the POP5 and eCAP matrices provided resolutions of 1.20 and 1.19, respectively. In all three cases, baseline resolution was achieved for these short single-stranded oligonucleotides, but the 4% LPA matrix provided the highest resolution, which should make it appropriate for analyzing the ligated products when the copy number of the mutants is significantly lower than the wild-types. The plate numbers for these gels were comparable (~3.5 x 10^5 m⁻¹) indicating that the enhanced resolution observed for the 4% LPA matrix was due

[82]

primarily to its higher selectivity for these short oligonucleotides. The injection conditions used in these examples was 35 s using 500 V applied between the sample (A) and waste (B) reservoirs (see Figure 3.2A).

For the eCAP and LPA matrices, the PMMA separations were performed in uncoated microchannels producing acceptable results in terms of plate numbers and migration times. Recently, it has been reported that successful DNA sequencing of short tandem repeats (read lengths < 400 bp) can be obtained in polymer-based microchips of 4.5 cm in length, but a coating procedure was required to secure favorable results [23]. The coating procedure, which was used specifically to suppress EOF the of microchip, of 2% the consisted w/v polydimethylacrylamide/diethylacrylamide in water, with a 2 h incubation time. Our results indicate that for the separation of short oligonucleotides as in the present case, no coatings for EOF suppression are required for PMMA microchips. However, inclusion of EOF suppression coatings may be necessary in these chips for longer oligonucleotides due to their smaller apparent electrophoretic mobilities. In addition, the results obtained by the eCAP and POP5 gel were similar in terms of their plate numbers and migration times indicating that the POP5 gel and buffer system may not possess dynamic coating capabilities in polymer microchips as they do for fused silica capillaries. This conclusion is not too surprising given the differences in surface chemistries between these materials.

Care was taken to optimize the injection conditions as well to prevent significant band broadening resulting from sample leakage into the separation channel while at the same time allowing complete filling of the fixed volume injector of the shorter oligonucleotide (*ie*, LDR product). It was found that injections less than 15 s (using a 500 V injection voltage) were insufficient for entirely filling the injection cross with the sample while injections longer than 25 s resulted in excessive band broadening as noticed by reductions in plate numbers. Using optimized injection conditions ($t_{inj} = 20$ s; V = 500 V) and an effective separation length of only 3.5 cm provided sufficient plate numbers (N = 1.51 x 10⁶ and 1.67x 10⁶, for the 25 and 51 bp oligonucleotides, respectively) to adequately resolve the generated LDR product from unligated primers even when the mutant allele was in low copy number compared to the wild-type.

3.3.3 Microchip Electrophoresis of LDR Samples

In Figure 3.8 (A) and (B) are shown the microelectrophoretic results of an LDR reaction containing the G12D mutant sequence only (A) and the wild-type only (B). Also, a 1:100 molar ratio of mutant to wild-type alleles are shown in Figure 3.9. In all cases, the LDR reaction was loaded directly into the appropriate reservoir of the chip without subjection it to a desalting procedure. As can be seen, in the case of the wild-type only one peak appears in the electropherogram most likely arising from unligated primers. In the case of the mutant allele, a new band appears at longer migration times compared to the primer peak, resulting from a successful ligation of the common and discriminating primers producing a 44 bp product in this case.

In Figure 3.9 is shown the results of a ligation assay where the wild-type allele was 100fold higher in concentration compared to the mutant allele. Using these electrophoretic conditions, the LDR product could be resolved from unligated primers in under 120 s with a resolution of 1.3, approximately 17-times faster than that observed using CGE (see Figure 3.6) with only a slight reduction in resolution.

Microchip separations of two LDR mutations (G12D and G13D) generated in a single reaction at low abundance levels of 1:10 and 1:100 mutant to wild-type ratios



Figure 3.8. Microelectrophoresis analysis of the G12D LDR product. **(A)** G12D mutant LDR sample with no wild-type sequences, **(B)** the wild-type control sample (no mutant sequences). The electrophoresis was run using a 4% LPA sieving matrix with 7 M urea as the denaturant. The matrix was conditioned by pre-electrophoresis at 1 kV for 5 min. The sample was injected for 20 s at 500 V and electrophoresed at 113 V/cm using pullback voltages on the waste and sample reservoirs of 210 and 350 V, respectively. The effective channel length was 3.5 cm (total length 10 cm).



Figure 3.9. Microelectrophoresis analysis of a 1:100 mutant (G12D) to wild-type ratio. The electrophoresis was run using a 4% LPA sieving matrix with 7 M urea as the denaturant. The matrix was conditioned by pre-electrophoresis at 1 kV for 5 min. The sample was injected for 20 s at 500 V and electrophoresed at 113 V/cm using pullback voltages on the waste and sample reservoirs of 210 and 350 V, respectively. The effective channel length was 3.5 cm (total length 10 cm).

were later conducted with a custom, moderately viscous polymer solution composed sparsely cross-linked ultra-high molar mass polyacrylamide "nanogel" [24]. The polymer was reconstituted in 1xTTE buffer containing 7 M urea to a 2.75% (w/v) concentration. As seen in Figure 3.10, using a field strength of 125 V/cm and the same detection length of 3.5 cm, both LDR products for the 1:10 abundance ratio could be resolved within ~4.5 min. Similarly the PMMA microchip separation of the 1:100 ratio LDR sample, which is within range of biologically relevant levels, was successful.



Figure 3.10. PMMA microchip separation using a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel for the sorting of multiplexed LDR of G12D and G13D products at an abundance ratio of 1:10 (mutant to wild-type) sample. The polymer was reconstituted in 1xTTE buffer containing 7 M urea. The separation was conducted at 125 V/cm after a 35 s injection at 350 V/cm with a detection length of 3.5 cm.

As seen in Figure 3.11, using the same parameters as listed for the microchip separation of the 1:10 LDR sample in Figure 3.7, both products were present after ~4.5 min of development time.

3.4 Conclusions

Several ssDNA separation matrices for CGE were evaluated for their ability to detect low abundant point mutations using LDR. The eCap and POP5 replaceable matrices provided successful separation of model LDR products at 1:10 and 1:100 molar ratios to the synthetic unligated model primers with sufficient resolution in less than 35 min, but with lower resolution compared to the 5T5C cross-linked gels. The eCap matrix



Figure 3.11. PMMA microchip separation using a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel for the sorting of a multiplexed LDR of G12D and G13D products at an abundance ratio of 1:100 (mutant to wild-type). Run conditions were the same as those listed in Figure 3.7.

required a neutrally coated capillary to suppress the EOF or prevent solute-wall interactions, which would adversely affect electrophoretic efficiency. The POP5 gel provided dynamic coating capabilities of the capillary that permitted use of a bare fused silica capillary with no pretreatment necessary. While these gels provided baseline resolution for these model LDR samples of relatively low molar excess of unligated model primers, they suffered from severe injection biases and appeared inadequate for the detection of samples containing an 1,000-fold molar excess of unligated primer. Under the conditions listed here, sufficient loading of the LDR products was not possible.

The 5T5C cross-linked capillary provided analysis of molar ratios up to 1:1,000 of LDR product to unligated primers with better resolution and efficiency as compared to the eCap and POP5 matrices; however, increased column deterioration resulted from unusually long injections required to sufficiently load LDR products. The covalent bonding of the polyacrylamide to the capillary wall prevented matrix replacement.

Microchip electrophoresis using uncoated polymer substrates demonstrated potential for providing rapid analyses of LDR products. The volume-based injection associated with these formats have been shown to provide representative loading of various sized DNA fragments where electrokinetic injection in capillaries are subject to biases favoring high mobility fragments and salts [21]. Initial microdevice separations using a 4% LPA separation matrix were favorable in providing high efficiency separations with adequate resolution in the size range of interest in as little as 120 s, nearly 17-times faster than capillary gel formats. In addition, sample processing prior to the electrophoresis was simplified by eliminating the need of desalting using ethanol precipitation or other similar techniques.

3.5 References

[1] Capella, G., Cronauermitra, S., Peinado, M. A., Perucho, M., *Environmental Health Perspectives* 1991, *93*, 125-131.

[2] Finkelstein, S. D., Sayegh, R., Bakker, A., Swalsky, P., et al., Archives of Surgery 1993, 128, 526-532.

[3] Bos, J. L., *Mutation Research* 1988, 195, 255-271.

[4] Breivik, J., Meling, G. I., Spurkland, A., Rognum, T. O., Gaudernack, G., *British Journal of Cancer* 1994, *69*, 367-371.

[5] Digiuseppe, J. A., Hruban, R. H., Offerhaus, G. J. A., Clement, M. J., et al., American Journal of Pathology 1994, 144, 889-895.

[6] Chen, J., Thilly, W., Analytical Biochemistry 1991, 195, 51-56.

[89]

[7] Kahn, S., Jiang, W., Culbertson, T., Weinstein, B., et al., Oncogene 1991, 6, 1079 - 1083.

[8] Levi, S., Urbano-Ispizua, A., Gill, R., Thomas, D., et al., Cancer Research 1991, 51, 3497 - 3502.

[9] Sidransky, D., Tokino, T., Hamilton, S., Kinzler, K., et al., Science 1992, 256, 102 - 105.

[10] Haliassos, A., Chomel, J., Grandjouan, S., Kruh, J., *et al.*, *Nucleic Acids Research* 1989, *17*, 8093 - 8099.

[11] Hayashi, N., arakawa, H., Nagase, H., Yanagisawa, A., *et al.*, *Cancer Research* 1994, *54*, 3853 3850 3856.

[12] Jacobson, D., Moskovits, T., PCR Methods and Applications 1992, 1, 299.

[13] Hayashi, N., Ito, I., Yanagisawa, A., Kato, Y., et al., Lancet 1995, 345, 1257 - 1259.

[14] Caldas, C., Hahn, S., Hruban, R., Redston, M., *et al.*, *Cancer Research* 1994, *54*, 3568 - 3573.

[15] Cha, R., Zarbl, H., Keohavong, P., Thilly, W., *PCR Methods and Applications* 1992, 2, 14 - 20.

[16] Khanna, M., Park, P., Zirvi, M., Cao, W. G., et al., Oncogene 1999, 18, 27-38.

[17] Barany, F., *PCR Methods and Applications*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory 1991, pp. 5-16.

[18] Barany, F., PCR Methods and Applications 1991, 1, 5 - 16.

[19] Ruiz-Martinez, M. C., Salas-Solano, O., Carrilho, E., Kotler, L., Karger, B. L., *Analytical Chemistry* 1998, *70*, 1516-1527.

[20] Singh, S. M., Rodenhiser, D. I., Ott, R. N., Jung, J. H., Ainsworth, P. J., *Biotechnology Annual Review* 1996, *2*, 409-437.

[21] Ehrlich, D. J., Matsudaira, P., Trends in Biotechnology 1999, 17, 315-319.

[22] Ford, S. M., Kar, B., McWhorter, S., Davies, J., et al., Journal of Microcolumn Separations 1998, 10, 413-422.

[23] Bae, Y. C., Soane, D., Journal of Chromatography A 1993, 652, 17-22.

[24] Doherty, E. A. S., Kan, C. W., Paegel, B. M., Yeung, S. H. I., *et al.*, *Analytical Chemistry* 2004, *76*, 5249-5256.
Chapter 4: Ligase Detection Reaction Mutation Screening via Free Solution Electrophoresis in a Polymeric Microfluidic Device*

4.1 Introduction

The stochastic nature of molecular alterations during tumorigenesis makes cancer diagnosis and prognosis using molecular profiling an arduous task. Cancers often possess multiple mutations embedded within several different genes with varying frequencies; in most cases, these mutations must be thoroughly probed to accurately identify the presence or risk of developing a particular phenotype. For example, 30-50% of all colorectal adenomas are marked by the presence of one or more of the 19 known mutations found in the K-ras oncogene alone [1-4]. Most K-ras mutations are localized to codon 12 and to a lesser extent, codons 13 and 61; these mutations are well preserved throughout tumor progression. Testing for these mutations is difficult because the percentage of cells with mutated DNA fluctuates greatly with respect to the stage of tumorigenesis and the location and proximity of the sampling site with respect to the primary tumor site [5-10]. For example, colorectal cancer (CRC) sampling of plasma samples from CRC patients found only 0.01% to 1.7% of the 47,800 APC molecules collected per mL of plasma contained mutant alleles [11]. Even at the primary tumor site, the predominant cells are normal stromal cells (wild-type; WT) found at levels as high as 70% [12]. Successful and accurate genotyping for CRC therefore not only depends on the utilization of a multiplexed analysis format, but also the ability to detect low copy numbers of mutated sequences in a vast sea of WT DNA.

One technique that can distinguish low abundant mutant DNA from WT DNA in a multiplexed format is the ligase detection reaction (LDR) coupled to a primary PCR [13-20]. Following PCR amplification of the appropriate genes containing the loci of

interest, the amplicon is mixed with two complementary primers (a common primer and discriminating primer) that flank the mutation locus of interest. Conventionally, the discriminating primer contains a base at its 3' end that coincides with the single-base mutation site. Facilitated by a highly specific thermally stable ligase, the two primers are covalently joined to form an LDR product if and only if the nucleotide at the potential mutation site is complementary to the 3' end of the discriminating primer. This process then linearly amplifies LDR products during subsequent thermal cycles; the products that correspond to the presence of a mutation are approximately twice as long as the original LDR primers. The flexible design of this primer ligation-based scheme has allowed successful LDR implementation onto DNA microarrays as well as electrophoretic sorting platforms [12, 13, 21].

Typically, stringent measures have been required to sort products generated from LDRs, including cross-linked slab gels or capillary gel electrophoresis (CGE), which typically require >1 h to achieve separations with adequate resolution [13]. Recently, microchip electrophoresis has successfully been used to score the presence of mutations using LDR [22]. The use of microchips as a miniaturized electrophoretic platform allows reduced analysis times and provides a platform for integration of front-end molecular processing to realize an autonomous lab-on-a-chip system, which can reduce the potential for sample contamination and expand the user base of genetic molecular analyses due to the automated nature of sample processing. Using inexpensive polymeric substrates for the fabrication of the fluidic elements will dramatically reduce the overall cost of the analysis and make these platforms viable for one-time use diagnostic applications [21, 23-27].

[92]

An obstacle for the translation of capillary-based electrophoretic technologies to microchips is the highly viscous sieving gels required for size-dependent separation of DNA. Viscous media lengthen the preparation and separation times and limit the electric field strength that can be used and also demand robust devices to fill the channels. Gel loading devices and port assemblies constructed to address these issues have had moderate success, but the relatively low pressures that microchips and assembly interconnects can sustain make these solutions tenuous [28]. Furthermore, maintaining the integrity of the assembled microchip becomes more difficult as pressure drops increase due to increases in channel length for improvements in separation resolution and multi-channel designs for high-throughput applications [29]. The use of polymer-based electrophoresis exacerbates this problem due to their inability to withstand high gel loading pressures. Moreover, the chemical composition and/or concentration of the sieving matrix must often be modified to accommodate only a limited size range of DNAs to be sorted [30].

In efforts to circumvent the necessity of sieving matrices for DNA separations, end-labeled free solution electrophoresis (ELFSE), also referred to as free solution conjugate electrophoresis (FSCE), was theorized and later demonstrated [31-33]. FSCE is an attractive separation technique for sorting charged biopolymers without the need of a sieving medium. In FSCE, a monodisperse, uncharged polypeptide or polypeptoid "drag-tag" is conjugated to DNA to disrupt the free-draining behavior of DNA in an electric field [33]. In this regime, the size of the DNA determines its electrophoretic driving force, which is countered by the frictional and hydrodynamic drag from the appended drag-tag. The conjugates of DNA and drag-tags can then be

[93]

separated by size using electrophoresis in free-solution (with no polymer matrix present); the molecular weight and other properties of the drag-tag determine the length of DNA that can be separated with single-base resolution by FSCE possible. With the size range of monodisperse drag-tags now available, DNA separations of ~180 bases have been demonstrated and this electrophoretic approach has proven useful for sequencing and also single base extension (SBE) genotyping with free solution separations performed in both capillaries and glass microchips [34-36].

Here, we present the combination of LDR and FSCE (LDR-FSCE) to create a novel, multiplexed electrophoretic method to screen low-copy number mutations (in a high abundance of WT DNA) using poly(methyl methacrylate), PMMA, microchips without a sieving matrix. Because the desired fragment lengths of LDR products in addition to their fluorescent probes are relatively small and require single base separation performance (42 - 46 bp), a combination of viscous matrices and relatively long column lengths are usually needed to sort them. In our previous work involving PMMA microchip separations of LDR products, a few commercially available polymer matrices optimized for capillaries and glass microchips were investigated [22]. Although effective, none exhibited the degree of performance required to separate multiple LDR products in this particular size range. In LDR-FSCE, LDR primers were conjugated to polypeptoid drag-tags to efficiently resolve fluorescently-labeled LDR products generated from K-ras mutations with a high diagnostic value for CRC [37, 38]. Using this FSCE approach, rapid separations (~85 s) of LDR/drag-tag conjugates (LDR-dt) were achieved in PMMA microchips using only a Tris-based buffer containing an electroosmotic flow (EOF) suppression additive.

[94]

4.2 Methods and Materials

4.2.1 DNA Template Preparation

Genomic DNA was extracted from cell lines of known K-ras oncogenic expression associated with the onset of CRC (HT-29, wild-type; SW1116, G12A; SW620, G12V; LS180, G12D; and DLD1, G13D) (ATCC, Manassas, VA) using a Qiagen DNeasy kit (Valencia, CA). Here, the nomenclature of the given mutations (*i.e.*, G12D) denotes the DNA base substitution (G) within a particular codon (12; GGT) in exon 1 of the K-ras gene, which alters the amino acid translation from glycine to aspartic acid (D). PCR amplifications were carried out to generate 290 bp amplicons of each template in 50 µL volumes containing 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.3, 10 mM KCl, 4.0 mM MgCl₂), 250 µM dNTPs, 1 µM forward and reverse primers (50 pmol of each primer), and between 1 and 50 ng of genomic DNA extracted from the cell lines. The gene-specific primer sequences were; exon 1.3 forward - 5' AAC CTT ATG TGT GAC ATG TTC TAA TAT AGT CAC 3' and exon 1.4 reverse - 5' AAA ATG GTC AGA GAA ACC TTT ATC TGT ATC 3'. After a 2 min initial denaturation, 1.5 units of AmpliTag DNA polymerase (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) was added under hot-start conditions and amplification was achieved by thermally cycling for 35 cycles at 95°C for 30 s, 60°C for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min with a final extension at 72°C for 3 min.

4.2.2 Drag-tag Synthesis and Primer Conjugation

The synthesis of the four, linear poly *N*-methoxyethylglycine (NMEG) drag-tags (length = 20, 32, 44 and 56 monomers) utilized in this study (see Figure 4.1) was achieved using a solid-phase submonomer synthetic protocol, which has previously been described in detail and was accomplished using an ABI 433A automated peptide

[95]

synthesizer [39, 40]. All drag-tags were capped with an N-terminal maleimide and purified to monodispersity by RP-HPLC. The discriminating primers used for the LDRs were purchased from IDT (Coralville, IA) and contained a C-6 spacer and thiol linker modifications on their 5' terminus to facilitate the attachment of the drag-tags (see Table 4.1). Common primers were synthesized bearing either FAM (excitation/emission = 492/517 nm; IDT) or IRD-800 (excitation/emission = 780/816 nm; LI-COR, Lincoln, NE) fluorescent labels (z) on their 3' ends with phosphorylation on their 5' termini (see Table 4.1). The thiol groups on the discriminating primers were reduced by incubating the primers with a 20x molar excess of TCEP, tris(2-carboxyethylphospine; Acros Organics, Morris Plains, NJ) in pH 7.2 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer at 40°C for 90 min. The drag-tags were conjugated to the 5' termini of the discriminating primers using a 1:20:28 primer:TCEP:drag-tag concentration ratio in pH 7.2 100 mM sodium phosphate buffer that was incubated at room temperature for 3 h [35]. The largest polypeptoid drag-tags (56 monomers) were paired with the corresponding smallest discriminating primers (21bp), and vice versa, to generate the greatest possible resolution between the LDR products (see Table 4.1) [35].

4.2.3 LDR of Drag-tag/DNA Primer Conjugates

LDR assays were carried out using conditions similar to those described elsewhere with slight modifications [22]. Briefly, appropriate ratios of the aforementioned WT and mutant amplicons were added to a solution containing 1x Taq DNA Ligase buffer (20 mM Tris-HCI, 25 mM potassium acetate, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 10 mM dithiothreitol, 1.0 mM NAD) at pH 7.6 (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) and 25 nM of each discriminating and common primers taken to a final volume of

[96]

20 μL with ddH₂O. After an initial 2 min denaturation at 94°C, 40 U of Taq DNA ligase (New England Biolabs) was added to the cocktail under hot-start conditions and the reactions were thermally cycled 20 times for 15 s at 94°C and 2 min at 65°C. The reaction was then quenched by rapid cooling to 4°C followed by the addition of 0.5 mM EDTA. Prior to electrophoretic analyses, samples were desalted using CentriSep spin columns (Princeton Separation, Adelphia, NJ).

LDR Primer	Sequence	Length	T _M (°C)	Drag-tag	
K-ras c12.2V	x ² -ACA AAA ACT TGT GGT AGT TGG AGC TGT	27	63,6	NMEG-20	
K-ras c12.2A	x [#] -CAA AAC TTG TGG TAG TTG GAG CTG C	25	63.9	NMEG-32	
K-ras c12.2D	x°-TGT GGT AGT TGG AGC TGG TGA	24	67.6	NMEG-44	
K-ras c13.4D x ² -ACT TGT GGT AGT TGG AGC TGT		21	67.2	NMEG-56	
ı K-ras c12 Com-2	p ^e -TGG CGT AGG CAA GAG TGC CT-z ^e	20	69.8		
K-ras c13 Com-4	p ² -CGT AGG CAA GAG TGC CTT GAC A-z ^c	T AGG CAA GAG TGC CTT GAC A-z ^c 22 69.8			

Table 4.1. Design of Primers for LDR-ELFSE.

"x, drag-tag attachment. "p, phosphorylation. 'z, fluorescent label. "The length of an LDR product (bp) is the sum of a discriminating primer with its corresponding common primer.

4.2.4 Microchip Fabrication

Microchips were fabricated using methods previously developed and reported by our group [41]. Briefly, the procedure involved machining a molding die by milling raised microstructures onto a brass plate. These microstructures formed a separation channel with dimensions of 70 μ m (depth) x 30 μ m (width) and 9.5 cm in length (total)

with 0.5 cm intersecting side channels offset by 500 μ m, which provided a defined 105 pL volume for sample injection. These microstructures were embossed into PMMA wafers (MSC, Melville, NY) using an embossing system consisting of a PHI Precision Press model number TS-21-H-C (4A)-5 (City of Industry, CA) and a vacuum chamber connected to the press to remove air (pressure < 0.1 bar). The microchannel pattern was transferred into a PMMA wafer at 155°C and 1000 lb for 4 min. After hot-embossing, the press was opened and the polymer wafer was cooled to room temperature. Reservoirs were added to the microchips by drilling 1.25 mm holes centered at the end of each channel. After an ethanol rinse and sonication in ddH₂O for debris removal, the final device was assembled by annealing a PMMA cover plate to the open face of the device by clamping between glass plates (~10 lb) and heating to 107°C in a circulating air oven for 20 min.

4.2.5 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) and High Voltage Control System

A laser-induced fluorescence (LIF) detection system was constructed in-house with an epi-illumination configuration. A diode 780 nm laser filtered with a band-limiting line filter (Thorlabs, Newton, NJ) was directed onto a dichroic mirror, which reflected the excitation beam through a 40x microscope objective (Newport, Fountain Valley, CA) into the microchannel, which was situated on an X-Y-Z micro-translational stage. The fluorescence emission was filtered through a filter stack and focused onto a single photon avalanche diode (model SPCM-AQR-12, Optoelectronics, Vaudreuil, Canada). The filter stack consisted of an 825 nm bandpass filter (Oriel, Stratford, CT) and an 800 nm long-pass filter (Edmund Scientific, Barrington, NJ). The LIF signals were acquired

on a personal computer using a 32-bit counter/timer board (Model PCI-6601, National Instruments, Austin, TX).

A custom Labview program was used to control applied voltages for the microchip electrophoresis. The unit included three internal high voltage power supplies (EMCO, Sutter Creek, CA) capable of receiving inputs of 0 or +5 V from a DAC (digital-to-analog converter) output of a CYDDA 04P board (CyberResearch, New Haven, CT). These power supplies were capable of delivering 0 to +2 kV to sample and waste reservoirs (EMCO Model C20, Sutter Creek, CA) and +0.3 to +5 kV to the anodic reservoir (EMCO Model G50), all of which could be dynamically altered throughout the separation.

4.2.6 Capillary and Microchip LDR-FSCE Conditions

Separations of the LDR products were performed on an ABI 3100 (Applied Biosystems) using 36 cm (47 cm total separation length) capillaries filled with 1x TTE (89 mM Tris, 89 mM TAPS, 2 mM EDTA) and 7M urea buffer containing 0.5% (v/v) POP6 (Applied Biosystems) to dynamically coat the capillary walls to suppress the EOF. Samples were electrokinetically loaded into the capillaries by applying 43 V/cm for 20 s and electrophoresed at 320 V/cm. For the microchip analysis, separations were performed at room temperature using microchannels filled with 1x TTE (50 mM Tris, 50 mM TAPS, 2 mM EDTA) and 7M urea buffer containing 0.05% (w/v) methyl hydroxyethyl cellulose, MHEC, (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Mo) to dynamically coat the PMMA channel walls for EOF suppression [42]. To generate a volume-defined injection plug, 347 V/cm was applied for 50 s from the sample reservoir (ground) to the waste reservoir (+ 3.5 kV). Electrophoresing of the sample was conducted using 365 V/cm,

while adduction field strengths of 345 and 276 V/cm were applied to sample and waste reservoirs, respectively, to prevent extraneous sample leakage into the separation channel.

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 LDR-FSCE Genotyping

In order to conduct FSCE separations of LDR products, LDR primers were reconfigured to allow for the addition of drag-tags onto the 5' terminus of the discriminating primers. LDR primers intended for electrophoretic separation in a sieving medium are typically designed with discriminating primers bearing fluorescent labels on their 5' termini [18]. In this case, LDR primer sets were modified in a similar manner to those previously used for microarray studies [12]. As illustrated in Figure 4.1 and Table 4.1, the fluorescent label was placed on the 3' terminus of the common primer, which also contained a 5' phosphorylation modification to facilitate covalent coupling of the two primers in the event of a successful ligation event due to primer complementarity with the mutant allele. A thiol group was positioned on the 5' terminus of the discriminating primers, which served as the reactive site for drag-tag attachment.

LDR assays were initially performed using thermocycling conditions and primer concentrations previously optimized for conventional primer-based procedures to establish LDR parameters suitable for drag-tagged primers. To verify successful conjugation of the drag-tag with the thiolated oligonucleotides as well as the ability to generate LDR products without interferences stemming from drag-tag presence, single primer set positive control reactions (4) were conducted consisting of one drag-tagged modified discriminating primer (G12D-dt, G12A-dt, G12V-dt, and G13D-dt, see Table

4.1) and its respective dye-labeled common primers with individual *K-ras* mutant templates. In addition, the same reactions were performed with discriminating primers with no drag-tags using the G12D mutant template for comparison.



Figure 4.1. Diagram showing the generation of drag-tagged LDR products and their subsequent separation profile from a mixed population of these LDR-dt products. LDR primers having single base differences upon successful ligation are inversely paired with drag-tags of different sizes (largest drag-tag to smallest ligated-primer pair). Under an electric field, each LDR-dt conjugate has a unique electrophoretic mobility in free solution whereas the non-conjugated primers have a mobility that is independent of size. Larger LDR-dt products having greater overall charges migrate faster than LDR products comprised of smaller oligonucleotides.

4.3.2 CE Analysis of the LDR-dt Products

FSCE separations of the LDR-dt control samples were conducted using an ABI 3100 system for optimizing the LDR-dt reaction parameters. Figure 4.2 shows the successful generation of LDR-dt products for all four K-ras mutant templates. As can be seen, all LDR-dt products were effectively resolved from excess dye-labeled common primers, which tended to mask LDR products due to their much higher concentration. The FSCE separation required ~11 min. Each product possessed a unique electrophoretic mobility yielding resolutions between the dye-labeled common primer and LDR-dt products of 4.33, 6.54, 8.50, and 12.27 for the G12V-dt, G12A-dt, G12D-dt and G13D-dt products, respectively. As expected, the relative migration times of the LDR-dt conjugates corresponded to the size of the drag-tag units appended to the given LDR-dt products in that the LDR-dt product with the largest drag-tag eluted last and that with the smallest drag-tag eluted first (See Table 4.1).

In a direct comparison, the separation of the non-drag-tagged G12D LDR sample is shown in Figure 4.2. In this case, no LDR product was visible after the separation as the LDR product co-migrated with the unincorporated labeled common primers in free solution, thus illustrating the pronounced effects of drag-tags on the mobility of the LDR products. However, the presence of a G12D LDR product was illustrated upon the separation of the sample using gel electrophoresis (data not shown), but required a development time of ~36 min with a resolution of 3.14 [22].

It was discovered that extending the denaturation time during the LDR cycling beyond 2 min at 95°C lead to partial hydrolysis of the maleimide linker between the primers and the drag-tags, which caused the formation of minor LDR product peaks with

[102]



Figure 4.2. Free solution CAE electropherograms of positive control samples and multiplex LDR-dt samples that are probing four *K-ras* mutations. Four positive control LDR assays consisting of each mutagenic template paired with its respective discriminating (drag-tagged) and common primer. A negative control LDR assay excluding drag-tags was conducted and analyzed via FSCE for comparison. The reactions consisted of 1 nM of each mutagenic template with 25 nM each of the common and discriminating primers per reaction in 1x Taq ligase buffer and 40 U Taq ligase (20 µL total reaction volume). Thermocycling conditions included 20 cycles of 95°C for 20 s and 65°C for 2 min following a 2 min initial denaturation at 95°C. Electrokinetic injections and separations were performed in 1x TTE buffer containing 7 M urea and 0.5% POP6 (for EOF suppression) at E = 416 V/cm for 10 s for injection and E = 375 V/cm for the separation.

slight mobility shifts. During initial experiments, the relative peak areas indicated that LDR products generated for G12D and G13D mutations, which are the most commonly

found K-ras mutant alleles, were approximately 20-fold greater than LDR products

generated for the less frequently occurring G12A and G12V mutations [43]. To increase their visibility in the electropherograms in subsequent results, the relative amount of G12A and G12V LDR-dt products were enhanced by increasing their genomic template concentrations from 50 pmol to 100 pmol prior to PCR amplification. Additionally, subsequent reactions were performed by adding the drag-tagged discriminating primers after the initial denaturation step used in the LDR phases of the assay to minimize primer-dt degradation. Also, it was determined that the incorporation of drag-tags did not appreciably affect the melting temperature of the LDR primers by comparing product yields from experiments performed at different annealing temperatures (data not shown).

Once optimal conditions were established for the LDR-dt assays, a single-tube multiplexed reaction was conducted using FSCE for sorting the LDR-dt products. The reactions consisted of concurrent generation of all *K-ras* amplicons (multiplexed PCR) from which a measured aliquot was then LDR cycled with a mixture containing all four drag-tagged discriminating primers (100 nM each) and two common primers (50 nM each) to demonstrate the ability of this mutation detection scheme to probe mutations within the same locus or having close proximity with high fidelity. The electropherogram depicted in Figure 4.3 shows the separation of the simultaneously generated LDR-dt products whose unique migration times approximately matched those established in the initial control experiments. Likewise, the relative peak areas for G12D and G13D mutant alleles were approximately 10-fold greater than the G12A and G12V mutant allele signals consistent with the relative abundance of these mutations.



Figure 4.3. Free solution CAE electropherograms of positive control samples and multiplex LDR-dt samples that are probing four *K-ras* mutations. A FSCE separation of four *K-ras* LDR-dt products generated simultaneously in a single-tube reaction using the entire panel of mutant templates and LDR primers (see Table 4.1 for sequences). The reaction and run conditions were the same as listed in Figure 4.2.

4.3.3 PMMA Microchip LDR-dt Separations

PMMA microchip FSCE separations of positive control samples were performed using the described in-house constructed LIF and high voltage control system. Two important factors that must be considered when using polymer microfluidic devices as electrophoretic platforms for genotyping are the pressure tolerance of the device and the ability to manage the EOF of the polymer substrate surface, which sometimes varies from batch-to-batch in different feedstocks of PMMA. Here, both issues were addressed through the use of free solution electrophoresis, which eliminated the need for pressurized introduction of highly viscous sieving media into the microchannels of the devices and a dynamic EOF suppression coating, which required the inclusion of 0.05% MHEC (w/v) in the running buffer, well below its entanglement threshold [42]. EOF measurements for the PMMA microchip showed that the running buffer containing MHEC attenuated the EOF to $1.49 \pm 0.07 \times 10^{-5} \text{ cm}^2/\text{V}$ s, which was consistent across a number of different PMMA chips and one order of magnitude lower than that obtained for untreated PMMA microchips (1.77 ± 0.11 x 10⁻⁴ cm²/V s).

Figure 4.4 illustrates the separation of *K-ras* LDR-dt products using a PMMA microchip. Similar to the capillary separations, the results for each mutant allele were baseline resolved from the free dye-labeled primers. The separations using the PMMA microchips were completed in \leq 85 s with an effective separation length of 3.5 cm and a field strength of 365 V/cm, which provided resolution values of 2.13, 2.32, 2.77, and 3.25 between the dye-labeled common primer and LDR-dt products G12V-dt, G12A-dt, G12D-dt and G13D-dt, respectively. As many as five consecutive separations could be performed on the same microchip without requiring replenishment of the sample or changing the buffer used for the electrophoresis. No carryover contamination from runto-run was observed when adduction voltage fields were applied to the sample reservoir during injection. Using these parameters, migration times were highly reproducible (e.g., T_m= 81 s ± 1.8 s for G12D-dt) over five successive runs as well as for chip-to-chip trial analyses.

Microchip FSCE separations of multiplexed LDR-dt samples were also conducted for the simultaneous detection of all four mutant alleles. The experiment was carried out using the same conditions given in Figure 4.4, except the genomic G12A

[106]



Figure 4.4. Microchip FSCE separations of positive control *K-ras* LDR-dt reactions. The custom-micro-milled PMMA microchip was hot embossed from a brass master (9.5 cm length, 30 μ m width and 70 μ m depth) utilized to separate the LDR-dt products generated using the same conditions given in Figure 4.2. The volume-defined cross injection (105 pL) and separation were performed in 1x TTE containing 7 M urea and 0.05% MHEC (for EOF suppression) at E = 365 V/cm for 50 s (injection) and E = 375 V/cm for the electrophoretic separation. Typical analyses used an effective channel separation length of 3.5 cm.



Figure 4.5. Microchip FSCE separation of a multiplexed LDR generating LDR-dt products. Following PCR of the mutagenic *K-ras* loci in a single-tube reaction, a multiplexed single-tube LDR was conducted using the conditions stated in Figure 4.2 with an increase in genomic DNA for G12A and G12V templates to 100 pmol prior to PCR. The effective channel separation length was 6 cm and E = 450 V/cm were selected to optimize the resolution of all LDR-dt products. The other separation conditions were indentical to those described in Figure 4.4.

and G12V template quantities were increased from 50 pmol to 100 pmol prior to PCR amplification in order to provide peak intensities similar to the predominant G12D and G13D alleles. As seen in Figure 4.5, all four LDR-dt products were separated within ~165 s using a field strength of 450 V/cm at an effective distance of 6.0 cm to provide near baseline resolution of all products. At this high field strength, no physical alterations of the microchannels were observed under magnification as well as no

deleterious effects on separation performance in terms of plate numbers due to Joule heating.

In order to evaluate the ability to score the presence of these mutations when present in low abundance compared to the WT alleles, LDR-dt assays were conducted using G12D and G13D K-ras mutants at biologically relevant levels (1 mutant copy per 100 WT copies) by adding 5.0 nM WT template to 0.05 – 5.0 nM of mutant templates to construct 1:1, 1:10 and 1:100 excesses of mutant-to-WT samples. LDR-dt products were visible in the electropherograms for both K-ras mutant templates at levels up to 1:100 at a SNR = 7.1 (see Figure 4.6). Attempts to detect LDR-dt products lower than 1:100 were not successful due to the detection limit of the LIF system and electrophoretic masking resulting from the high peak intensities of the unligated fluorescently-labeled primers. A negative control reaction excluding the K-ras mutant templates conducted for 5.0 nM WT DNA showed no visible peaks indicative of the formation of misligated products. Thus, there is minimal probability that this LDR-FSCE assay will give false positive results. The PCR/LDR technique is capable of maintaining high specificity in low abundance conditions due to: i) the thermostable ligase, which has the ability to rapidly dissociate from junction sites containing mismatches; and ii) early misligation events are not further amplified [13]. For example, in the case of amplification techniques based on allele-specific PCR, fluorescent mutant sequences are directly produced, which can generate false positives from misincorporations of nucleotide bases by the polymerase. Here, the PCR serves only to amplify target DNA sequences and the presence of mutations within these DNA sequences are discerned by a follow-up allele-specific ligation.

[109]



Figure 4.6. Microchip FSCE separations of multiplexed *K-ras* LDR-dt reactions probing the G12D and G13D mutant alleles with changes in the relative abundances of wild-type alleles with respect to the mutant alleles. The reaction compositions consisted of 5.0 nM WT template to 0.05, 0.5 and 5.0 nM of the mutant templates to construct 1:1, 1:10 and 1:100 excesses of mutant-to-WT samples, respectively. Separations used the same conditions as those given in Figure 4.4.

4.4 Conclusions

We have demonstrated the successful genotyping of four clinically relevant *K-ras* markers important for diagnosing CRCs by a hybrid LDR-FSCE method that generated fluorescently labeled LDR-dt products. The versatility of the LDR-FSCE method allows for multiplexed, highly specific mutation profiling of samples containing up to 100-fold

excess of WT sequences on a plastic microchip. The LDR-dt products were separated in 11 min on a commercial CAE system and ~85 seconds on a dynamically coated separation channel of a PMMA microchip that was replicated via hot-embossing. LDR-FSCE is a highly flexible method; drag-tags are ideal for genotyping applications that require high-resolution separations of short oligonucleotides. Moreover, the absence of a highly viscous sieving matrix also simplified the operation of the chip-based electrophoresis by eliminating the need for gel filling prior to the electrophoretic analysis. Thus, narrower channel dimensions to improve electrophoretic efficiency or increasing the channel number within the device to improve throughput could be realized without the constraints of high pressure that can result in device failure due to disassembly.

Future work will include the integration of genomic sample pre-processing, including DNA extraction and thermal cycling, onto a polymeric wafer to produce autonomous systems appropriate for genotyping applications that do not require sieving matrices or gel-filling apparati [44]. In additions, improvements in FSCE performance to handle highly multiplexed assays can be realized with the utilization of polyamide drag-tags of larger sizes. The degree of multiplexing will also be increased to probe the entire panel of 19 *K-ras* mutations associated with the development of CRC as well as other well characterized disease states by the incorporation of a larger array of drag-tags.

4.5 References

[1] Andersen, S. N., Lovig, T., Breivik, J., Lund, E., et al., Scandinavian Journal of Gastroenterology 1997, 32, 62-69.

[2] Rothschild, C. B., Brewer, C. S., Loggie, B., Beard, G. A., Triscott, M. X., *Journal of Immunological Methods* 1997, *206*, 11-19.

[3] Otori, K., Oda, Y., Sugiyama, K., Hasebe, T., et al., Gut 1997, 40, 660-663.

[4] Chiang, J. M., Cancer Letters 1998, 126, 179-185.

[5] Smith, A. J., Stern, H. S., Penner, M., Hay, K., *et al.*, *Cancer Research* 1994, *54*, 5527-5530.

[6] Finkelstein, S. D., Sayegh, R., Bakker, A., Swalsky, P., et al., Archives of Surgery 1993, *128*, 526-532.

[7] Breivik, J., Meling, G. I., Spurkland, A., Rognum, T. O., Gaudernack, G., *British Journal of Cancer* 1994, *69*, 367-371.

[8] Bos, J. L., Mutation Research 1988, 195, 255-271.

[9] Capella, G., Cronauermitra, S., Peinado, M. A., Perucho, M., *Environmental Health Perspectives* 1991, *93*, 125-131.

[10] Forrester, K., Almoguera, C., Han, K. Y., Grizzle, W. E., Perucho, M., *Nature* 1987, *327*, 298-303.

[11] Diehl, F., Li, M., Dressman, D., He, Y. P., et al., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2005, 102, 16368-16373.

[12] Gerry, N. P., Witowski, N. E., Day, J., Hammer, R. P., et al., Journal of Molecular Biology 1999, 292, 251-262.

[13] Khanna, M., Cao, W. G., Zirvi, M., Paty, P., Barany, F., *Clinical Biochemistry* 1999, *32*, 287-290.

[14] Wiedmann, M., Wilson, W. J., Czajka, J., Luo, J. Y., et al., Pcr-Methods and Applications 1994, 3, S51-S64.

[15] Barany, F., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 1991, 88, 189-193.

[16] Wei, Q., Barany, F., Wilson, V. L., *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 1992, 3, A22-A22.

[17] Day, D. J., Speiser, P. W., White, P. C., Barany, F., Genomics 1995, 29, 152-162.

[18] Luo, J. Y., Bergstrom, D. E., Barany, F., *Nucleic Acids Research* 1996, *24*, 3071-3078.

[19] Tong, J., Cao, W. G., Barany, F., Nucleic Acids Research 1999, 27, 788-794.

[20] Wabuyele, M. B., Farquar, H., Stryjewski, W., Hammer, R. P., et al., Journal of the American Chemical Society 2003, 125, 6937-6945.

[21] Hashimoto, M., Barany, F., Soper, S. A., *Biosensors & Bioelectronics* 2006, *21*, 1915-1923.

[22] Thomas, G., Sinville, R., Sutton, S., Farquar, H., et al., Electrophoresis 2004, 25, 1668-1677.

[23] Manz, A., Harrison, D. J., Verpoorte, E. M. J., Fettinger, J. C., et al., Journal of Chromatography 1992, 593, 253-258.

[24] Hashimoto, M., Hupert, M. L., Murphy, M. C., Soper, S. A., *et al.*, *Analytical Chemistry* 2005, *77*, 3243-3255.

[25] Liu, C. N., Toriello, N. M., Mathies, R. A., *Analytical Chemistry* 2006, *78*, 5474-5479.

[26] Harrison, D. J., Manz, A., Fan, Z. H., Ludi, H., Widmer, H. M., *Analytical Chemistry* 1992, *64*, 1926-1932.

[27] Soper, S. A., Ford, S. M., Qi, S., McCarley, R. L., et al., Analytical Chemistry 2000, 72, 642A-651A.

[28] Scherer, J. R., Paegel, B. M., Wedemayer, G. J., Emrich, C. A., *et al.*, *Biotechniques* 2001, *31*, 1150-+.

[29] Sinville, R., Soper, S. A., Journal of Separation Science 2007, 30, 1714-1728.

[30] Kan, C. W., Barron, A. E., *Electrophoresis* 2003, 24, 55-62.

[31] Vreeland, W. N., Desruisseaux, C., Karger, A. E., Drouin, G., et al., Analytical Chemistry 2001, 73, 1795-1803.

[32] Mayer, P., Slater, G. W., Drouin, G., Analytical Chemistry 1994, 66, 1777-1780.

[33] Ren, H., Karger, A. E., Oaks, F., Menchen, S., *et al.*, *Electrophoresis* 1999, *20*, 2501-2509.

[34] Vreeland, W. N., Meagher, R. J., Barron, A. E., *Analytical Chemistry* 2002, *74*, 4328-4333.

[35] Meagher, R. J., Coyne, J. A., Hestekin, C. N., Chiesl, T. N., *et al.*, *Analytical Chemistry* 2007, *79*, 1848-1854.

[36] Meagher, R. J., Won, J. I., McCormick, L. C., Nedelcu, S., et al., Electrophoresis 2005, 26, 331-350.

[37] Jen, J., Powell, S. M., Papadopoulos, N., Smith, K. J., et al., Cancer Research 1994, *54*, 5523-5526.

[38] Sidransky, D., Tokino, T., Hamilton, S. R., Kinzler, K. W., et al., Science 1992, 256, 102-105.

[39] Zuckermann, R. N., Kerr, J. M., Kent, S. B. H., Moos, W. H., *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1992, *114*, 10646-10647.

[40] Vreeland, W. N., Slater, G. W., Barron, A. E., *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2002, *13*, 663-670.

[41] Hupert, M. L., Guy, W. J., Llopis, S. D., Shadpour, H., et al., Microfluidics and Nanofluidics 2007, 3, 1-11.

[42] Zuborova, M., Demianova, Z., Kaniansky, D., Masar, M., Stanislawski, B., *Journal of Chromatography A* 2003, *990*, 179-188.

[43] Oliveira, C., Westra, J. L., Arango, D., Ollikainen, M., et al., Human Molecular Genetics 2004, 13, 2303-2311.

[44] Hashimoto, M., Barany, F., Xu, F., Soper, S. A., Analyst 2007, 132, 913-921.

Chapter 5: Evaluating Low Frequency p53 Mutations Using an Endo V Mutation Scanning Assay and Microchip Electrophoresis

5.1 Introduction

An accumulation of genetic mutations stemming either from inherited or somatic alterations are ultimately responsible for spawning most cancer-related diseases. Overall, approximately 90% of all cancers are attributed to somatic mutations, ~20% are the result of germline mutations and ~10% involve both types [1]. The Human Genome Project (HGP) has resulted in a rapid progression of the identification and characterization of many deleterious genetic alterations that can be associated with a variety of diseases, including cancer [2]. This information has provided insights into the structure and function of oncogenes and tumor suppressor (TS) genes both of which play a pivotal role in tumorigenesis. Oncogenes produce growth and signal transduction factors that promote cell growth and proliferation [3]. Meanwhile, active TS genes, which are often found deactivated in my cancer-related diseases, regulate cell growth and initiate apoptosis in cells that cannot be repaired, but under certain circumstances, deactivated TS genes can be reactivated [4, 5].

The multiple and overlapping frequencies of many mutations associated with particular cancers must be accurately mapped and evaluated in clinical settings to realize diagnostic and prognostic metrics using these biomarkers. For example, *K-ras* mutations in codons 12 and 13 occur in 80 – 90% of pancreatic cancer and 35 –50% of colorectal cancers [6-8]; single nucleotide polymorphisms in BRCA1 and BRCA2 present at low frequencies (1 – 5%) are linked to significantly higher risks of developing breast, ovarian or prostate cancers for certain ethnic groups [9]. A locus in chromosome region 15q25 encompassing several genes - including three that encode

[115]

nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits (CHRNA3, CHRNA4, and CHRNA5) – have been found to account for 14% of 1,989 lung cancer cases, which were assessed in a recent study [10]. The location of these mutations are well known and thus, can be analyzed using mutation detection assays, such as allele specific ligation [11], allele specific PCR [12] or allele-specific hybridization [13].

The presence or likelihood of developing cancer-related diseases have also been related to the frequency or occurrences of sporadic p53 (TS gene) mutations [14]. The challenge of evaluating these mutations is that they are often inundated by excess wild-type DNA in clinical samples at early stages of development and also, their locus is not defined [15]. For instance, frequencies of sporadic p53 mutations in exons 5 – 9 can be as low as one mutant per 1,000 wild-type (WT) sequences [16] and over 22,000 p53 mutations in different human cancers have been recorded and compiled in an accessible database [17].

Several methods have been developed to detect sporadic mutations including hybridization analysis using high-density oligonucleotide arrays [18], denaturing high-performance liquid chromatography (DHPLC) [19, 20], single strand conformational polymorphism (SSCP) [21], denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) [22], heteroduplex analysis (HA) [23] and dideoxy-sequencing [24]. Unfortunately, none of these methods have the combined ability to provide low level detection when the mutated DNA is in a large excess of WT DNA and also, pinpoint the exact location of the sporadic mutations. Although dideoxy-sequencing can detect any single nucleotide polymorphism and determine its location, the procedure is often time-consuming and lacks the necessary sensitivity to detect low abundant mutant DNA in large excesses of WT DNA.

[116]

An approach for determining the approximate location of sporadic polymorphisms even in the presence of large excesses of WT DNA is the use of enzymes, such as T4 Endonuclease VII to cleave mutational sites within double-stranded DNA [25, 26]. However, these methods generally suffer from miscleavages leading to false signals, which limit their usefulness.

Recently, a one-step mutation scanning assay has been reported (see Figure 5.1), which employs Thermotoga maritima Endonuclease V (Endo V). Endo V is a mutation nicking enzyme that clips a duplexed DNA molecule containing mismatched base pairs (*i.e.*, heteroduplexes). Unfortunately, Endo V can nick dsDNA at matched sites as well that can be subsequently repaired using AK16D Tag ligase, which reduces background signals from incorrect DNA cleavage events [27]. This particular Endo V primarily recognizes and cleaves heteroduplexed DNA one base from the 3'-end with respect to the mismatch. Combined with a ligase detection reaction (LDR) [28, 29] using the *Thermus* species AK16D thermostable ligase, which displays up to a 5-fold better discriminatory power compared to other ligases [30-32], this Endo V/LDR strategy has been shown to provide sensitivity of up to 1:50 (Mutant to WT DNA) for the scanning of sporadic p53 mutations. Furthermore, this strategy employs universal PCR amplification steps making it amenable to multiplexing [27]. The terminal step required in this Endo V/LDR assay is a high-resolution electrophoresis step that sizes the DNAs in their single-stranded form to determine the origin of the nicks induced by Endo V.

The technological trend towards miniaturizing electrophoretic platforms for DNA separations initiated during the HGP has impacted genetic analyses for clinical diagnostics/prognostics as well and has led to devices that provide high resolution

[117]

separations that are potentially faster, possess simple operational characteristics and have lower cost compared to conventional capillary electrophoresis.



Figure 5.1. Diagram illustrating the outcome of a successful Endo V/LDR treatment of dye-labeled, heteroduplexed substrates. PCR amplicons of known wild-type cell lines and mutagenic cell lines having high levels of sporadic mutations are cross-paired and heteroduplexed to form Endo V targets. Endo V preferentially nicks DNA one base 3' to the mismatch, but also generates nonspecific nicks with minor activity. DNA ligase is used either subsequently or concurrently with Endo V to reseal these background nicks.

In addition, these microchip electrophoresis devices can be integrated to upstream sample pre-processing steps to create fully automated systems for mutation analysis. Efforts have prompted the engineering of various high-throughput and highly integrated electrophoretic devices in glass and, most recently, a host of polymeric substrates, which are relatively inexpensive and conducive to a variety of high production-mode fabrication techniques making them appropriate for clinical application, which require one-time use devices to prevent false-positive signals arising from sample carryover [33-36].

Recently, mutation detection and scanning assays, which depend on an electrophoresis step for reading the results of the molecular assay, have been demonstrated. For example, mutation scanning assays that have been transitioned to microchip platforms include SSCP and HA [37-39]. Many of these reports emphasized numerous operational parameters, such as electrophoresis temperature and polymer matrix/denaturing additive concentrations that must be optimized to provide highly sensitive detection for mutational analyses possessing adequate resolution for detecting the target mutations [40-42].

Here we present adaptation of the highly sensitive Endo V/LDR mutation scanning assay onto a poly(methyl methacrylate), PMMA, microchip for separation of the generated products using high-resolution electrophoresis for sorting the single-stranded products generated. Comparisons of the separation performance for identifying sporadic p53 mutations via Endo V/LDR performed using conventional capillary gel electrophoresis and with polymer-based microchip gel electrophoresis will be evaluated. The goal of this work is to assess the ability of this mutation scanning assay to be transitioned to a microfluidic platform and its potential for detecting low-abundant sporadic mutations using microchip-based scanning methods.

5.2 Methods and Materials

5.2.1 Protocol for DNA Template Preparation

Genomic DNA was extracted from HT-29 and LoVo cell lines having known K-ras oncogenic expressions associated with the onset of colorectal cancer (ATCC, Manassas, VA) using a Qaigen DNeasy kit (Valencia, CA); the LoVo cell line contains wild-type p53 gene mutations and HT-29 cell lines contain exon 8 R273H ($G \rightarrow A$)

[119]

mutations. All of these epithelial cell lines were obtained from colorectal adenocarcinomas.

5.2.2 Protocol for Universal PCR Amplification

All primers used for Endo V/LDR were purchased from IDT (Coralville, IA) or LiCOR Biotechnologies (Lincoln, NE). Universal PCR reactions for amplification of p53 exon 8 gene fragments followed by universal primer amplification (50 mL) containing 20 mM Tricine, pH 8.7, 16 mM (NH4)₂SO₄, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM of dNTPs, 0.2 mM of each universal primer, 0.02 mM of each gene-specific primer, 5 U of AmpliTaq Gold DNA polymerase and 150 ng of genomic DNA (see Table 1 for primer sets).

Table 5.1. PCR primers used for universal gene amplifications

Gene	Exon	Primer name	Primer sequence
Univers	al	dye1UniEV1F	5' dye1CGCCGTCACGACACGAAAAC-3'
Univers	al	dye2UniEV2R	5' dye2CGCCGTCACGACACGAAACA-3'
Univers	al	p-UniEV1F	5'P-CGCCGTCACGACACGAAAAC-3'
Univers	al	p-UniEV2R	5'P-CGCCGTCACGACACGAAACA-3'
p53	exon 8	F173	5' CGTCACGACACGAAAACCAGGGTGGTTGGGAGTAGATG-3'
~		R174	5' CGTCACGACACGAAACAGGTGATAAAAGTGAATCTGAGGCATAAC-3'
		F=forward, R=	reverse, Uni= universal, p=phosphorylation

The first thermocycling conditions in the bi-level amplification for the genespecific template amplification were: 95°C for 10 min to activate AmpliTag Gold polymerase, followed by 20 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 65°C for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min. Secondly, the universal amplification cycling conditions were: 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min, followed by a final extension step at 72°C for 7 min. In the universal PCR reaction, the universal primer pair consisted of a forward dye1labeled dye2-labeled primer and reverse primer for the standard а

denaturation/renaturation procedure. The dye1 and dye2 designation represent different dye sets matching capillary array electrophoresis (CAE) and microchip detection systems; for CAE analyses, dye1 and dye2 were FAM (ex./em.= 492, 517 nm) and HEX (ex./em.= 538, 559 mn), while HEX and IRD-800 (ex./em.= 782, 812 nm) were used for the microchip system. In this procedure, PCR amplification used one labeled universal primer and one unlabeled universal primer (see Figure 5.2).

5.2.3 Preparation of Heteroduplexed DNA Substrates

For the denaturation/renaturation procedure required for heteroduplex formation for the Endo V phases of the assay, approximately equal ratios of dye1/dye2-labeled wild-type PCR amplicons were mixed with dye1/dye2-labeled mutant PCR amplicons in a 12 mL final volume (1500 ng total DNA). The wild-type control consisted of dye1/dye2-labeled wild-type DNA PCR products alone in a 12 mL final volume (1500 ng total DNA). The residual Taq DNA polymerase was inactivated by adding 1 mL of proteinase K (20 mg/mL) to each mixture and incubating at 65°C for 30 min, followed by a 10 min incubation at 80°C to deactivate the proteinase K. PCR mixtures were then heated at 95°C for 2 min, and gradually cooled to room temperature with a 0.2°C decrease in temperature every 15 s to 45°C, and finally with a 10 min incubation at 25°C to generate heteroduplexes as shown in Figure 5.2.

5.2.4 Endo V/ LDR Assay

A 6.5-µl volume of each denatured/renatured PCR mixture was incubated at 65°C for 2 h in a 20 µl volume reaction containing a reaction cocktail (80 mM Tricine pH 8.0, 5 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 5% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 1.5 M betain, 2% glycerol, with 500 nM Endo V, 6 nM Taq ligase (LDR repair enzyme) and 5 mM nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD), pH 8.5). Then, reactions were terminated

with the addition of EDTA to a 10 mM final concentration to inhibit any further Endo V cleavage activity. Using the given buffer conditions, both Endo V cleavage and LDR DNA repair of miscleavages via thermostable ligation were carried out simultaneously.



Figure 5.2. Schematic illustration of the universal PCR amplification, labeling and cross-pairing of wild-type LoVo and mutagenic HT-29 templates and the resulting homoduplex (control) and heteroduplex targets.

5.2.5 Microchip Fabrication

Microchips were fabricated using methods previously developed and reported in our group [33]. Briefly, the procedure involved machining a molding die by micro-milling raised microstructures onto a brass plate. These microstructures formed a separation channel with dimensions of 70 μ m (depth) x 30 μ m (width) that was 9.5 cm long with 0.5 cm intersecting side channels offset by 500 μ m, which provided a defined 105 pL volume for sample injection. These microstructures were embossed into PMMA plates (MSC, Melville, NY) using an embossing system consisting of a PHI Precision Press model number TS-21-H-C (4A)-5 (City of Industry, CA) and a vacuum chamber connected to the press to remove air (pressure, < 0.1 bar). The microchannel pattern was transferred into a PMMA plate at 155°C and 1000 lb for 4 min. After hotembossing, the press was opened and the polymer was cooled to room temperature. Reservoirs were added to the microchips by drilling 1.25 mm holes centered at the end of each channel. After an ethanol rinse and sonication in ddH_2O for debris removal, the final device was assembled by annealing a PMMA cover plate to the open face of the device by clamping between glass plates and heating to 107°C in a circulating air oven for 20 min.

5.2.6 Laser-induced Fluorescence (LIF) and High Voltage Control System

A laser-induced fluorescence (LIF) detection system was constructed in-house with an epi-illumination configuration. A diode 780 nm laser filtered with a band-limiting line filter (Thorlabs, Newton, NJ) was directed onto a dichroic mirror, which reflected the excitation beam through a 40x microscope objective (Newport, Fountain Valley, CA) into the microchannel, which was situated on an X-Y-Z micro-translational stage. The fluorescence emission was filtered through a filter stack and focused onto a single photon avalanche diode (model SPCM-AQR-12, Optoelectronics, Vaudreuil, Canada). The filter stack consisted of an 825 nm bandpass filter (Oriel, Stratford, CT) and an 800 nm long-pass filter (Edmund Scientific, Barrington, NJ). The LIF signals were acquired on a personal computer using a 32-bit counter/timer board (Model PCI-6601, National Instruments, Austin, TX).

A custom Lab-View program was used to control applied voltages for the microchip electrophoresis. The unit included three internal high voltage power supplies (EMCO, Sutter Creek, CA) capable of receiving inputs of 0 or +5 V from a DAC (digital-to-analog converter) outputs of a CYDDA 04P board (CyberResearch, New Haven, CT).

These power supplies were capable of delivering 0 to +2 kV to sample and waste reservoirs (EMCO Model C20, Sutter Creek, CA) and +0.3 to +5 kV to the anode reservoir (EMCO Model G50), all of which could be dynamically altered throughout the separation.

5.2.7 Capillary and Microchip Conditions for Endo V/LDR

Separations of the Endo V/LDR products were performed on an ABI 3730 (Applied Biosystems) using 36 cm (31 cm effective separation length) capillaries filled with POP7 gel (Applied Biosystems), which was used in conjunction with POP7 buffer. Samples were diluted 1 to 10 with HiDi formamide and 0.4 μ L of a Genescan size standard (Applied Biosystems), which were denatured at 95°C for 2 min (to ensure all duplexes were converted to single strand form) and electrokinetically loaded into the capillaries by applying 277 V/cm for 10 s and electrophoresed at 416 V/cm. For the microchip analysis, separations were performed at room temperature using microchannels filled with a 2.75% w/v sparsely cross-linked polyacrylamide suspended in 1x TTE (50 mM Tris, 50 mM TAPS, 2 mM EDTA) buffer containing 7 M urea following a rinse with 0.05% (w/v) methyl hydroxyethyl cellulose, MHEC (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Mo) to dynamically coat the PMMA channel walls for electroosmotic flow (EOF) suppression [43]. To generate a volume-defined injection plug, 347 V/cm was applied for 30 s from the sample reservoir (ground) to the waste reservoir (+ 3.5 kV). Electrophoresing of the sample was conducted using 125 V/cm, while adduction potentials of 345 and 276 V/cm were applied to sample and waste reservoirs, respectively, to prevent extraneous sample leakage into the separation channel.

5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 Universal PCR Products

As seen in the Figure 5.2, these pre-processing steps overall yield DNA duplexes bearing unique fluorescent labels in order to ascertain whether mutation products present were derived from the top or bottom strands. This universal labeling strategy was implemented to eliminate the need for obtaining (expensive) fluorescently-labeled primers for high throughput scanning over several target loci. In order to verify successful universal PCR amplification, all amplicons were separated on a 2% agarose gel and compared to a size standard as seen in Figure 5.3. From this image, a band intensity measurement relative to the weighted size standard was determined to quantify the total concentrations for each template in order to determine the relative yields of the denaturation/renaturation processes. This was required as high DNA concentrations (125 ng/µL) and very small decreases in annealing temperature (- 0.2 °C/min) are critical the generation of heteroduplexes. The DNA concentrations of the amplicons in lanes 2 - 5 were were ~150 ng/µL compared to the negative control samples containing no universal primers for secondary amplification, which were ~8 $ng/\mu L$.

5.3.2 Capillary Separations of Endo V/LDR Products

Prior to microchip analyses, separations of the Endo V/LDR products were conducted using a commercial ABI 3730 CAE system to ensure the reactions were successful and to provide a comparison of the microchip electrophoresis to previous results using capillary array electrophoresis [27]. Figure 5.4 shows the presence of p53 mutations due to the observance of ssDNA bands appearing at 158 and 194 bases when referenced against the DNA sizing ladder (see Figure 5.4), which have been confirmed via DNA sequencing [44]. As depicted in Figure 5.4, the panel on the right is a simplified band representation of all of the peaks generated from each of the six electropherograms, which was produced using customized software. As a simplified representation of the multi-channel output from the CAE system, a band representation of the CAE electropherogram is shown in the left panel of Figure 5.4 and it was used to



Figure 5.3. A 2% agarose gel/1x TBE running buffer separation verifying the generation of 350 bp universal amplicons of wild-type and mutagenic targets to be heteroduplexed. Separation was conducted with a 10 V/cm field strength and DNA was stained with ethidium bromide.

evaluate treated samples for the presence of mutations within the amplicons from either the top or bottom strands of the heteroduplexes according to their unique fluorescent labels. The third set of bands (orange) of relatively low intensity in each lane represents an internal size standard against which the DNA lengths present were referenced. The Endo V treated samples in lanes 1 - 3 showed elevated levels of sample cleavage
resulting in several bands that were <110 bp in size, which were a mixture of primers and miscleaved products. However, lanes 4 – 6, which were treated with both Endo V and an LDR, showed a significant reduction in false signal bands generated from Endo V cleavage events arising from cleavage at fully matched sites. Also, no product bands were present in the wild-types controls samples as expected (see lanes 1 and 4 in Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4. Capillary electrophoretic separations of Endo V and Endo V/LDR treated DNA samples. Heteroduplexed mixtures of wild-type and mutant DNA amplicons from LoVo and HT-29 cell lines, respectively, were incubated in the optimized reaction cocktail conditions, which included a 2 h Endo V reaction at 65°C.

5.3.3 Microchip Separation of 32 Component Size Standard

In order to determine the ability to generate sufficient plate numbers and resolution for the Endo V/LDR products required for this mutation scanning assay, which range in size from 100 bp to 350 bp, we optimized the microchip separation

conditions using a 600 bp sizing ladder composed of 32 single stranded DNAs as a reference. As shown in the electropherogram in Figure 5.5, a PMMA microchip filled with a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel [45] suspended in 1x TTE and 7 M urea following a channel flush with 0.05% (w/v) MHEC (for EOF suppression) was capable of providing near baseline resolution for all 32 components of this 600 bp sizing ladder having 5, 10 and 20 bp differences in size. This sparsely cross-linked linear polyacrylamide (LPA) was



Figure 5.5. PMMA microchip separation of a 32 component Beckman 600 bp size standard. The separation was performed using a 2.75% w/v nanogel constituted in 1x TTE, 7 M urea buffer with a separation voltage of 125 V/cm at a detection length of 6.0 cm.

reportedly synthesized by incorporating a low percentage (~10⁻⁴ mol %) of *N*, *N*methylene bisacrylamide (Bis) cross-linker in high-molar mass LPA, which generates localized cross-linking whereby ~75% of the polymer chains in the nanogel incorporate at least one point of cross-linking.and allows LPA to remain fluid [45]. We found this nanogel matrix provided ~18% greater resolution than a 4% LPA matrix prepared with the same buffer constituents, which was determined by the differences in the respective resolutions between 100/110, 300/320 and 580/600 bp markers of size standard separations. The PMMA microchip separations were conducted at field strength of 125 V/cm with sample adduction fields of 345 and 276 V/cm and an effective column length of 6.0 cm. The high resolution generated for this size standard separation using the PMMA microchip with the nanogel matrix was therefore considered to be a viable combination for the sorting of cleaved, miscleaved and uncleaved DNA fragments within the Endo V and Endo V/LDR treated samples.

5.3.4 Microchip Separation of Endo V/LDR Products

The described LIF system used in conjunction with the microfluidic chip was capable of only single color detection. Therefore, only one of the two labeled mutations (dye1-labeled 194 bp product) was analyzed in this assessment. Figure 5.6 shows the separation results of a negative control, which consisted of 1:5 mutant and wild-type p53 exon 8 sequences from HT-29 and LoVo cell lines, respectively. Here, no Endo V enzyme was added during the final treatment incubation. This microchip separation as well as the Endo V and Endo V/LDR separations were also performed using a 2.75% (w/v) nanogel constituted in 1x TTE, 7 M urea buffer with a separation voltage of 125 V/cm at a detection length of 6.0 cm. Upon separation development, the only visible components in the sample were residual fluorescently-labeled PCR primers remaining

after the PCR amplification and the 350 bp heteroduplexed PCR amplicons, which were in the single-strand form via denaturation with formamide prior to performing the separation. This Endo V control microchip and was completed within 6 min comparable to the same separation performed on the CAE system (data not shown). Thus, all other peak fragments present in the Endo V treated samples upon microchip sorting were attributed to Endo V activity.



Figure 5.6. PMMA microchip separation of a negative control sample, which was not subjected to Endo V treatment. Electrophoretic run conditions were the same as those given in Figure 5.5.

As seen in Figure 5.7, the microchip separation of an Endo V treated 1:5 mutB/wtA sample using the same conditions given in Figure 5.5 reveals that several fragments of wtA/mutB heteroduplex, which were not present in the negative control PMMA microchip separation. Upon evaluation of the separations, most of the miscleavages resulted in several partially resolved fragments ranging from the excess primer peaks used for the universal amplicon generation (~20 bases) to approximately 110 bases. Therefore, these peaks represented false signals due to non-specific cleavage as measured against the size standard separation, which were similar to those observed in the CAE separations (see lanes 4 - 6 of Figure 5.4). As seen, the resulting microchip Endo V separations were in agreement with the elevated presence of amplicon fragmentation just prior to the 158 and 194 base mutation products of the Endo V separations performed on the CAE system. Interestingly, the microchip efficiencies of the Endo V separations were relatively low (N = 1.42×10^5 plates/m) in comparison to that obtained in the microchip separation of the size standard (N = 1.2 x10⁶ plates/m), which was determined by measuring a peak in both electropherograms located at approximately 300 s. This could possibly be attributed to high levels of miscleaved fragments of the same approximate size, which may have co-migrated as higher efficiencies of the Endo V sample peaks in the CAE separations (*i.e.*, N \ge 7.0 x 10⁶) were measured. The low sample recovery following the desalting sample prior to analysis on the microchip could also be a factor. The peak present at T_m = 304 s was determined to be the 194 base mutation product upon comparison to the size standard, which has a 200 bp marker at T_m= 298 s. This microchip separation was completed within 6 min compared to the CAE system, in which the analysis time was approximately 1 h.



Figure 5.7. PMMA microchip separation of a wtA/mutB Endo V treated heteroduplex. Run conditions were the same as given in Figure 5.5.

The separation of a 1:5 mutB/wtA sample treated with both Endo V and a concurrent LDR is shown in Figure 5.8. As observed in the parallel CAE separations, fewer peaks generated via miscleavages from Endo V activity were present after the LDR repair treatment, which suppressed several spurious signals in the 100 – 110 bp range preceding the expected product location at 194 bp. The peak profile for this microchip analysis was also similar to the CAE separations of Endo V/LDR treated samples (see lanes 1 – 3 of Figure 5.4). Upon comparison to the 600 bp size standard, it was determined that the pronounced peak present following LDR resealing having a migration time of 290 s was the 194 bp mutation product as it was within close proximity ($\Delta t_m = 8$ s) to the 200 bp marker. The efficiency for the 194 bp product peak was 2.91 x [132]

10⁵ plates/m, which was slightly greater than that of the same product detected in the Endo V only treated sample. Upon the completion of a two-color LIF system, the size standard will be internalized in the same separation to further validate the Endo V product identities. The relative differences in overall signal intensities of these microchip electropherograms were also attributed in part to low sample recovery efficiencies following a desalting procedure.



Figure 5.8. PMMA microchip separation of a wtA/mutB Endo V/LDR treated heteroduplex. Upon LDR treatment, the 194 bp p53 mutation product is observed. Run conditions were the same as given in Figure 5.5.

5.4 Conclusions

The PMMA microchip separation of sporadic p53 mutations interrogated using a novel, dual-enzyme Endo V/LDR assay provided some interesting results when

compared to CAE analysis of these sporadic mutations. The preliminary results suggest that Endo V/LDR products could be successfully separated and detected on the PMMA microfluidic filled with a sparsely cross-linked replaceable polyacrylamide in solution in less than 6 minutes, which was approximately a tenth of the development time of the 1 h CAE performance. Comparing the Endo V negative control, Endo V and Endo V/LDR sample separations, characteristics of Endo V cleavage and the subsequent clean-up of spurious false signals were observed in microchip separations, which were similar to that obtained with CAE separations. A two-color LIF system is currently being devised to allow the full two-color read-out of the existing multiplex assay. Also, front-end sample processing including the universal PCR and heteroduplexing of target DNAs could be integrated on-chip reduce the ~5 h sample preparation time presently required.

5.5 References

[1] Futreal, P. A., Coin, L., Marshall, M., Down, T., *et al.*, *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2004, *4*, 177-183.

[2] Sachidanandam, R., Weissman, D., Schmidt, S. C., Kakol, J. M., et al., Nature 2001, 409, 928-933.

[3] Cantley, L. C., Auger, K. R., Carpenter, C., Duckworth, B., et al., Cell 1991, 64, 281-302.

[4] Hietanen, S., Lain, S., Krausz, E., Blattner, C., Lane, D. P., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2000, *97*, 8501-8506.

[5] Weinberg, R. A., *Science* 1991, *254*, 1138-1146.

[6] Motojima, K., Urano, T., Nagata, Y., Shiku, H., et al., Am. J. Gastroenterol. 1991, 86, 1784-1788.

[7] Dieterle, C. P., Conzelmann, M., Linnemann, U., Berger, M. R., *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2004, *10*, 641-650.

[8] Anker, P., Lefort, F., Vasioukhin, V., Lyautey, J., et al., Gastroenterology 1997, 112, 1114-1120.

[9] Struewing, J. P., Hartge, P., Wacholder, S., Baker, S. M., et al., N. Engl. J. Med. 1997, 336, 1401-1408.

[10] Hung, R. J., McKay, J. D., Gaborieau, V., Boffetta, P., et al., Nature 2008, 452, 633-637.

[11] Wu, D. Y., Ugozzoli, L., Pal, B. K., Wallace, R. B., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1989, *86*, 2757-2760.

[12] Russom, A., Ahmadian, A., Andersson, H., Nilsson, P., Stemme, G., *Electrophoresis* 2003, *24*, 158-161.

[13] Conner, B. J., Reyes, A. A., Morin, C., Itakura, K., et al., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America-Biological Sciences 1983, 80, 278-282.

[14] Phillips, K. A., Nichol, K., Ozcelik, H., Knight, J., et al., J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1999, 91, 469-473.

[15] Soussi, T., Dehouche, K., Beroud, C., Human Mutation 2000, 15, 105-113.

[16] Ekstrom, P. O., Borresen-Dayle, A. L., Qvist, H., Giercksky, K. E., Thilly, W. G., *Biotechniques* 1999, *27*, 128-+.

[17] Hamroun, D., Kato, S., Ishioka, C., Claustres, M., et al., Human Mutation 2006, 27, 14-20.

[18] Hacia, J. G., Fan, J. B., Ryder, O., Jin, L., et al., Nat. Genet. 1999, 22, 164-167.

[19] Schaeffeler, E., Lang, T., Zanger, U. M., Eichelbaum, M., Schwab, M., *Clin. Chem.* 2001, *47*, 548-555.

[20] Liu, W. G., Smith, D. I., Rechtzigel, K. J., Thibodeau, S. N., James, C. D., *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1998, *26*, 1396-1400.

[21] Glavac, D., Dean, M., Hum. Mutat. 1993, 2, 404-414.

[22] Fodde, R., Losekoot, M., Hum. Mutat. 1994, 3, 83-94.

[23] Nataraj, A. J., Olivos-Glander, I., Kusukawa, N., Highsmith, W. E., *Electrophoresis* 1999, *20*, 1177-1185.

[24] Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., Coulson, A. R., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 1977, 74, 5463-5467.

[25] Haris, II, Green, P. M., Bentley, D. R., Giannelli, F., *Pcr-Methods and Applications* 1994, *3*, 268-271.

[26] Youil, R., Kemper, B. W., Cotton, R. G. H., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 1995, *92*, 87-91.

[27] Pincas, H., Pingle, M. R., Huang, J. M., Lao, K. Q., et al., Nucleic Acids Research 2004, 32.

[28] Khanna, M., Cao, W. G., Zirvi, M., Paty, P., Barany, F., *Clinical Biochemistry* 1999, *32*, 287-290.

[29] Barany, F., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 1991, *88*, 189-193.

[30] Tong, J., Cao, W. G., Barany, F., *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1999, 27, 788-794.

[31] Huang, J. M., Kirk, B., Favis, R., Soussi, T., et al., Oncogene 2002, 21, 1909-1921.

[32] Huang, J. M., Lu, J., Barany, F., Cao, W. G., *Biochemistry (Mosc.)* 2002, *41*, 8342-8350.

[33] Hupert, M. L., Guy, W. J., Llopis, S. D., Shadpour, H., et al., Microfluidics and Nanofluidics 2007, 3, 1-11.

[34] Aborn, J. H., El-Difrawy, S. A., Novotny, M., Gismondi, E. A., *et al.*, *Lab on a Chip* 2005, *5*, 669-674.

[35] Blazej, R. G., Kumaresan, P., Mathies, R. A., *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2006, *103*, 7240-7245.

[36] Sinville, R., Soper, S. A., Journal of Separation Science 2007, 30, 1714-1728.

[37] Tian, H. J., Jaquins-Gerstl, A., Munro, N., Trucco, M., et al., Genomics 2000, 63, 25-34.

[38] Tian, H. J., Brody, L. C., Landers, J. P., *Genome Research* 2000, *10*, 1403-1413.

[39] Schmalzing, D., Adourian, A., Koutny, L., Ziaugra, L., et al., Anal. Chem. 1998, 70, 2303-2310.

[40] Hestekin, C. N., Jakupciak, J. P., Chiesl, T. N., Kan, C. W., et al., Electrophoresis 2006, 27, 3823-3835.

[41] Vahedi, G., Kaler, C., Backhouse, C. J., *Electrophoresis* 2004, 25, 2346-2356.

[42] Endo, Y., Zhang, L., Katashima, R., Itakura, M., et al., Electrophoresis 2005, 26, 3380-3386.

[43] Zuborova, M., Demianova, Z., Kaniansky, D., Masar, M., Stanislawski, B., *Journal of Chromatography A* 2003, *990*, 179-188.

[44] Cavalier, M. E., Davis, M. M., Croop, J. M., Journal of Pediatric Hematology Oncology 2005, 27, 441-443.

[45] Doherty, E. A. S., Kan, C. W., Paegel, B. M., Yeung, S. H. I., et al., Analytical Chemistry 2004, 76, 5249-5256.

Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Work

6.1 Conclusions

The ever growing understanding of DNA and its linkage to disease development has demanded vast improvements in genotyping technology. The abundance of DNA processing necessary to further this base of knowledge has far out-paced antiquated slab gel systems and even the capillary array systems, which greatly aided in the completion of the sequencing of the human genome. Undoubtedly, the current miniaturization of electrophoretic platforms represents the future of DNA processing technology. It is expected that the development of polymer microchip separations for DNA analyses presented in the preceding chapters will be a significant contribution in the advancement of genotyping technology.

The evolution of genotyping platforms was alluded to in Chapter 1. The fundamentals of DNA structure/composition and processing including DNA replication (PCR) and genotyping methods as well as the electrophoresis and fluorescence detection of DNA were introduced.

The current and noteworthy genotyping accomplishments using microchips as electrophoretic platforms were discussed in Chapter 2. This chapter expanded in depth on the growing field of miniaturized separation devices for mutation screening and scanning, forensics and sequencing applications. Highlighted in this chapter were the myriad of genetic conditions currently being investigated using microfluidics and trends of the increasing utilization of polymer substrates for the development of planar microelectrophoretic platforms. In addition, microchip devices featuring high throughput

[138]

architectures and unprecedented levels of integration for front-end sample manipulation allowing complete lab-on-a-chip processing of DNA samples were reviewed.

Polymer microchip sorting of mutation products derived from a novel LDR assay was premiered in Chapter 3. Although widespread utilization of this Taq ligase-based genotyping technique was evident in the scientific literature since its inception in 1991, no microchip sorting adaptations of LDR products, including polymer and glass substrates, had previously been demonstrated. Recognizing the potential value of this genotyping method on a miniaturized electrophoretic platform, a productive collaboration with the research group of Francis Barany at Weill Medical College of Cornell University was forged leading to the initial polymer microchip separations of LDR products. Evaluating a host of polymer solutions, a 4% LPA solution was found favorable in providing high efficiency separations for an individual LDR product from its reaction constituents with adequate resolution in the small fragment size range of interest in as little as 120 s, nearly 17-times faster than capillary gel formats. In addition, sample processing prior to the electrophoresis was simplified by eliminating the need of desalting using ethanol precipitation or other similar techniques. Later, it was demonstrated that two simultaneously generated LDR products of a 1 to 100 low abundance mutation ratio could be effectively resolved on the same microchip using a sparsely cross-linked, low viscosity solution in approximately 4.5 min.

Directly stemming from the challenges presented in adapting the separation of relatively small LDR products onto a polymer microfluidic, a novel strategy of separating LDR primers in free solution was developed as described in Chapter 4. In collaboration with the Barron Research Group of Stanford University, LDR and ELFSE were merged

[139]

for the first time by redesigning LDR primers to allow attachment of molecularlyengineered set of polyamide drag-tags, which imparted unique frictional forces on DNAs having essentially the same size. Following the development of reaction conditions amenable for both drag-tag and LDR constituent fidelities, free solution electrophoresis cross injection and separation conditions were developed and optimized to sort LDR-dt products on PMMA microchips. Although the single base size differences of these LDR products were miniscule in terms of relative electrophoretic mobility for small DNA fragments, baseline resolutions were achieved for four clinically relevant colorectal cancer mutations. Low abundance mutation detection levels of 1 in 100 DNA molecules and simultaneous detection of multiple (four) mutations were achieved. Implementation of this free solution separation mechanism, LDR analysis times reached a new low of approximately 85 s using a PMMA microfluidic, improving upon the rapid 2 min analysis times achieved using the same PMMA microchip filled with a host of polymer solutions.

With the understanding gained from previous studies evaluating gel matrices for DNA separations on polymer microchips, the microchip separation adaptation for mutation products of a novel Endo V/LDR mutation scanning technique was initiated as presented in Chapter 6. Combined with LDR resealing of spurious DNA clipping, Endo V mutation cleavage provided an effective means of detecting unknown mutations occurring sporadically with high frequency within tumor suppressor genes. Given its effectiveness, it was found appealing to bolster the processing efficiency of the technique as the size of Endo V/LDR products fell within a suitable range (> 100 bp) favorable for microchip separations. Preliminary results indicate that microchip separations allow discrimination of Endo V-treated DNA samples from Endo V/LDR-

[140]

treated DNA samples as the latter shows fewer peaks, which could be directly attributed to Endo V cleavage and the subsequent resealing of DNA targets. Upon full optimization of the separation parameters in conjunction with the completion of a twocolor LIF system, we expect to dramatically reduce the mutation product separation performance by at least a factor of ten as observed in the preliminary data.

6.2 Future Work

As alluded to throughout this dissertation, the next critical step necessary to realize the promise of transitioning DNA separations onto a miniaturized planar platform is the integration of DNA sample preparatory processes onto the same wafer. Such studies have already begun by coworkers within the Soper Research Group for frontend LDR thermal cycling using a miniaturized continuous flow device. To date, only onchip microarray or off-line CE-LIF detection strategies have been implemented to complement this process. Up until now, the major bottleneck constraining the post reaction electrophoretic sorting of LDR products has been the incompatibility of viscous polymer solutions within the continuous flow system. With the development of LDR-FSCE in hand, seamless on-chip integrated post reaction separations of LDR-dt products should now be implemented with relative ease. In addition, high throughput format separations employing multichannel devices will be pursued in conjunction with LDR-FSCE since no viscous polymer solutions, which currently influence the choice of channel geometries, will be necessary for separations. Upon the receipt of a larger set of polyamide drag-tags, a multiplexed LDR assessment for the entire panel of 19 known K-ras mutations will be conducted. This strategy will be employed for other mutation groups having a high association with other forms of cancer developments as well. This

work will continue until µTAS units for the rapid and cost effective clinical testing of DNA samples are fully developed.

Polymer microchips separations of Endo V/LDR mutation products will continue to be investigated. Upon the completion of a two-color LIF system, which is currently being devised, Endo V/LDR products separations on this platform will be amenable to two-color read-out as intended with the design of the assay. Once Endo V/LDR separations are optimized on this microfluidic domain, front-end sample processing including the universal PCR and heteroduplexing of target DNAs could be integrated onchip in a similar continuous flow setup as currently developed for LDR to reduce the ~5 h sample preparation time presently required.

Appendix A: References Displayed within Table 1.1

References

- Ref. 12 [1]
- Ref. 14 [2]
- Ref. 39 [3]
- Ref. 13 [4]
- Ref. 10 [5]
- Ref. 8 [6]

Ref. 11 [7]

[1] Bashkin, J., Marsh, M., Barker, D., Johnston, R., *Applied and Theoretical Electrophoresis* 1996, *6*, 23-28.

[2] Grossman, P. D., Journal of Chromatography A 1994, 663, 219-227.

[3] Wu, C. H., Quesada, M. A., Schneider, D. K., Farinato, R., *et al.*, *Electrophoresis* 1996, *17*, 1103-1109.

[4] Carrilho, E., RuizMartinez, M. C., Berka, J., Smirnov, I., et al., Analytical Chemistry 1996, 68, 3305-3313.

[5] Manabe, T., Chen, N., Terabe, S., Yohda, M., Endo, I., *Analytical Chemistry* 1994, 66, 4243-4252.

[6] Menchen, S., Johnson, B., Winnik, M. A., Xu, B., *Electrophoresis* 1996, *17*, 1451-1459.

[7] Fung, E. N., Yeung, E. S., Analytical Chemistry 1995, 67, 1913-1919.

Appendix B: Permissions

85/82/2000	TA-AP TUR	2027768112			@ 001/001
	8 15:48	2255783458		LSU CHEMISTRY	RECEIVED
3.12		PER	MISSION R	EQUEST FORM	1/01
		10000			JUN - 4 2008
Date	:_June 2, 2	008	TOF		ACS COPVRIGHT OFFICE
Const To	Copyright	Office	-Erem	_Rondedrick Sinville	ACC CONTINUENT OF TOE
PAPAGE PO.	Publications Division American Chemical Society	ns Division		Louisiana State Un	WERKLY
			Department of Che	mistry	
	Washingt	on, DC 20036	Your P Your P	hone No225-806-2 fax No225-578-3	158 158
	FAX: 20	2-776-8112			
I ar RE EN PO	n preparing VOLUTIO ZYME-BA NYMERIC	a paper entitled: NIZING GENOMIC SED ASSAYS WITT MICROFLUIDIC D	ANALYSE H LASER-D EVICES AS	S: MUTATION ANA NDUCED FLUORES S ELECTROPHOREJ	LYSIS UBING NOVEL CENCE AND IC PLATFORMS
to ent	appear in a titled: Elec	(circle one) book, m tronic Thesis and Dir	agazine, jour spertation Li	mal, proceedings other brary	dissertation library
to I v	be published would appro- igh the under at this perm	ciate your permission rstanding that the rec tission is for only the	n to use the i puired ACS o requested w	following ACS materia copyright credit line w ork listed above:	d in priot and other formats ill appear with each item and
F	rom ACS j	ournals or magazine tion Title Issue Date	es (for ACS Vol. 1	magazines, also inclut <u>Vo. Page(s) M</u>	e issue no.): aterial to be used *
F A A	rom ACS j CS Publica nelytical Cl	ournals or magazia tio <u>n Title Issue Date</u> remistry 2005	er (for ACS <u>Vol</u> 1 15	magazines, also incluz <u>No. Page(8) M</u> 75 p. 3704 – 3711	le issue no.): aterial to be used* Figure 1b and 2a
Г А А - - - 1 1	rom ACS j <u>CS Publica</u> nalytical Cl From ACS name(s), ch	ournals or magazin tion Title Issue Date nemistry 2005 books: include ACS apter author's name(s	es (for ACS <u>Vol.</u> 1 15 book title, s), and materi	magazines, also includ <u>No. Page(s) M</u> 75 p. 3704 – 3711 series name and number ial to be used, such as	te issue no.): <u>aterial to be used</u> * Figure 1b and 2a r, year, page(s), book editor=s Figs. 2 & 3, full text, etc.*
F A - - 1 1	rom ACS j <u>CS Publica</u> Analytical Cl From ACS name(s), ch	ournals or magazin tion Title Issue Date hemistry 2005 books: include ACS apter author's name(s	es (for ACS <u>Vol.</u> 1 15 book title, s), and materi	magazines, also includ <u> <u> <u> </u> <u> </u></u></u>	te issue no.): <u>aterial to be used</u> * Figure 1b and 2a r, year, page(s), book editor=s Figs. 2 & 3, full text, etc.*

From: "PNAS Permissions" <PNASPermissions@nas.edu> To: "Rondedrick Sinville" <rsinvi1@lsu.edu> CC: Subject: RE: Permission Request to Reprint PNAS Material Date: Wednesday, June 04, 2008 3:14:04 PM

Dear Dr. Sinville,

Permission is granted for your use of the figures as described in your message below. Please cite the full journal references and "Copyright (copyright year) National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A."

Best regards,

Ariana Raveica for

Diane Sullenberger

Executive Editor

PNAS

From: Rondedrick [mailto:rsinvi1@lsu.edu] Sent: Monday, June 02, 2008 10:56 AM To: PNAS Permissions Subject: Permission Request to Reprint PNAS Material

Dear Permissions Editor,

Attached is a word document formally requesting the right to reprint PNAS material.

I have, to the best of my knowledge, given all necessary information as detailed on your

website. If this form of correspondence in not acceptable, please let me know.

Thanks.

Permission Request to Reprint PNAS-Copyrighted Material

Date: 06/02/08

To:

From

PNAS Permissions Editor 500 Fifth Street NW NAS 340 Washington, DC 20001 Phone 202-334-2739 Rondedrick Sinville Louisiana State University Department of Chemistry 232 Choppin Hall Baton Rouge, LA 70803

I am preparing my dissertation for publication entitled: REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSIS USING NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERIC MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS.

I would appreciate your permission to use the following PNAS material in print and other formats with the understanding that the required PNAS copyright credit line will appear with each item and that this permission is for only the requested work listed above.

 Robert G. Blazej, Palani Kumaresan, and Richard A. Mathies (2006). Microfabricated bioprocessor for integrated nanoliter-scale Sanger DNA sequencing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103(19): 7240-7245.

Figure 2a (p. 7241) and Figure 4 (p. 7243).

Sincerely,

Rondedrick Sinville

13/08 2008 08:31 FAX 01223423623 To: Dr Sinville No: 001 225 578 3458

RSC Advancing the Chemical Sciences

Permission Request Form for RSC Material

To request permission to use material from a publication published by The Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC), please complete and return this form.

To	Contracts & Copyright Department		From:	Name	Rondedrick Sinville
	Thoma	oyal Society of Chemistry 18 Graham House		Address	LSU Chemistry
	Science Park Milton Road			- 39922531198	232 Choppin Hall
	UK	idge CB4 0WF			Baton Rouge LA 70803
	Tel	+44 (0)1223 432134		Tel	225-578-7709
	Fax	→44 (0)1223 423823		Fax	225-578-3458
	Email	contracts-copyright@rsc.org		Email	rsinvi1過lsu.edu

I am proparing the following work for publication:

REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSIS USING	
Rondedrick Sinville	
Electronic Dissertation at Louisiana State University Library	

I would very much appreciate your permission to use the following material:

Journal/Book Title	Leb on a Chip		
Editor/Author(s)	Buch, J.S., Rosenberger, F., et. al. 5 2005 Figure 2 392 - 400		
Volume Number			
Year of Publication			
Description of Material			
Page(s)			
I will acknowledge the original source as follows (to be supplied by the RSC on signature) and in each electronic version of my publication I will include a hyperlink to the article on the Royal Society of Chemistry website;		for a second of the following style for a second of the Reproduced by performed of The Royal Society of Chemistry	
Signod:		Date:	

The Royal Society of Chemistry hereby grants permission for the use of the material specified above in the work described and in all subsequent editions of the work for distribution throughout the work, in all subsequent editions of the work for distribution throughout the work, in all electronic and information retrieval systems, grant permissions for photocopying, reproductions and reprints, translate the material and to publish the transistion, and authorise document delivery and abstracting and indexing services. Please note that if the material specified above or any part of it approximately account of the reproductions document delivery and abstracting and indexing services. Please note that if the material specified above or any part of it approximately before reproducing that material. The Royal Society of Chemistry is a signatory to the STM Guidelines on Permissions favalitable on request. Guidelines on Permissions (available on request).

Signed:

Gue Cockhed Date: 13/6/08

From: "VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES" <RIGHTS-and-LICENCES@wiley-vch.de> To: rsinvi1@lsu.edu CC: Subject: Antwort: Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form Date: Tuesday, June 03, 2008 8:20:54 AM

Dear Customer,

Thank you for your email.

We hereby grant permission for the requested use expected that due cre is given to the original source. For material published before 2006 additionally: Please note that the author's permission is also required.

If material appears within our work with credit to another source, authorisation from that source must be obtained.

Credit must include the following components: - Books: Author(s) / Editor(s) Name(s): Title of the Book. Page(s). Publication year. Copyright Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Reprodu with permission.

- Journals: Author(s) Name(s): Title of the Article. Name of the Journ Publication year. Volume. Page(s). Copyright Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & KGaA. Reproduced with permission.

With kind regards

Germany

Phone: +49 (0) 62 01- 606 - 280 Fax: +49 (0) 62 01 - 606 - 332 Email: <u>rights@wiley-vch.de</u>

Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA Location of the Company: Weinheim Chairman of the Supervisory Board: Stephen Michael Smith Trade Register: Mannheim, HRB 432833 General Partner: John Wiley & Sons GmbH, Location: Weinheim Trade Register Mannheim, HRB 432296 Managing Directors : Christopher J. Dicks, Bijan Ghawami, William Pesc

Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hobok en/Wiley

03.06.2008 15:15

VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES/VCH/W Wiley

Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form

Brad Johnson, Permissions Assistant Ì John Wiley & Sons Inc. Ì 111 Riv St. Ì Hoboken, NJ 07030 Ì Mail Stop: 4-006B (4-02) Ì Ph: 201-748-6786 Fax: 201-748.6008 Ì <u>bjohns@wiley.com</u>

Visit our website <www.wiley.com/go/permissions> for permissions information ----- Forwarded by Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hoboken/Wiley on 06/03/2008 09: -----

<pre>republication@wi lev.com></pre>	
<republication@wiley.com< td=""><td>n></td></republication@wiley.com<>	n>
06/02/2008 12:09	-
PM	
	Su
Republication/Electroni	c Reque
Please respond to Form republication	
<republication@wi< td=""><td></td></republication@wi<>	
ley.com>	

A01 First Name: Rondedrick A02 Last Name: Sinville A03 Company Name: Louisiana State University A04 Address: Choppin Hall Rm. 232 A05 City: Baton Rouge A06 State: LA A07 Zip: 70803 A08 Country: USA A09 Contact Phone Number: 2258062194 A10 Fax: 2255783458 All Emails: rsinvil@lsu.edu A12 Reference: A13 Book Title: Electrophoresis A40 Book or Journal: Journal A14 Book Author: A15 Book ISBN: A16 Journal Month: June A17 Journal Year: 2004 A18_Journal_Volume: 25 A19 Journal Issue Number: 10-11 A20 Copy Pages: p. 1680, Figure 2a, b A21 Maximum Copies: indefinitely A22 Your Publisher: Louisiana State University A23 Your Title: REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSIS US NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERI MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS A24 Publication Date: 09-01-2008 A25 Format: Intranet A31_Print_Run_Size: A41 Ebook Reader Type: A26 If WWW URL: A27 If WWW From Adopted Book: A28 If WWW Password Access: No A45 WWW Users: A29 If WWW Material Posted From: A30 If WWW Material_Posted_To: A42 If Intranet URL: www.etd.lsu.edu A32 If Intranet From Adopted Book: A33 If Intranet Password Access: Yes A48_Intranet_Users: campus body A34 If Intranet Material Posted From: 09-01-2008 A35 If Intranet Material Posted To: open A36 If Software Print Run: A37 Comments For Request:

Managing Directors : Christopher J. Dicks, Bijan Ghawami, William Pesc

Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hobok en/Wiley

03.06.2008 15:16

VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES/VCH/W Wiley

Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form

Brad Johnson, Permissions Assistant Ì John Wiley & Sons Inc. Ì 111 Riv St. Ì Hoboken, NJ 07030 Ì Mail Stop: 4-006B (4-02) Ì Ph: 201-748-6786 Fax: 201-748.6008 Ì bjohns@wiley.com

Visit our website <www.wiley.com/go/permissions> for permissions information ----- Forwarded by Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hoboken/Wiley on 06/03/2008 09: -----

republication
<republication@wi
ley.com>

06/02/2008 12:10 PM <republication@wiley.com>

Su Republication/Electronic Reque Form

Please respond to republication <republication@wi ley.com>

A01 First Name: Rondedrick A02 Last Name: Sinville A03 Company Name: Louisiana State University A04 Address: Choppin Hall Rm. 232 A05 City: Baton Rouge A06 State: LA A07 Zip: 70803 A08 Country: USA A09 Contact Phone Number: 2258062194 A10 Fax: 2255783458 All Emails: rsinvil@lsu.edu A12 Reference: A13 Book Title: Electrophoresis A40 Book or Journal: Journal A14 Book Author: A15 Book ISBN: A16 Journal Month: December A17 Journal Year: 2005 A18 Journal Volume: 26 A19 Journal Issue Number: 24 A20 Copy Pages: p. 4660, Figure 2 A21 Maximum Copies: indefinitely A22 Your Publisher: Louisiana State University A23 Your Title: REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSIS US NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERI MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS A24 Publication Date: 09-01-2008 A25 Format: Intranet A31 Print Run Size: A41 Ebook Reader Type: A26 If WWW URL: A27 If WWW From Adopted Book: A28 If WWW Password Access: No A45 WWW Users: A29 If WWW Material Posted From: A30 If WWW Material Posted To: A42 If Intranet URL: www.etd.lsu.edu A32 If Intranet From Adopted Book: A33 If Intranet Password Access: Yes A48 Intranet Users: campus body A34 If Intranet Material Posted From: 09-01-2008 A35 If Intranet Material Posted To: open A36 If Software Print Run: A37 Comments For Request:

Managing Directors : Christopher J. Dicks, Bijan Ghawami, William Pesc

Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hobok en/Wiley

03.06.2008 15:16

VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES/VCH/W Wiley

Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form

Brad Johnson, Permissions Assistant Ì John Wiley & Sons Inc. Ì 111 Riv St. Ì Hoboken, NJ 07030 Ì Mail Stop: 4-006B (4-02) Ì Ph: 201-748-6786 Fax: 201-748.6008 Ì <u>bjohns@wiley.com</u>

Visit our website <www.wiley.com/go/permissions> for permissions information ----- Forwarded by Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hoboken/Wiley on 06/03/2008 09: -----

republication
<republication@wi
ley.com>

06/02/2008 11:56 AM <<u>republication@wiley.com</u>>

Su Republication/Electronic Reque Form

Please respond to republication <republication@wi ley.com>

A01 First Name: Rondedrick A02 Last Name: Sinville A03 Company Name: Louisiana State University A04 Address: Choppin Hall Rm. 232 A05 City: Baton Rouge A06 State: LA A07 Zip: 70803 A08_Country: USA A09 Contact Phone Number: 2258062194 A10 Fax: 2255783458 A11 Emails: rsinvil@lsu.edu A12 Reference: A13 Book Title: Electrophoresis A40 Book or Journal: Journal A14 Book Author: A15 Book ISBN: A16 Journal Month: December A17 Journal Year: 2005 A18 Journal Volume: 26 A19 Journal Issue Number: 24 A20 Copy Pages: p. 4660, Figure 2 A21 Maximum Copies: indefinitely A22 Your Publisher: Louisiana State University A23 Your Title: REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSIS US NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERI MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS A24 Publication Date: 09-01-2008 A25 Format: print A31_Print_Run_Size: A41 Ebook Reader Type: A26 If WWW URL: A27 If WWW From Adopted Book: A28 If WWW Password Access: No A45 WWW Users: A29 If WWW Material Posted From: A30_If_WWW_Material_Posted_To: A42 If Intranet URL: A32 If Intranet From Adopted Book: A33 If Intranet Password Access: No A48 Intranet Users: A34 If Intranet Material Posted From: A35 If Intranet Material Posted To: A36 If Software Print Run: A37 Comments For Request:

Rightslink Printable License

Page 1 of 6

ELSEVIER LIMITED LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 08, 2008

Elsevier Limited

This is a License Agreement between Rondedrick D Sinville ("You") and Elsevier Limited ("Elsevier Limited"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier Limited, and the payment terms and conditions.

Supplier

201	The Boulevard, Langford Lane Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB, UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Rondedrick D Sinville
Customer address	4888 S. Sherwood Forest Blvd
	Baton Rouge, LA 70816
License Number	1976551334462
License date	Jun 26, 2008
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier Limited
Licensed content publication	Current Opinion in Blotechnology
Licensed content title	Replaceable polymers in DNA sequencing by capillary electrophoresis
Licensed content author	Mark A Quesada
Licensed content date	February 1997
Volume number	8
Issue number	1
Pages	12
Type of Use	Thesis / Dissertation
Portion	Figures/table/illustration/abstracts
Portion Quantity	1
Format	Electronic
You are an author of the Elsevler article	No
Are you translating?	No
Purchase order number	
Expected publication date	Aug 2008
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
Value added tax 0.0%	0.00 USD

and where we can be and a second constrained because the second second second second second second second second

Total Terms and Conditions

0.00 USD

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at <htps://myaccount.copyright.com>).

GENERAL TERMS

Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

 Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

Rightslink Printable License

 Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

 No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of

Rightslink Printable License

any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply to specific license types:

15. Translation: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

 Website: The following terms and conditions apply to electronic reserve and author websites:

Electronic reserve: If licensed material is to be posted to website, the web site is to be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course if:

This license was made in connection with a course,

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com , and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

17. Author website for journals with the following additional clauses:

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and

The permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx, or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

 Author website for books with the following additional clauses: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only.

A hyper-text must be included to the Elsevier homepage at

http://www.elsevier.com

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and

The permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx, or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

 Website (regular and for author): "A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx."

20. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada

Rightslink Printable License

to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

v1.2

21. Other conditions:

None

Page 2 of 4

Trade Register: Mannheim, HRB 432833 General Partner: John Wiley & Sons GmbH, Location: Weinheim Trade Register Mannheim, HRB 432296 Managing Directors : Christopher J. Dicks, Bijan Ghawami, William Pesc

> Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hobok en/Wiley

> 07.07.2008 17:01

VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES/VCH/W Wiley

Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form

Brad Johnson, Permissions Assistant İ John Wiley & Sons Inc. İ 111 Riv St. İ Hoboken, NJ 07030 İ Mail Stop: 4-006B (4-02) İ Ph: 201-748-6786 Fax: 201-748.6008 İ <u>bjohns@wiley.com</u>

Visit our website <www.wiley.com/go/permissions> for permissions information ----- Forwarded by Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hoboken/Wiley on 07/07/2008 11:

> republication <republication@wi ley.com> 07/02/2008 05:01 PM

<republication@wiley.com>

Su Republication/Electronic Reque Form

Please respond to republication <republication@wi ley.com>

Page 3 of 4

A01 First Name: Rondedrick A02_Last_Name: Sinville A03 Company Name: Louisiana State University A04 Address: Choppin Hall Rm. 232 A05 City: Baton Rouge A06_State: LA A07_Zip: 70803 A08_Country: USA A09 Contact Phone Number: 2258062194 A10 Fax: 2255783458 All Emails: rsinvil@lsu.edu A12 Reference: elps-2008-00197.Rl A13 Book Title: Electrophoresis A40 Book or Journal: Journal A14 Book Author: A15 Book ISBN: A16 Journal Month: A17 Journal Year: A18 Journal Volume: A19 Journal Issue Number: A20 Copy Pages: entire manuscript A21 Maximum Copies: indefinitely A22 Your Fublisher: Louisiana State University A23 Your Title: Ligase Detection Reaction A24 Publication Date: 09-01-2008 A25_Format: A41 Ebook Reader Type: A26_IF WWW URL: A27_If_WWW_From_Adopted Book: A28 If WWW Password Access: A45_WWW_Users: A29 If WWW Material Posted From: A30 If WWW Material Posted To: A42 If Intranet URL: <u>http://etd.lsu</u> A32 If Intranet From Adopted Book: A33 If Intranet Password Access: Yes A48 Intranet_Users: campus body A34_If_Intranet_Material_Posted From: 09-01-2008 A35 If Intranet Material Posted To: open A50 If Software Print_Type: A60 If Other Type: A37 Comments For Request: My journal article (ref. elps-2008-00197.R1) "Ligase Detection Reaction for the Analysis of Point Mutations using F Solution Conjugate Electrophoresis in a Polymer Microfluidic Device" w
Page 2 of 4

Trade Register: Mannheim, HRB 432833 General Partner: John Wiley & Sons GmbH, Location: Weinheim Trade Register Mannheim, HRB 432296 Managing Directors : Christopher J. Dicks, Bijan Ghawami, William Pesc

> Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hobok en/Wiley

07.07.2008 17:19

VCH-RIGHTS-and-LICENCES/VCH/W Wiley

Fw: Republication/Electronic Request Form

Brad Johnson, Permissions Assistant İ John Wiley & Sons Inc. İ 111 Riv St. İ Hoboken, NJ 07030 İ Mail Stop: 4-006B (4-02) İ Ph: 201-748-6786 Fax: 201-748.6008 İ <u>bjohns@wiley.com</u>

Visit our website <www.wiley.com/go/permissions> for permissions information ----- Forwarded by Bradley Johnson/P&T/Hoboken/Wiley on 07/07/2008 11:

> republication <republication@wi ley.com> 07/02/2008 04:42 PM

<republication@wiley.com>

Su Republication/Electronic Reque Form

Please respond to republication <republication@wi ley.com> A01 First Name: Rondedrick A02_Last Name: Sinville A03 Company Name: Louisiana State University A04 Address: Choppin Hall Rm. 232 A05 City: Baton Rouge A06_State: LA A07_Zip: 70803 A08 Country: USA A09 Contact Phone Number: 2258062194 A10 Fax: 2255783458 All Emails: rsinvil@lsu.edu A12 Reference: A13 Book Title: Journal of Sep. Science A40 Book or Journal: Journal A14 Book Author: A15 Book ISBN: A16 Journal Month: July A17 Journal Year: 2007 A18 Journal Volume: 30 A19 Journal Issue Number: 11 A20 Copy Pages: 1714 - 1728 A21 Maximum Copies: indefinitely A22 Your Fublisher: Louisiana State University A23 Your Title: REVOLUTIONIZING GENOMIC ANALYSES: MUTATION ANALYSES US NOVEL ENZYME-BASED ASSAYS WITH LASER-INDUCED FLUORESCENCE AND POLYMERI MICROFLUIDIC DEVICES AS ELECTROPHORETIC PLATFORMS A24 Publication Date: 09-01-2008 A25_Format: A41_Ebook_Reader_Type: A26 If WWW URL: A27 If WWW From Adopted Book: A28 If WWW Password Access: A45 WWW Users: A29 If WWW Material Posted From: A30 If WWW Material Posted To: A42 If Intranet URL: http://etd.lsu A32 If Intranet From Adopted Book: A33 If Intranet Password Access: Yes A48 Intranet_Users: campus body A34 If Intranet Material Posted From: 09-01-2008 A35 If Intranet Material Posted To: open A50 If Software Print Type: A60 If Other Type: A37 Comments For Request: I am the first author of this article and I



You are free:





Under the following conditions:



author of incensor (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).

- For any reuse or distribution, you must make clear to others the license terms of this work. The best way to do this is with a link to this web page.
- · Any of the above conditions can be waived if you get permission from the copyright holder.
- · Nothing in this license impairs or restricts the author's moral rights.

A new version of this license is available. You should use it for new works, and you may want to relicense existing works under it. No works are *automatically* put under the new license, however,

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/1.0/

7/9/2008

Vita

Rondedrick DeShaun Sinville was born in Shreveport, Louisiana, in May of 1978, the oldest child of Leroy and Delphine Sinville Taylor, both of whom were also natives of Shreveport. He has two younger siblings, Brandon and Shamya Taylor and was raised by both parents and his maternal grandmother, Escille Sinville. He attended Southwood High School in Shreveport from 1992 – 1996 where he developed a fondness for the subject of chemistry.

Rondedrick went on to attend Grambling State University in Grambling, Louisiana, where the motto is, "Where Everybody is Somebody". While there, he earned a National Institutes of Health Fellowship and held two internships at the University of Minnesota and the University of North Texas Health Science Center. In the fall of 2000, he graduated *cum laude* and was awarded an accredited Bachelor of Science degree in chemistry.

In the fall of 2001, Rondedrick enrolled in the doctoral program at Louisiana State University in the Department of Chemistry and was the recipient of a Hewell D. Perkins Fellowship. The following spring, he joined the research group of Professor Steven A. Soper. During this time, his research focused on DNA genotyping separations using microfabricated polymer microfluidic devices. He was an active member of the NOBCChE Student Chapter at LSU serving as the Service Committee Chairman for several years. While at LSU, he presented his research findings at several national conferences and one international conference in Tokyo, Japan.

Amen!

[166]